### REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

Form Approved OMB No. 07040188

Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, NZ 22202-4302, and to the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project (0704-0188), Washington, DZ 20503.

1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave blank)	2. REPORT DATE	3. REPORT TYPE AND DAT	TES COVERED
	7 Jan 98		
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE THE POST-SERVICE SOCIOECON VETERANS OF THE ALL-VOLUM	NOMIC STATUS ATTAI	NMENT OF WOMEN	5. FUNDING NUMBERS
6. AUTHOR(S) Richard Thomas Cooney			
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND A			8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION
University of Maryland at College P	ark		REPORT NUMBER
			97-158
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S)			10. SPONSORING/MONITORING
THE DEPARTMENT OF THE AIR	FORCE		AGENCY REPORT NUMBER
AFIT/CIA, BLDG 125			
2950 P STREET			
WPAFB OH 45433			
11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES			
12a. DISTRIBUTION AVAILABILITY STATEMENT			12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE
Unlimited Distribution			
In Accordance With AFI 35-205/AF	IT Sup 1		
13. ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 words)			
IJ. ABƏ I NACI <i>(Maxiiiluiii 200 Wotas)</i>	Approved to	a public relocation University	

19980113 218

ECO COLDER Delles and

14. SUBJECT TERMS		15. NUMBER OF PAGES	
			174
			16. PRICE CODE
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF REPORT	18. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE	19. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF ABSTRACT	20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT

#### **ABSTRACT**

Title of Thesis:

THE POST-SERVICE SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS

ATTAINMENT OF WOMEN VETERANS OF THE

ALL-VOLUNTEER FORCE

Author:

Richard Thomas Cooney

Rank and branch:

Captain, USAF

Number of Pages:

174

Degree and year:

Master of Arts in Sociology, 1997

Institution:

University of Maryland at College Park

This thesis investigates the impact of military service on the socioeconomic status of women veterans of the post-1973 U.S. all-volunteer force by comparing the earnings and family income of women veterans to similar non-serving women. Data from the 1990 Public Use Microdata Sample L were used in this analysis. This data set is a .45 percent sample drawn from 1990 Census data and contains information on 1,139,142 individuals. These data are delineated by labor market area, which allows for the calculation and control of local labor market conditions. Military service may directly impact status attainment by increasing a woman veteran's human capital and/or her ability to convert human capital into socioeconomic status. Additionally, military service may also affect status attainment indirectly through its influence on familial variables (e.g., number of children, marital status) and through employers' perceptions of the capabilities of veterans relative to non-veterans. Using semilogarithmic regression, I found that, overall, African-American women veterans, white Hispanic women veterans,

and women veterans in other minority racial/ethnic categories did not differ significantly from their non-serving counterparts, controlling for several factors associated with socioeconomic status. White, non-Hispanic women veterans, however, suffered an earnings and family income penalty relative to similar non-serving women. The data suggest that this veteran disadvantage may be due to the interaction of military service, childbearing patterns, and educational attainment. Comparisons between veterans and their active duty and Guard/Reserve counterparts are made and the impact of the concentration of military and ex-military personnel within local labor markets is discussed.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	iv
INTRODUCTION	1
THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	4
Human Capital Theory and the Bridging Environment	4
Women and the Bridging Environment	8
Familial Considerations	11
Veteran Status as a Screening Device	17
Selection Bias	18
REVIEW OF PREVIOUS RESEARCH	21
Prior Studies: Male Veterans	21
Prior Studies: Female Veterans	33
Summary of Previous Research	40
General Critique of Previous Research	43
HYPOTHESES	48
METHODS	49
Sample Description	49
Measures	54
Dependent Variables	54
Independent Variable	55
Intervening Variables	56
Control Variables	59
Statistical Methodology	61
Other Sample Constraints	64
RESULTS	68
Description	68
White, Non-Hispanic Women	
African-American Women	
White, Hispanic Women	76
Women of Other Race/Ethnicity	78
Comparison of Dependent Measures	80
Earnings of Women by Race/Ethnicity	81
Earnings of White, Non-Hispanic Women	83
Earnings of African-American Women	90
Earnings of White, Hispanic Women and Women of Other	
Race/Ethnicity	96
Family Income of Women by Race/Ethnicity	105

Family Income of White, Non-Hispanic Women	107
Family Income of African-American Women	
Family Income of White, Hispanic Women and Women of Other	
Race/Ethnicity	118
Multivariate Regression: Military Status, Earnings, and Family Income	
White, Non-Hispanic Women	
African-American Women	
White, Hispanic Women and Women of Other Race/Ethnicity	
Men	
Multivariate Regression: Comparing Veterans and Non-Serving	
Women - A Closer Look	134
White, Non-Hispanic Women	136
African-American Women	
White, Hispanic Women	
Women of Other Race/Ethnicity	146
DISCUSSION	150
Evaluating the Hypotheses	
Active Duty and the Guard/Reserve	156
The Military Composition of Local Labor Markets	159
CONCLUSION	163
DEEDENCES	169

## LIST OF TABLES

1. Summary of Veteran Advantage/Disadvantage by Race and Gender	
2. Sample Population: Veteran Status by Race/Ethnicity	. 53
3. Poverty Thresholds in 1989 (Dollars)	
4. Sample Population (Women): Race/Ethnicity by Military Status	
(in Percents)	. 69
5. Selected Characteristics of White, Non-Hispanic Women	. 71
6. Selected Characteristics of African-American Women	
7. Selected Characteristics of White, Hispanic Women	
8. Selected Characteristics of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity	
9. Earnings of Women by Race/Ethnicity	
10. Earnings of White, Non-Hispanic Women by Age and Education	
11. Earnings of White, Non-Hispanic Women by Marital Status and	
Children Ever Born	. 85
12. Earnings of White, Non-Hispanic Women by Work Status	
13. Earnings of White, Non-Hispanic Women by Percentage of Labor	
Force that is Veteran and Active Duty	. 87
14. Earnings of African-American Women by Age and Education	. 91
15. Earnings of African-American Women by Marital Status and	
Children Ever Born	. 92
16. Earnings of African-American Women by Work Status	. 93
17. Earnings of African-American Women by Percentage of Labor	
Force that is Veteran and Active Duty	. 94
18. Earnings of White, Hispanic Women by Age and Education	97
19. Earnings of White, Hispanic Women by Marital Status and	
Children Ever Born	98
20. Earnings of White, Hispanic Women by Work Status	99
21. Earnings of White, Hispanic Women by Percentage of Labor	
Force that is Veteran and Active Duty	.100
22. Earnings of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Age and	
Education	.101
23. Earnings of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Marital Status	
and Children Ever Born	.102
24. Earnings of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Work Status	
25. Earnings of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Percentage of	
Labor Force that is Veteran and Active Duty	.104
26. Family Income of Women by Race/Ethnicity	
27. Family Income of White, Non-Hispanic Women by Age and	
Education	.108
28. Family Income of White, Non-Hispanic Women by Marital Status	. •
and Children Ever Born	.109
29. Family Income of White, Non-Hispanic Women by Work Status	

30. Family Income of White, Non-Hispanic Women by Percentage of Labor Force that is Veteran and Active Duty	1114 1115 1116 1117 1119 1120 1121
<ul> <li>Family Income of African-American Women by Age and Education</li></ul>	1114 1115 1116 1117 1119 1120 1121
<ul> <li>Family Income of African-American Women by Marital Status and Children Ever Born</li></ul>	115 116 117 119 120 121
Children Ever Born	116 117 119 120 121
<ul><li>Family Income of African-American Women by Work Status</li></ul>	116 117 119 120 121
34. Family Income of African-American Women by Percentage of	117 119 120 121
	119 120 121
	119 120 121
35. Family Income of White, Hispanic Women by Age and Education	120 121
36. Family Income of White, Hispanic Women by Marital Status and	121
Children Ever Born	121
37. Family Income of White, Hispanic Women by Work Status	
38. Family Income of White, Hispanic Women by Percentage of Labor	
Force that is Veteran and Active Duty1	177
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	122
	122
Education	123
40. Family Income of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Marital Status and Children Ever Born	124
41. Family Income of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Work Status	
42. Family Income of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Percentage	145
of Labor Force that is Veteran and Active Duty	126
43. Multivariate Regression Equations for White, Non-Hispanic	120
Women1	129
44. Multivariate Regression Equations for African-American Women	
45. Multivariate Regression Equations for White, Hispanic Women	
46. Multivariate Regression Equations for Women of Other	132
Race/Ethnicity <sup>1</sup>	133
47. Ln(Earnings) Multivariate Regression Equations for White,	100
Non-Hispanic Veteran and Non-Serving Women	137
48. Ln(Family Income) Multivariate Regression Equations for White,	
Non-Hispanic Veteran and Non-Serving Women	138
49. Ln(Earnings) Multivariate Regression Equations for	
African-American Veteran and Non-Serving Women	141
50. Ln(Family Income) Multivariate Regression Equations for	
African-American Veteran and Non-Serving Women	142
51. Ln(Earnings) Multivariate Regression Equations for White,	
Hispanic Veteran and Non-Serving Women	144
52. Ln(Family Income) Multivariate Regression Equations for White,	
Hispanic Veteran and Non-Serving Women	145
53. Ln(Earnings) Multivariate Regression Equations for Veteran and	
Non-Serving Women of Other Race/Ethnicity	147
54. Ln(Family Income) Multivariate Regression Equations for Veteran	
and Non-Serving Women of Other Race/Ethnicity	148

#### INTRODUCTION

The impact of military service on an individual's post-service socioeconomic status attainment has concerned economists and sociologists alike over the past several decades. Yet, with all the research that currently exists, there is very little consensus about what effect, if any, military service has on a person after he or she leaves the military. Trends found with one data set using one methodology often differ from those using either different samples or slightly different methods.

In addition to their difficulty confirming the findings of other studies, research has been lacking in other areas. The most notable deficiency is the exclusion of women veterans from study until 1984 (Poston, Segal, and Butler 1984). Although this group has been studied by a handful of individuals since that time, it continues to be poorly represented in the published literature.

The lack of attention paid to female veterans prior to 1984 can largely be attributed to their exclusion from or minimal representation in databases containing information regarding veteran status. For example, prior to 1980, the United States' decennial census of population and housing asked only men about their military service (Poston, Segal, and Butler 1984). Likewise, the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics did not begin to include information on women's veteran status in data from the Current Population Survey (CPS) until 1986 and did not regularly record this information until 1989 (Roca 1986; Mehay and Hirsch 1995).

Some may argue that, due to women's limited participation in the military up to this time period, there were not enough women veterans to be sampled. While it is true

that women constituted only about five percent of the United States' total military force in 1976, there were about 450,000 women veterans from World War II and the Korean War and 250,000 women Vietnam veterans (Binkin and Bach 1977; Roca 1986). These numbers do not even include the peace-time women veterans, who numbered about 330,000 in 1986 (Roca 1986). With an increase in the participation of women in the military (from less than 2% of the total force in 1972 to over 13% in 1996), women veterans have become and are likely to remain a significant population in need of study (AFIS 1996; WREI 1996).

It is in light of this deficiency that I concentrate my research efforts on the study of women veterans of the post-1973 all-volunteer force (AVF). In general, I ask the question: How does service in the United States Armed Forces influence post-service status attainment for women veterans? I attempt to answer this question by comparing the socioeconomic status attainment of women veterans to that of women who have not served. I use a human capital perspective, largely based on the work of Browning, Lopreato, and Poston (1973). These researchers have suggested that the military may serve as a "bridging environment" for some individuals. They define such an environment as one "in which the individual may acquire new skills and abilities, which, after military service, could help him [or her] in his [or her] civilian career" (p.76). While Browning, Lopreato, and Poston (1973) obviously intended this environment to operate on men, and more specifically, minority men, it is not without applicability to women. I will later describe exactly how the military may serve as a bridging environment for women.

In addition to the bridging environment hypothesis, I will provide two other theoretical explanations as to how the military may influence the socioeconomic status of women veterans. First, the military may influence socioeconomic status indirectly via its influence on certain familial variables such as marital status and fertility; being unmarried and having fewer children have been linked to positive socioeconomic outcomes for women (Duncan, Prus, and Sandy 1995). Then to the extent that military service decreases the probability of a woman marrying or having children, women may gain some earnings advantage indirectly from military service. Second, an individual's veteran status may serve as a signal to civilian employers that he or she has previously met certain rigorous physical, mental, and productivity standards and is, thus, likely to be a productive worker and worth more than similar non-veterans in the civilian labor market (DeTray 1982).

I begin this study with a more detailed explication of my theoretical framework. I will examine human capital theory and the bridging environment, how the bridging environment hypothesis may be applied to women veterans, the implications of military service for familial considerations, veteran status as a screening device, and an important alternative explanation, selection bias. I will then review, summarize, and critique the previous research (prior studies of male and female veterans) relevant to my study.

Next, I will state my hypotheses and describe the methodology which I have used to test them. Lastly, I will present and analyze the results of my study and attempt to draw some conclusions concerning the socioeconomic status attainment of women veterans of the AVF.

#### THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

## Human Capital Theory and the Bridging Environment

Human capital theory can largely be thought of as a cost/benefit analysis of the decisions one makes in life controlling for the attributes with which one is endowed (Phillips et al.1992). The costs and benefits of these decisions are often measured in terms of socioeconomic status, e.g., occupational prestige, income, or educational attainment. Decisions that result in an increase in an individual's potential to raise his or her socioeconomic status are said to be beneficial and can be conceptualized as a gain in human capital.

For example, an individual who decides to attend a four-year college immediately after graduating from high school instead of entering the labor market directly will incur the cost, in many cases, of having to pay tuition and forgoing earnings by working part time or in a job with limited prospects for a career. However, after graduating from college, one's income is likely to rise dramatically (above that of the direct entry laborer) as a result of the added human capital which his or her degree provides. Thus, the life decisions one makes can be seen as investment decisions (Phillips et al. 1992; Fredland and Little 1985). Investments are made based on the calculated payoff of the training, education, or experience gained from any given choice.

One such investment an individual can make is to join the military. Browning, Lopreato, and Poston (1973) elaborated on how a gain in human capital could be achieved via service in the armed forces. They propose that the military provides its members with certain skills and abilities that increase their post-service marketability in

the civilian labor force and, thus, their socioeconomic status. That is, the military provides a bridge to a higher post-service socioeconomic status by allowing the soldier to gain human capital which can be used to achieve a larger salary, a more prestigious occupation, etc. Hence, the military has been referred to as a bridging environment (Browning, Lopreato, and Poston 1973).

The bridging environment operates via several aspects of military service. First, the military offers its soldiers opportunities to gain both training and education (Browning, Lopreato, and Poston 1973; Lopreato and Poston 1977). The training in one's military specialty may be directly transferable to a civilian occupation. In turn, one may be able to earn higher wages or gain entry to a more prestigious job based on experience gained in their specialty. In fact, Mangum and Ball (1987; 1989), using a sample of 811 veterans and individuals who had left the military prior to the end of their enlistment (drawn from the National Longitudinal Surveys-Youth Cohort, 1979-1984), found that that 47.8% of the veterans and 45.1% of the "attritters" were able to transfer their skills to their civilian occupations. They also reported that, if employer-specific training is excluded, the military skills transfer rate is equal to the skills transfer rate in the civilian sector. It should be noted, however, that this study was conducted on individuals who were volunteers in the post-1973 all-volunteer force. The authors report that previous studies involving conscripted personnel have shown significantly lower transfer rates (Mangum and Ball 1989).

In addition to training, the military also has provided veterans many educational benefits, albeit of varying quality and quantity (Cohen, Warner, and Segal 1995). These benefits, which have been both contributory and noncontributory, provide funding to be

used for higher or advanced education. Some examples of this are the G.I. Bill, the Veterans Educational Assistance Program (VEAP), and the Montgomery G.I. Bill. According to Berger and Hirsh (1983), approximately 50% of veterans of the Vietnam era took advantage of such benefits.

A second way in which the military may increase a veteran's probability of achieving a higher socioeconomic status is by providing its soldiers with a certain amount of independence by separating them from many of the ties of the areas from which they came (Browning, Lopreato, and Poston 1973; Lopreato and Poston 1977). This is accomplished via the geographic separation of the soldier from his or her home and the forced integration of many dissimilar personnel into the same unit (Browning, Lopreato, and Poston 1973; Lopreato and Poston 1977). Separation and integration are particularly important for members of racial/ethnic minority groups who may have come from highly segregated areas. Independence may provide some of the drive or motivation necessary to relocate geographically after the completion of military service in order to benefit the veteran's civilian career (Lopreato and Poston 1977). In addition, forced integration provides minorities "exposure to mainstream achievement values" (Cohen, Warner, and Segal 1995, p.92) and experience with living and working in the "milieu of the majority group" (Martindale and Poston 1979, p.219).

The third way that the military may act as a bridging environment for some individuals is by giving soldiers the "capability to cope with and manipulate the large-scale organizational structures that increasingly typify U.S. society" (Browning, Lopreato, and Poston 1973, p.77). Veterans acquire the skills necessary to operate effectively within bureaucratic organizations, which may produce dividends when

applying for future jobs, especially those within the state or federal government.

Minorities, who may not have such experience, are thought to reap even greater benefits from this aspect of the bridging environment (Browning, Lopreato, and Poston 1973;

Lopreato and Poston 1977).

It has been suggested by several studies that the military may best serve as a bridge for those with the least amount of human capital upon entering the service (Browning, Lopreato, and Poston 1973; Lopreato and Poston 1977; Little and Fredland 1979; Martindale and Poston 1979; Poston 1979; Xie 1992). Included in this group are those with less education and those of minority status who are likely to have been disadvantaged in their opportunities to gain human capital. Thus, to the extent that military service offers a payoff on the soldier's investment of service, it is most likely to be realized by those who are relatively deprived (Lopreato and Poston 1977).

As with any investment decision, there is always a risk that capital will depreciate or opportunities will be forgone that would have been more beneficial. In the case of investing in the military, one is foregoing years of his or her life that could be used to gain civilian labor force experience or civilian education. To the extent that these lost opportunities may have been more beneficial than military service, veterans will be at a disadvantage relative to their non-veteran counterparts. Browning, Lopreato, and Poston (1973) state that "Two years or more of military service will often interfere with the completion of higher education, delay the fulfillment of an apprenticeship, or impede the acquisition of on-the-job training skills, all of which are convertible into higher income at some future time" (p.75). This interruption of civilian career continuity may be especially disadvantageous to those veterans entering occupations which offer

seniority premiums (Browning, Lopreato, and Poston 1973; Cutright 1974). Therefore, those with less human capital (i.e., minorities and the less educated) who go into jobs where career continuity is relatively unimportant should see the greatest advantage from military service.

## Women and the Bridging Environment

Although it was not originally formulated to apply to women, one can see the parallels between the way in which the bridging environment may work for racial minorities and the way that it may work for women. Women are certainly disadvantaged in their opportunities to gain and convert human capital. To a large extent, this is a result of women's culturally dictated domestic responsibilities, segregation into traditional female occupations, and the devaluation of women's work. A look at some basic evidence makes this point well. In terms of domestic responsibility, Duncan, Prus, and Sandy (1993) compared married women, with and without children, to never married women, and found that married women with children had the lowest average earnings, spent the most time out of the labor force, and had the least amount of education. Kilbourne, England, and Beron (1994) add, "Gender inequality is ... caused by sex differences in years of employment experiences, resulting from the assignment of child rearing to women" (p.1171). This explanation, however, does not explain all of the disparity between men and women in their ability to obtain and convert human capital, as this difference often persists even after these kinds of variables have been controlled for statistically.

Women are also, for the most part, segregated into certain occupations. This is, of course, tied to the cultural definition of women's roles. Abrahamson and Sigelman

(1987) found that within Metropolitan Statistical Areas (MSAs), increased sex segregation of occupations was positively associated with the percentage of families with children, lower percentages of women in the labor force, and lower educational attainment of women. Women tend to hold jobs disproportionately in "nurturing" occupations (e.g., nursing, social work, and teaching) and in occupations in which most of the workers are women (Firestone 1992; Andersen 1993; Kilbourne, England, and Beron 1994).

Even though many of these jobs require the same education and cognitive abilities as those that men occupy, women remain at a disadvantage (Kilbourne, England, and Beron 1994). Andersen (1993) reports that women employed year round in full-time jobs in 1990 earned, on average, more than \$8,500 less than men who worked year round and full time. Furthermore, occupations that contain higher percentages of women are those that are most penalized both economically and socially (Andersen 1993; Kilbourne, England, and Beron 1994).

Given this situation, one can envision how the military could serve as a bridge to higher socioeconomic status attainment for women veterans. Recalling the three ways in which the bridging hypothesis operates: training and education, immersion and development of independence, and provision of bureaucratic experience, I will apply this hypothesis to women. Training and education received either through the military directly or through the use of veterans' benefits, is likely to increase the human capital of women. Women veterans are able to apply their training to their civilian job about fifty percent of the time (Mangum and Ball 1987; Mangum and Ball 1989). This is greater than male veterans' transfer rate and only slightly less than that of their civilian

counterparts. More importantly, many women receive training in traditionally male jobs that may translate into increased earnings in the civilian sector (Warner 1985; Cohen, Warner, and Segal 1995). However, Firestone (1992) finds that, although women are found in a greater variety of jobs within the military relative to the civilian labor force, there still exists sexual occupational segregation.

In addition to providing educational and training benefits, the military may increase women's potential socioeconomic status by immersing them in and socializing them to a dominant male environment. Here they may develop characteristics such as, "independence, self-confidence, leadership and a masculine orientation" that employers in male dominated occupations may desire (Warner 1995, p.54). In addition, they may become "less inhibited to apply for jobs in the male dominated secotrs[sic] of the civilian labor market" (Warner 1985, p.53). As with minorities, if independence develops, it may also provide the motivation to move to a different area for the benefit of one's career (Browning, Lopreato, and Poston 1973).

There has, however, been evidence raised against the idea that women in the military are socialized to acquire more traditionally masculine traits. DeFleur and Warner (1987) conducted a study of male and female graduates and nongraduates from the U.S. Air Force Academy. They found that female graduates did not perceive themselves as becoming more masculine or even more androgynous in their gender-role classifications from the time they entered until they graduated. In fact, there was a general trend towards heightened self-perception of femininity among female graduates. It must be noted, though, that self reports do not always correlate with observable traits. In addition, these self reports were made relative to the hypermasculine culture of their

male peers, which may minimize the females' perception of the masculine socialization that did occur within themselves.

Lastly, the bridging environment hypothesis would predict that women would gain experience in functioning within large bureaucratic organizations. If women, in general, were to be lacking in this experience, veterans would gain a potential advantage over their civilian counterparts. This advantage may be particularly beneficial due to the masculine nature of the military bureaucracy for reasons noted above. Furthermore, to the extent that women seek employment in the public sector, they should receive even greater premiums.

## Familial Considerations

The military, theoretically, may benefit women more indirectly than predicted by the bridging environment hypothesis. One method of indirect influence may occur through familial variables such as marital status and fertility. In as much as serving in the military influences a woman's propensity to marry or have children, there is a potential indirect effect on that woman's post-service socioeconomic status attainment. I have already recounted evidence that would predict the ways in which marital status and fertility may influence socioeconomic status attainment (earnings), but the link between marital status, fertility, and the military needs to be drawn.

One such link is provided by Segal (1986) in her characterization of both the military and the family as greedy institutions. Coser (1986, p.4, 6) describes greedy institutions as those that:

... make total claims on their members and which attempt to encompass within their circle the whole personality. ... they seek exclusive and undivided loyalty and they attempt to reduce the claims of competing roles and status positions on

those they wish to encompass within their boundaries. ... they exercise pressures on component individuals to weaken their ties, or not to form any ties, with other institutions or persons that might make claims that conflict with their own demands (quoted in Segal 1986, p.11).

Segal argues that both the institution of the family and the military institution exhibit these characteristics. Individuals on active duty are frequently forced to make sacrifices within one of these institutions due to the demands of the other. The military is intrinsically greedy due to the set of demands it places on its members (e.g., risk of death, geographic mobility, and geographic separations from family members) (Segal 1986). The family can also be greedy, especially of women to whom many of the domestic responsibilities fall (Segal 1986).

The greed which the military exerts on, and the commitment which it extracts from, women are often in direct competition with family demands (Segal 1986).

Therefore, women on active duty may try to limit either the military or familial demands placed on them. While they are likely to have little control over the military demands, they can actively control the extent to which they are burdened by their culturally defined duties within the institution of the family. Hence, women on active duty may choose not to marry or to limit the number of children that they have, thereby limiting the greed of the family. Because of the way in which men's and women's roles are culturally defined, men are less likely to experience as much familial greed.

There is some evidence to support this hypothesis. Segal (1986, p.26) reports that "Military women are less likely than military men to be married and to have children." According to the results of a 1985 Department of Defense survey, 60% of enlisted males were married while only 53% of enlisted women were married (LaVange

et al. 1986). Overall, 81% of male officers and only 49% of female officers were married (LaVange et al. 1986). In addition, about 47% of enlisted men and 65% of male officers had dependent children, while only 35% of enlisted women and 26% of female officers had dependent children (LaVange et al. 1986).

Analysis of more recent data provides comparable results. Fiscal year 1992 data from the Defense Manpower Data Center (DMDC) indicate that while 56% of enlisted males aged 18-44 were married, only 46% of enlisted women in the same age group were married [OASD(P&R) 1993]. While enlisted women aged 22 or under were slightly more likely to be married than their male counterparts, the marriage rate of enlisted men exceeds that of enlisted women starting at age 23 [OASD(P&R) 1993]. In fact, if only the enlisted personnel over the age of thirty are examined, we find that 81% of enlisted men are married, while only 62% of enlisted women are a partner in matrimony [OASD(P&R) 1993]. Since some of these marriages may not be first marriages and those who are divorced would be counted in the 'not married' category, it may be more accurate to look at the percentage of individuals who are single, never married. Schumm et al. (1996) cite Sample Survey of Military Personnel (SSMP) data from 1991 and 1994 that indicate that, in both years, enlisted women and women officers were more likely to have never been married than their male counterparts.

The tendency of women in the military to have fewer children and to marry less frequently is also relevant in comparison to the entire population. The U.S. Bureau of the Census (1994) reports that, in 1990, 58.4% of women between the ages of 15 and 44 have had a child. If those women aged 15 to 19 are eliminated from the sample (to provide a better sample match for women in the military), we find that over 74% of

women have had a child (U.S. Bureau of the Census 1994, Tables 3-1 and F1). In comparison to the 26% of female officers and 35% of enlisted women who have dependent children, the difference, using either statistic, is remarkable. While having a child in the civilian sector and having a dependent child in the military are not exactly equivalent, there is some basis for comparison. Additional support comes from data from the Defense Enrollment Eligibility Reporting System (DEERS) which indicates that the birthrate (i.e., the percentage of women who gave birth to their first child) of first-term enlisted women in FY1991 was only 1/6<sup>th</sup> that of civilian wives of first-term enlisted men [OASD(P&R) 1993].

In terms of comparing the marital status of military and non-military personnel, Schumm et al. (1996, p.780), in a summary of research concerning marriage trends in the U.S. Army, report that "past the age of 25, slightly fewer female soldiers have ever married than their civilian counterparts." Comparing FY1992 DMDC data with data from the September 1992 Current Population Survey (CPS) File, we find that only 46% of enlisted women aged 18-44 are married, while the percentage of their 18-44 year old civilian counterparts who are currently married is 58% [OASD(P&R) 1993]. This statistic, however, ignores the fact that some of those who are not currently married may have been married at one time.

Since women in the military are less likely to be married, marry less frequently (in particular, those over the age of 25), and remain childless more frequently than similar non-veterans, one would predict that, on average, women veterans would gain a socioeconomic advantage indirectly via the competition between military service and familial demands that they had experienced while on active duty. It is important to note

that the greed of the military relative to familial demands is not just a perception. For some time, it was law. The military has employed various policies over the years that have limited the participation of married or pregnant women, often calling for their immediate discharge upon the occurrence of either [Stiehm 1989; OASD(P&R) 1993].

Furthermore, many women voluntarily leave the service upon becoming a parent or entering into marriage (Schumm et al. 1996) or in order to do so. These veterans, however, are still likely to have postponed a few of their familial demands. That is, they will have "used up" some of their limited number of childbearing years during their military service and may have a lower completed fertility, thus gaining some socioeconomic advantage. However, having a young child while trying to transition back into the civilian labor force may be especially costly for these women veterans. Therefore, the advantage of lowered fertility may not be felt for some years.

One other familial pattern that may be of some importance in its influence on the post-service socioeconomic status achievement of female veterans is the tendency of women in the military to marry military men. In fact, approximately one-third of female enlisted and officer personnel are married to another service member (LaVange et al. 1986). Looking at just the married service members, about 64% of married active duty women are married to a military spouse (LaVange et al. 1986). To the extent that these women leave the service to become the civilian wives of their military husbands, they are likely to suffer some negative consequences in the civilian labor market. More specifically, the demands which the military places on the military family, such as frequent relocation, have been linked to higher rates of unemployment and significant wage penalties for wives of military members [OASD(P&R) 1993; Gill, Haurin, and

Phillips 1994]. For example, Gill, Haurin, and Phillips (1994, p.341) report that each military relocation "permanently reduces a woman's wage by 2.8 percent." The family income of these women may also be affected to the extent that their active duty or veteran husbands differ from their non-serving counterparts in terms of earnings or wages.

Not only do women who move with their military husbands lose job tenure because of frequent moves, they must compete in labor markets that have some unique characteristics. For example, women veterans who have married military men are likely to live within labor markets in which there is a higher percentage of military workers in the labor force. While there is little research devoted to the study of such labor markets, Cotter et al. (1997), in a study examining the impact of the demand for female labor across metropolitan areas, control for the proportion of military workers within each metropolitan area. They found that greater proportions of military workers within a metropolitan area were significantly associated with increased occupational segregation of men and women, decreased earnings equality between men and women, and decreased labor force participation for women relative to that of men, both overall and in terms of full-time year-round workers.

There are several other factors that may work specifically to the disadvantage of women who are spouses of military men. First of all, these women are somewhat of a captive labor market. That is, because their military spouses must live and work at a specific duty location, they (the civilian wives) are likely to be constrained to seek work within a given labor market area. Thus, they are unable to move easily in order to seek better or higher paying jobs. Secondly, the labor force in which they work is likely to be

rather transient. Employers may not want or have to invest heavily (in terms of promotion, training, etc.) in a labor force of military spouses that is likely to completely turn over in three or four years. Lastly, the civilian spouses of military members are likely to be competing with a multitude of other individuals, who have traveled with their military member, for the jobs available within a given labor market. For every thousand military members within a labor market, there are likely to be over six hundred spouses who are potential competitors (AFIS 1996). In sum, the combination of these conditions is likely to create an employers' market in which women who are spouses of military men are disadvantaged.

## Veteran Status as a Screening Device

DeTray (1982) offers a different perspective as to how military service may operate with regard to post-service socioeconomic status attainment. He has suggested that, although service may result in some gain in human capital, an individual's veteran status may be more useful to potential employers than to the veteran him/herself.

Employers may use an individual's veteran status as a type of screening device (DeTray 1982). Veterans of the U.S. Armed Forces are known by potential employers, via this status, to have passed through a rigorous set of mental and physical requirements (DeTray 1982; Xie 1992). In addition, they have shown that they have the capability of being productive workers, as nonproductivity is not tolerated in the military and high standards must be met (Little and Fredland 1979; DeTray 1982). An honorable discharge from the military, thus, can be viewed as a certification of an individual's health and productivity (DeTray 1982).

Thus, just knowing that an individual is a veteran provides an employer with some reason to hire a veteran over a non-veteran or at least at a higher rate or into a more prestigious job than a non-veteran. Therefore, any socioeconomic gains made by veterans may be a function of preferential hiring based on this credential in addition to a gain in human capital. DeTray (1982) goes on to explain that the value of veteran status as a screen fluctuates with the percentage of veterans within a given subgroup. DeTray (1982) explains:

Therefore, in populations in which only a small portion of men are veterans, the screening value of veteran status is low because the non-veteran population will contain a substantial number of men who could qualify as veterans if they chose to do so (p.134).

Since there is a large group of people in the population who could pass the same health and productivity standards as those who elect to join the service, veterans are unlikely to gain much advantage. On the other hand, the opposite may hold true for populations containing a large percentage of veterans. This is an important alternative explanation in any study claiming to have demonstrated the efficacy of the bridging environment hypothesis.

#### **Selection Bias**

The general method of choice for all studies which I have reviewed for evaluating the effect of military service on post-service socioeconomic status attainment is to take a sample of individuals, divide them by veteran status, control for significant variables known to be associated with status attainment, and compare the two groups. Any differences in socioeconomic status between the two groups may then be attributed to veteran status. While this is a great oversimplification of the methodology involved in

conducting such analysis, it does demonstrate a potential problem with drawing such conclusions: the temptation to attribute automatically any differences between the groups to the effects of military service.

There is a simpler explanation for the differences found between veterans and non-veterans. It is known as selection bias (Cohen, Segal, and Temme 1992). Any veterans' advantage can be explained by suggesting that those individuals who entered the military, passing all of its physical and mental requirements, are the same individuals who, if they had remained civilians, would have performed well in the civilian labor force because of preexisting characteristics. Thus the military simply selected better individuals to recruit or draft. Veterans' disadvantages in the civilian labor market may be due to the possibility that "the military overselected those whose characteristics hindered occupational success" (Cohen, Segal, and Temme 1992, 405).

There is evidence to support the existence of selection bias in military enlistment. Studying enlistees from the AVF period, Teachman, Call, and Segal (1993) found that the military did tend to select personnel of differing characteristics than those who did not enlist. The results, though, differed by race. Black men who enlist in the military tend to be those with more favorable characteristics (i.e., related to positive labor market outcomes) than blacks who do not enlist (Teachman, Call, and Segal 1993). White men who enlist, however, tend to be those with "less privileged backgrounds and qualifications" (Teachman, Call, and Segal 1993, p.287) in comparison with white men who do not enlist. The pattern for whites, though, may be moving in the direction of increased selectivity (Teachman, Call, and Segal 1993).

In terms of the interpretation of results from any analysis comparing veterans and non-veterans, one must be cautious in assigning causality to the military environment. As the bridging hypothesis would predict that black veterans would gain more than white veterans from military service, the same results could be achieved in the AVF era through selection bias alone. In order to control for selection bias, researchers must be sure to include adequate control variables in their statistical analysis (Cohen, Warner, and Segal 1995).

#### REVIEW OF PREVIOUS RESEARCH

While it is beyond the scope of this paper to recount all of the extant literature related to veteran socioeconomic status attainment, I will describe the sociologically relevant research that has been accomplished since the early 1970s. Since so little has been written concerning women veterans, I will first review research on the impact that military status has on the socioeconomic status attainment of men. While there is likely to be little disagreement that the experience of male veterans differs both qualitatively and quantitatively from female veterans, this literature does provide a foundation for the examination of women veterans.

## Prior Studies: Male Veterans

As stated earlier, most of the studies on the socioeconomic status attainment of veterans have included only male veterans in their sample. While the results of studies of male veterans are not necessarily generalizable to female veterans, they do provide a foundation for this study and may provide some insight into how we expect the bridging environment hypothesis to operate with regard to women who have served in the military. I will, thus, highlight several scholarly works that have contributed to the study of the post-service status attainment of male veterans. As these studies vary widely, as well as overlap, in their methodology, data, and results, it is difficult to group them into distinct, logical categories. For this reason, I will address each study that I reviewed in chronological order.

In 1973, Browning, Lopreato, and Poston first suggested that the military may serve as a bridging environment for minorities. They used the 1960 Public Use Sample

from the U.S. Bureau of the Census (a 1% sample) to compare the veteran and non-veteran earnings of blacks, Mexican-Americans, and Anglos. Their sample was limited to those veterans residing in the South West, as this is the only place where information was collected on Mexican-Americans, between the ages of twenty-five and fifty, working full time in non-farm employment who had at least a fifth grade education. Controlling for occupation and education, they found that, in general, minority veterans earn more than their non-veteran counterparts, while the veteran status of Anglos produced somewhat of an earnings penalty. For both minorities and Anglos, military service had the most negative effects on those occupations requiring a greater degree of career continuity or seniority.

This study, however, is deficient in several respects. First of all, the 1960 Census determined Mexican-American ethnicity, not by respondent self-reporting, but by an analysis of surnames to determine which ones were of Spanish origin (Browning, Lopreato, and Poston 1973). Such an arbitrary distinction made on the basis of name alone calls into question the validity of this ethnic grouping. Furthermore, Browning, Lopreato, and Poston do not control for age or distinguish between enlistees and conscripts (Cutright 1974) or between period-of-service cohorts, which have been shown to impact earnings (Villemez and Kasarda 1976; Martindale and Poston 1979). In addition, although they conclude that those occupations which require a greater degree of continuity are most negatively impacted by military service, they do not control for the number of years which the individual served, which can be considered a measure of the degree to which career continuity may have been interrupted (Goldberg and Warner 1986; Cohen, Segal, and Temme 1986). Not only do the authors not have a measure of

how long an individual's career was interrupted, they do not know how long an individual had been at his or her job prior to military service. As interruptions to a career may be more critical at some times than others, this information is necessary before one can draw such conclusions. (For a more detailed critique, see Cutright, 1974.)

Cutright (1974) compared the civilian earnings of veteran draftees and nonveteran potential draftees who had either received some type of deferment (e.g., student, occupation, dependency), been medically or psychiatrically disqualified, or failed the AFQT using a database that matched Selective Service records to Social Security earnings information. Black and white men born between 1927 and 1934 (serving in the early 1950s) who earned income within the United States, had taken the Armed Forces Qualifying Test (AFQT), and had not been previously deemed ineligible for service (e.g., criminals and aliens) were included in the sample (5221 whites and 1722 blacks). Cutright controlled for region of residence, age, years of education prior to registration in Selective Service, and AFQT score. He found that white veterans suffered an earnings penalty as a result of lost time in the civilian labor market. Black veterans, overall, achieved no clear cut advantage or disadvantage as a result of military service. While controlling for several factors for which previous studies have been criticized for omitting, Cutright limits his sample so much that the findings cannot be generalized to other age groups or birth cohorts or to volunteer soldiers.

Using data from the 1970 Census, Villemez and Kasarda (1976) drew a sample of 54,235 men aged 18-64, about 47% of whom were veterans. Their method of sampling, however, is not described, and given the large proportion of veterans in the sample, this seems especially relevant. Their sample also includes eighteen and nineteen

year-olds, who are unlikely to have completed military service and, if not in the service, are unlikely to be well established in the civilian labor market. These researchers control for age, race, and period-of-service cohort in examining the difference between veteran and non-veteran earnings. They find that, overall, whites and blacks gain an income advantage via military service. However, while World War II and Korean War veterans fare better than their non-veteran counterparts, Vietnam-era veterans fare worse.

This may, however, be a relic of the age of Vietnam veterans at the time of the study, who are significantly younger than the other war cohorts and may not have had enough time to make the transition completely into the civilian labor force or to capitalize on their veteran benefits. They also find, though, that Vietnam-era veterans are disadvantaged relative to their non-veteran counterparts in terms of education, especially in the percentage who have completed four years of college. By analyzing the ratio of veteran to non-veteran income by age, race, and education, they concluded that the influence of veteran status on income operates indirectly through education. That is, an increase in education as a result of military service (including G.I. Bill, etc.) gave World War II and Korean-era veterans an advantage over their civilian counterparts in the labor market, while a relative deficiency in education gave Vietnam-era veterans a disadvantage.

Lopreato and Poston (1977) also used 1970 Census data in their study. Their sample, however, differs from the one used by Villemez and Kasarda (1976), in that it was limited to men between the ages of twenty-five and fifty-four, who had completed at least nine years of schooling and were working full time. This study primarily concentrated on the difference between black veterans and non-veterans. They

determined, controlling for age, region, and education, that black veterans are better able to convert their educational attainment into income and that black veterans enjoy an earnings advantage over black non-veterans. This study did not, however, control for period-of-service cohort.

Little and Fredland (1979) concentrated their study on veterans of the World War II era. Using the National Longitudinal Survey (NLS), they drew a sample of men aged from forty-five to fifty-nine in 1966. Controlling for educational attainment, region of residence, age, and job tenure, Little and Fredland compared different income measures (wages/salary and farm/business) of veterans and non-veterans disaggregated by race, occupation, and industry. They found that regardless of color, veterans enjoy a premium over non-veterans across both measures of income. In addition, military service was found to be significant in industries including personal service and professional service for whites, and agriculture, professional service, and public administration for blacks. In terms of occupations, veteran status was significant for clerical occupations for whites and professional/technical and operative jobs for blacks.

Martindale and Poston (1979) focus their study on the comparison of the earnings of minority (black and Mexican-American) veterans and non-veterans over three period-of-service cohorts: World War II, Korea, and Vietnam. They use 1970 Census data and limit their sample by including only men between the ages of twenty-five and fifty-four who were at work with a job the week prior to the Census, had worked at least fifteen hours that week, received earnings in 1969, and had worked at least fourteen weeks that year. In addition, as with the 1960 Census, information on Mexican Americans was gathered only within the South West and was based on an analysis of

Spanish surnames. These researchers thus limited their sample to those men residing in this region. In their regression equations, Martindale and Poston controlled for educational attainment, number of weeks worked, and marital status. They found that, like the research of Villemez and Kasarda (1976), white veterans of World War II and Korea earned more than their non-veteran counterparts, while white Vietnam veterans were at somewhat of a disadvantage. However, they also found that the negative Vietnam-effect did not operate on black and Mexican Americans, who continued to enjoy an income advantage. Black and Mexican American veterans were better able to convert their education and marital status into income than like non-veterans.

In 1979, Poston, using a slightly different methodology, but the same data and variables as Martindale and Poston (1979), achieved similar results (although period of service was not considered). When the data were disaggregated by education, age, full-time/part-time employment status, and class of worker, and the regression coefficients of veterans and non-veterans were compared, black and Mexican American veterans had a substantial advantage over matched non-veterans, while Anglo veterans were at a relative disadvantage when compared to like non-veterans.

Dennis DeTray (1982), as explained above, took a slightly different approach to comparing veterans and non-veterans. Instead of viewing the military as a bridging environment, veteran status is viewed as a screen by which employers identify those potential employees who have shown themselves to be productive in the past (in the military) and are, thus, likely to be productive in the civilian labor market (DeTray 1982). His results, however, are not unlike those achieved by those using the bridging environment hypothesis. DeTray uses the 1960 and 1970 Public Use Samples from the

U.S. Census as his data set. He limits the data by drawing a sample of white and black civilians between the ages of twenty-two and sixty-five whose records have data to calculate an hourly wage. Education, age, veteran status, residence in a metropolitan area, residence in a central city, and residence in the South are included as independent variables in his income equation. He finds that both white and black veterans earn a premium over their non-veteran counterparts, except in the younger age groups. The gains veterans receive are most significant for blacks and those with less than twelve years of education. Results were not disaggregated by period of service.

Berger and Hirsch (1983) focus on the post-service earnings of Vietnam veterans. Their sample is extracted from the March CPS and consists of males born between 1942 and 1952, thus, serving in the Vietnam era, who worked in the previous year (1977), had wage or salary earnings during that year, were not enrolled in school as their major activity, and who did not work only part of the previous year because of school attendance. Included in their wage equation are age, age-squared, birth cohort, sample year, and control variables for the four Census regions, residence in a metropolitan area, marital status, race, national unemployment rate in the survey year, industry, and education. Berger and Hirsh found only minimal differences between the earnings of veterans and non-veterans from the Vietnam era. According to the authors, "Only those with less than a high school education consistently realized veteran premiums" (p.4).

In 1985, Fredland and Little use the exact same data that they used in 1979 to test the bridging hypothesis again (i.e., NLS, 45-59 year old World War II veterans). This time they use two measures of socioeconomic status: earnings and the Duncan

Socioeconomic Index of the respondent's job. Included in their equations are age, education, whether health affects kind or amount of work, veteran status, job tenure, whether civilian training is utilized in current job, whether military training is used on current job, and the Duncan Index of respondent's first job after school and of father's job when respondent was fifteen. In addition, labor market variables such as current job in a standard metropolitan statistical area, residence in the South, and employment in the government are included. Fredland and Little also utilize certain variables they claim are related more closely to the bridging environment such as attitude towards work, a migration variable, a measure of perceived internal control (independence), as well as several interaction terms.

Contrary to what most other studies conclude, black veterans were found to have gained less than white veterans over comparable non-veterans. They conclude that what is likely to be driving any veteran premiums is education, training, and independence for white veterans and education and independence for blacks. They also suggest that two non-bridging variables, health and government employment, are also significant contributors to veteran premiums. However, I would question their classification as non-bridging variables. While one cannot argue that the military plays a critical role in screening out some individuals whose health problems would inhibit them in the civilian labor market, the increased health of veterans may be due to the education and training that the veterans received on personal hygiene and physical fitness within the military. Thus, good health may actually result from human capital gains achieved through service. Although it cannot be denied that veteran hiring preferences of both Federal and state governments contribute to the importance of government employment in

calculating a veteran's socioeconomic status, the skills and training acquired by veterans in the service may be more transferable to government positions, including the experience of working within large, bureaucratic organizations.

Goldberg and Warner (1986) analyze a cohort of military personnel who separated from the service in FY 1971 (during the Vietnam era) by matching service data with Social Security records and follow them from 1972 to 1977. All personnel with no income were deleted from the data set. Using income as their dependent variable, Goldberg and Warner focused on the effects of military experience (length of service) and civilian experience. They controlled for percent white (although they did not specify if this was calculated for the labor market, occupation, etc.), education, retirement annuity, branch of service, and military occupation. They found that military experience in each of the military occupational groups they analyzed increased civilian earnings, but not to the same extent civilian training does in each of these groups. Medical, electrical/mechanical equipment repair, other technical, and electronics equipment repair are approximately equal in terms of the impact military and civilian experience has on income. Other occupational categories, however, gave the edge to civilian experience. The primary critique of this study is that it fails to control for or disaggregate its data by race. As Browning, Lopreato, and Poston (1973) suggest, the experiences of white and minority veterans are likely to be qualitatively different and aggregate data, in terms of race or ethnicity, will mask any differential functioning and possibly underestimate the premiums minorities may gain from military service.

Cohen, Segal, and Temme (1986) utilize education as a measure of socioeconomic status. Their data consist of a sample of students from nine Midwestern

high schools that were surveyed in 1957-1958 with a follow-up that occurred 15 years later. As the authors acknowledge, this is a highly unrepresentative sample "of virtually all white youths in America's heartland" (p.305). This study focused primarily on the impact on educational attainment of military service, length of military service, period of service (either pre-Vietnam or Vietnam), and whether or not the veteran had served as an enlisted man or an officer. Variables controlled were: IQ, high school grade point average, father's occupation, college plans in high school, best friend's college plans, occupational aspirations, parent's educational encouragement, military plans while in high school, parent's military encouragement, level of education upon entry into the military, parent's income, parent's education, and respondent's education at age nineteen. The most significant finding of this study was that, for individuals in this sample, the military had an overall negative effect on educational attainment, despite its touted educational benefits. In addition, the negative impact was felt mostly by enlisted personnel. There were no differences in the results for those veterans who served just prior to the Vietnam era and those who served during the Vietnam era.

Using a unique data set created by matching Social Security records with Vietnam-era draft lottery numbers, Angrist (1990) compared the estimated lifetime earnings of draft-eligible veterans and non-veterans, controlling for race and age. He concluded that white veterans lose approximately \$3500 annually (in 1990 dollars), or about 15% of their income, relative to matched non-veterans. No statistically significant effects of veteran status were detected for minority veterans.

In 1992, Cohen, Segal, and Temme followed up their 1986 study to determine what impact the educational losses experienced by Vietnam-era veterans had on

occupational attainment. They used the same data set and similar independent variables. The dependent variable, however, was the respondent's occupation's score on Temme's Socioeconomic Index, a measure of job prestige. They found that veteran status was associated with lower occupational prestige, but that this effect was mediated by veterans' lower levels of educational attainment.

This study, however, does not disaggregate data by educational level (i.e., less than high school, some college, college degree, etc.). According to the bridging hypothesis, those with the least human capital (i.e., lowest education in this case) will benefit more from military service. If results were broken down in this manner, we might find that the lowest education groups may have actually received some type of occupational advantage. Cohen, Segal, and Temme (1992) also do not control for those who used veterans benefits and those who did not, which may provide a different picture of how veteran status operates through educational attainment.

This criticism is supported by a 1993 study by Angrist who looked at the effects of veterans benefits on education and earnings. He used data from the 1987 Survey of Veterans conducted by the U.S Census Bureau. This sample includes almost 9,500 veterans. However, Angrist restricted the sample further by eliminating women, any veteran not aged thirty to fifty-four in 1987, and anyone who had served less than one or greater than twenty years. This effectively limited the sample to male Vietnam-era veterans and veterans of the early all-volunteer force. Also excluded was anyone who entered the military with less than nine years of education. Use of veteran benefits was the primary independent variable, while age, length of service, race, era of service, service as an officer or enlistee, and marital status were controlled. Angrist concluded

that those veterans who used their educational benefits increased their education in their post-service life by an average of 1.4 years, which translates into a 6% annual earnings premium. Those who gained the most from their benefits were those who used their benefits to attend college or graduate school.

Phillips et al.(1992) is the only study that I found that focuses on the socioeconomic consequences, in terms of earnings, of military service both while the soldier is on active duty and after leaving the service. This study uses NLS Youth Cohort data for its analysis (1978-1983). Individuals were included in the sample for a given year if they were not enrolled in school during the year and earned at least \$1000 dollars in wages and salary earnings, were at least 19 years old, and were not missing information on any key variables. All veterans in this sample had served during the AVF period. They controlled for time since high school, time since end of enlistment, time since completion of college, AFQT score, education, health status, the amount of reading material available in the home, the presence of an adult male in the home when growing up, motivation, participation in educational benefits, years between end of enlistment and participation in educational benefits, and residence in the south, a central city, or a suburb.

These researchers found that all racial groups (non-Hispanic whites, blacks, and Hispanics) earned significantly more while in the service than matched non-serving individuals. The benefit was the greatest for Hispanics and blacks. Once leaving the military, non-Hispanic white earnings drop significantly relative to their civilian counterparts but overtake them in about two years. Black and Hispanic veterans income

also takes a drop, but only down to about the level of their non-veteran counterparts, where it remains.

Lastly, Xie (1992), used both education and earnings to measure the socioeconomic status of young male veterans. The data set used for this study is the 1964-1984 March CPS. Included are males aged eighteen to thirty-five with definable wages who had complete information on all variables examined. Xie further reduced the data by grouping them into tabular form using categories for age, race, birth cohort, education, school enrollment, veteran status, and number of hours worked last week. This grouping resulted in the formation of 15,222 cells for each of which he calculated an average wage and an average number of years of school completed. The primary finding of this study was that initially, after separation from the service, veterans were disadvantaged in terms of educational attainment and did not catch their non-veteran counterparts until around age 28. In terms of earnings, a similar pattern emerges.

Minority veterans were found to enjoy a greater premium over like non-veterans.

Results were not disaggregated by period of service.

### Prior Studies: Female Veterans

Unlike the amount of literature that has been written concerning male veterans, few studies have been completed utilizing women veterans. I have included in this section any studies that have focused primarily on women or that have used both men and women in their analyses.

Poston, Segal, and Butler (1984) appear to have written the first analysis of the socioeconomic status attainment of female veterans. They drew a 10% subsample from the 5% 1980 Public Use Microdata Sample from the U.S. Census of Population and

Housing. The subsample was further limited by including only those individuals between the ages of twenty-five and fifty-four, who worked in the week prior to completing the survey, had positive earnings in 1979, worked at least fourteen weeks in 1979, and averaged at least 15 hours of work per week. Weekly earnings was the dependent variable. The independent variables of primary interest, besides gender, were veteran status and race. Controls were set up for age, weeks worked, hours worked, education, and fertility (only for females).

White female veterans were found to be 1.7 times more likely to be earning greater than \$300 per week than their non-veteran counterparts. Nonwhite female veterans were 1.4 times as likely to be in this income category than like non-veterans. The similarity in findings for white and nonwhite female veterans is likely to be a result of the fact that women selected for military service, both white and nonwhite, usually come from similar (lower to lower-middle class) socioeconomic backgrounds (Poston, Segal, and Butler 1984). For comparison purposes, they calculated the same statistics for men and found that white male veterans were 1.3 times as likely as their matched non-veterans to earn more than \$300 per week and nonwhite veterans were 1.5 times as likely as nonwhite non-veterans to be in this category. When comparing races across periods of service, white female veterans were more likely than nonwhite female veterans to earn more than \$300 per week in all eras except the Korean War.

While this study is certainly groundbreaking, its unique methodology (relevant to other bridging hypothesis studies) makes it more difficult to compare to other studies of both men and women. In addition, the regression coefficients for the fertility control were not shown. This is one variable that is likely to be significant in determining the

earnings of female veterans. Lastly, marital status was not included as an independent variable.

Warner (1985) used NLSY (1979-1982 waves) data to explore the relationship between veteran status and the early socioeconomic status attainment of female veterans. These veterans had an average age of about twenty years with a standard deviation of about one year. Thus, all veterans served during the AVF period. The two dependent variables used in this research were hourly earnings and the percentage of males in the occupational group of the woman's first job. Included in the model were variables for the respondent's parents' educational and occupational attainment, formal schooling, military service, current job prestige, hours worked, future expectations of job prestige, economic sector, degree of sex segregation in first job, whether or not the job falls under collective bargaining, marital status, childbearing status, fertility expectations, and family attitudes.

When looking at earnings, Warner concluded that there was no significant relationship between veteran status and early career earnings for men or women (white or minority). This held even if occupations that require a great deal of career continuity were separated out. Warner hypothesized that women veterans would be more likely to take a more male dominated job then their non-veteran counterparts. The data, again, though, produced no significant results. She did note, however, that within the earnings equations, the sex-type of the occupation was significantly related to earnings (the higher the percentage male, the higher the earnings).

Given the age of the subjects in this study, and the results of previous studies on males, one would predict that the effects of veteran status in the early career would be

relatively inconclusive or negative (Phillips 1992; Xie 1992). These women would still be adjusting to the civilian labor market in this time frame, may not have had time to use their veterans benefits, etc. In addition, although length of service was not used in this study, eighteen year old veterans are likely to have left the service prior to the completion of their contracts, which may skew the results. With these confounds and a small sample size, it would have been surprising if Warner were to have achieved significant results.

DeFleur and Warner (1985) use the same NLSY data set that Warner (1985) did. In this study they present a comparison of annual earnings of male and female AVF-era veterans (one year after discharge) and non-veterans (one year after completion of school). They conclude that with the exception of men with some college, white and nonwhite, male and female veterans earned more than their non-veteran counterparts. Again, this data set is plagued by small sample size. For example, there are only 132 white male veterans, 64 nonwhite male veterans, 47 white female veterans, and 21 nonwhite female veterans.

In 1989, Mangum and Ball conducted a study on AVF-era veterans' ability to transfer their military skills to the civilian labor market and what impact this had on post-service earnings. The use of military training is a critical component of the bridging environment hypothesis (Browning, Lopreato, and Poston 1973). These researchers constructed a sample from NLSY data by including only those who, in 1979, were not enrolled in formal education and whose last enrollment was between 1 July 1975 and 31 December 1979. The military members had to have served on active duty sometime in the 1975-1979 period. They found that 49.8% of women veterans were able to transfer

their skill to the civilian labor market, compared to the 57.8% transfer rate for those who had received civilian training. The numbers for men were 45.8% for veterans and 56.3% for civilians. If the effect of employer-specific training is controlled for, the veteran and non-veteran rates are about equal.

Controlling for AFQT score, education, labor market experience, minority status, marital status, residence in the South, residence in an SMSA, collective bargaining status of occupation, health limitations, veteran status, whether or not enlistment was complete or incomplete, job tenure, number of weeks on active duty, and participation in post-school training, they found that, for the women, the military related variables were all insignificant determinants of wages, while men experienced a premium for the number of weeks they were on active duty. It seems odd, then, that although women veterans transfer their military skills to civilian occupations at a higher rate, they benefit less than men from their service.

Cohen, Warner, and Segal (1995) examined educational attainment of veterans of the AVF. This study used data from the 1979-1985 NLSY. Their primary dependent variable was education and their primary independent variable was veteran status. They controlled for parents' education, father's occupation, occupational aspirations, educational expectations, race, age, and AFQT score. Military service cost female veterans more than three-fourths of a year of school and male veterans about two-thirds of a year. When the sample was divided by race/ethnicity (not by gender), African Americans, overall, lost four-fifths of a year of education. Those who were labeled as "nonblack" lost more than two-thirds of a year of education. In addition, they found that

length of service was negatively correlated with educational attainment for white males and females. However, length of service did not impact blacks significantly.

Mehay and Hirsch (1996) use two data sets to examine the earnings of female veterans. The first data set is the 1986 Reserve Component Survey (RCS), which contains data on both veteran and non-veteran reservists. The fact that all reservists are physically and mentally eligible for active duty and that in some sense, both veteran and non-veteran reservists have self-selected into the military, significantly lowers the possibility of selection bias effects when calculating results. Their sample is limited to enlisted personnel, working in paying civilian jobs, without any missing data. Using earnings as their dependent variable, they controlled for education, potential workforce experience (equation not given), part time status, government employment, occupational category, industry category, marital status, and number of children. Women veterans are found to be at a significant disadvantage to their non-veteran counterparts (a 9% wage penalty). White women veterans experienced a 12% wage penalty, while nonwhite women veterans earned only 2% less. This disadvantage held to some degree for women who served prior to the AVF (Vietnam era) and after its implementation, as well as across education levels.

Mehay and Hirsch (1996) next looked at CPS data from 1989 and 1993. Included in their sample were all female wage and salary workers, who were not primarily students, and who had positive earnings and hours worked. In addition to the variables controlled for using the RCS data, they were able to control for union status, government employment, large CMSA/MSA residence, and region. Here they find an unadjusted 6.5% wage advantage for female veterans over like non-veterans, which is

largely due to the higher average education of the veterans in this sample. Veterans of the Vietnam and AVF eras achieved similar results. Mehay and Hirsch explain that the difference between the results achieved using RCS and CPS data are likely due to the effects of selection bias in the CPS data.

Prokos (1996) uses a 10% subsample of the 2% 1990 PUMS data to examine the difference between female veteran and non-veteran income. Her sample is further restricted by including only women aged twenty-five to fifty-four who worked for an average of at least fifteen hours per week and for at least 14 weeks. Excluded were women on active duty, in the Reserves, or in the Coast Guard. Earnings was the dependent variable and veteran status the independent variable. She controlled for education, hours worked per week, race, age, and percent female of an occupation. Prokos finds that female veterans are at a disadvantage in terms of earnings relative to their non-veteran counterparts. However, it is the younger veterans who are experiencing the disadvantage, while after age 35, women veterans start to realize a premium. Education is more beneficial to non-veterans than veterans, but more advantageous to white veterans than to black veterans. Prokos also found that female veterans were more likely to be in jobs with higher proportions of males than nonveterans, but this accounted for very little of the income difference. Overall, "older women, particularly African Americans, and women with low levels of education benefit[ed] most from military service" (Prokos 1996, p.1).

There are several areas in which this study can be improved. First of all, Prokos does not control for variables which may have a significant impact on women veterans' wages such as number of children or marital status. Also not considered are labor

market variables such as unemployment or period of service (although age is used as a proxy). In addition, she categorically excludes active duty and Guard and Reserve personnel, who could be used for an interesting comparison.

The final study which I have reviewed is Jackson's 1996 study that compares the hourly wages of AVF-era veterans and non-veterans using NLSY data (1979-1992). Excluded are cases not interviewed in 1992, those who are out of the labor force, those still on active duty, and those who had not earned an hourly wage since their last interview. The primary independent variables used are veteran status, years of service, and number of years since veteran has left the service. Age, sex, race, marital status, number of children, educational attainment, parent's education, occupation, civilian work force experience, and employment status are controlled. Oddly enough, although this study includes women in its sample, nowhere in the text of the paper are results of women veterans compared to women non-veterans. It is noted, however that sex is statistically significant in all regression models.

Overall, this study (Jackson 1996) suggests that there is not much difference between the earnings of young veterans and non-veterans who have relatively equal time in service and civilian labor force experience. In their words, "it is not the kind of work experience one has, but the amount of work experience one accumulates" (Jackson 1996, p.16). There was also some evidence, though, that military experience may be worth slightly less than civilian experience in the civilian labor market.

### Summary of Previous Research

TABLE 1 summarizes whether or not veterans were found to have an advantage or disadvantage compared to their non-veteran counterparts (by race/ethnicity and

TABLE 1: Summary of Veteran Advantage/Disadvantage by Race and Gender

	$\mathbf{N}$	Iale Veteran	IS .	Female Veterans		ns
	White	Black	Other	White	Black	Other
Advantage	12	13	9	4	4	3
Disadvantage	11	4	2	3	3	1
No Difference	4	7	6	3	3	3

gender) in the studies that I have reviewed. The number in each of the cells represents the number of studies that have achieved those results. If a study found disparate results when the data were disaggregated by cohort, education, etc., a number is added to each applicable cell. Results of studies that did not disaggregate their results by race/ethnicity or by minority status are counted in all races (e.g., Goldberg and Warner 1986; Angrist 1993).

When the combined conclusions of the studies I have reviewed are presented in such a manner, a definite pattern emerges. With respect to white men, the effect of veteran status can go either way. This suggests that other variables may be more important than veteran status in determining their socioeconomic status attainment. Minority male veterans, though, show a definite trend toward achieving a veteran advantage over like non-veterans. These results are consistent with what we would expect based on the bridging environment hypothesis. Minorities, who are likely to have lower earnings potentials, benefit the most from military service. Unlike the data on male veterans, there have not been enough studies accomplished on female veterans for us to describe any definite pattern. Although female veterans appear to have a slight edge over female non-veterans, it may be too early to tell. This study will make a contribution to the discerning of such a pattern.

The numbers in TABLE 1, however, may be a bit misleading because of the way in which the data are aggregated (i.e., disregarding cohort, level of education, etc.). If we take a look at cohorts, two major trends emerge. The first is that, in general, World War II veterans tend to do better than veterans of other cohorts, relative to non-veterans of the same age (Villemez and Kasarda 1976; Little and Fredland 1979; Martindale and Poston 1979; Fredland and Little 1985).

Secondly, veterans of the Vietnam Era have tended to receive the least benefit (or incurred the most cost) from military service relative to other cohorts (Villemez and Kasarda 1976; Martindale and Poston 1979; Berger and Hirsch 1983; Cohen, Segal, and Temme 1986; Cohen, Segal, and Temme 1992). These trends may be a result of the difference in popularity between the two wars, the discrimination against Vietnam veterans that may have occurred (Cohen, Segal, and Temme 1992), a decrease in the use of post/in-service educational benefits by Vietnam veterans (Cohen, Segal, and Temme 1992), the decoupling of federal aid for education from military service (Segal 1989), the possibility that individuals selected for service in World War II were of initial higher quality in terms of human capital than Vietnam veterans (Villemez and Kasarda 1976), or the condition of the economy at the time the veterans entered the civilian labor market (Villemez and Kasarda 1976). As data collection on the Vietnam-era veterans occurred relatively close to the time of their discharge, the Vietnam effect may simply be a function of the individual's life cycle and the process of transition into the civilian labor market. Cohen, Warner, and Segal (1995) suggest that the Vietnam disadvantage will continue into the AVF era, although it may be too early to tell with most of the data sets used by researchers to date. This is another area to which this study can contribute.

## General Critique of Previous Research

The most obvious critique of the literature I have reviewed is the lack of women's representation in the analyses. As I have already reviewed some possible explanations of this deficiency, I will now address several other areas of concern. These areas will include the measures of socioeconomic status, control variables, and statistical procedures.

In general, sociologists conducting research in this arena have used relatively few measures of socioeconomic status. Occupational prestige, earnings, and educational attainment have been the measures of choice. While these variables provide important information on veterans' socioeconomic status attainment, they do not provide a complete picture. For example, most studies categorically exclude individuals who are unemployed, report no income, or work less than a certain number of hours per week or weeks per year. This does not allow the researchers to measure the degree to which veterans may be employed or unemployed relative to their non-veteran counterparts and it excludes those individuals who may be living near the poverty line. Researchers appear more concerned with the middle and upper echelons of socioeconomic status attainment than with the lower rungs. This study offers a partial corrective to this criticism by including family income as a dependent variable. By using this measure, individuals who do not have any earnings or who are not employed are not automatically excluded from all analysis.

Cohany (1990) reports that labor force participation and unemployment rates are about the same between male, female, and minority Vietnam-era veterans and non-veterans (black veterans did participate at a slightly higher rate), but these data are

grouped only by age and do not match subjects on other variables that have been demonstrated to be important to socioeconomic status attainment. There is also evidence that veterans are overrepresented in the homeless population. Rosenheck, Frisman, and Chung (1994, p.466) report that "The overall proportion of veterans among homeless men (41%) was somewhat higher than that in the general population (34%)." If there is a high concentration of veterans who do not meet the criteria for inclusion in prior studies, these analyses may have greatly overestimated the benefits or underestimated the costs of military service.

There is also a tendency of studies to limit the type of income examined to earnings. While this is an appropriate measure of an individual's labor market achievement, it may leave out a significant amount of non-earnings income which the human capital gained in the military may have helped him or her to earn. One example of this is retirement income, which is likely to be critical, now, to veterans of both World War II and Korea. In addition, an individual's socioeconomic status is often not determined by his or her income alone. It may be more appropriate to measure family income as well. This is especially true of those individuals who are unemployed or out of the labor force. This includes women, who, because they are culturally tied to domestic roles, may have chosen marriage and familial responsibilities over labor force participation. Thus, their earnings will not measure their socioeconomic status.

Some studies can also be criticized for their failure to control for certain variables (although this was likely a function more of the data sets than the methodology). For example, many studies of veterans whose service was prior to the advent of the AVF did not distinguish between enlistees and draftees. This would, intuitively, have some impact

on the effect that military service would have on an individual. This criticism, however, is not as relevant when studying female veterans, as women have always served as volunteers in the U.S. military. Its relevance to men, as well, is diminished considering that many men who volunteered for service were motivated by the draft.

Most studies also have not considered the full range of military status. That is, there is a tendency for research to focus on comparing veterans to non-veterans, while little mention is made of the military status of the non-veterans. Non-veterans could be currently on active duty or may have served in the National Guard or Reserves.

Some studies have attempted to control the military status of their non-veteran samples better by eliminating active duty personnel from their study. To do so, however, is to eliminate a portion of the sample that is well suited for comparison to veterans in terms of both selection bias and self-selection. A general critique of the results of many of the studies I have reviewed is that any difference between veteran and non-veteran socioeconomic status may be due to the possibility that individuals who decide to enter the military differ significantly on some factor associated with civilian labor market outcomes from those that do not enter the military as a result of either the military's selection process or the self-selection of that individual to join the armed forces. Active duty personnel and, to some extent, those with service in the Guard or Reserve have been selected by the armed forces and (at least during the AVF) have been self-selected as well. Thus, the possible influence of selection bias when comparing veterans to these groups is reduced. In addition, active duty personnel represent the "cost" or "benefit" of a veteran's choice not to remain in the service and may offer an interesting comparison.

Some studies, even those that have concentrated on women veterans, have also inadequately addressed the issues involving women's cultural ties to the family (e.g., Prokos, 1996, did not even include a variable for number of children in her analysis). Marital status and fertility are critical aspects in the determination of a women's availability for work and achievement at work. Not only is the presence of children an important factor, but so is the age of those children. Younger children may require more time, care, and, thus, sacrifice (in terms of socioeconomic status) on the mother's part than older children (e.g., working fewer hours). As I discussed earlier, it may be through these variables that the military has an indirect effect on its female veterans.

A third area that has not been adequately controlled is local labor market conditions. Many studies, by their failure to include labor market area control variables, have assumed that veterans operate within a national labor market, or at the least regional (for those studies that have controlled for residence in the South). While this may be valid according to the assumption of the bridging environment hypothesis that the mobility of veterans is less limited than that of non-veterans, local conditions are likely to exert strong influences on the socioeconomic status attainment of veterans.

Lastly, some studies have coded variables in ways that are inappropriate for regression analysis. For example, two studies (Poston 1979; Martindale and Poston 1979), instead of using a series of dummy variables, coded marital status as a four-category nominal-level variable and assumed it to be an interval-level measurement for the purpose of the regression. Not only is this a dubious assumption, but it negates any non-arbitrary interpretation of the regression coefficient.

These critiques are useful in shaping and guiding my study of the socioeconomic status attainment of women veterans. While it may not be possible to improve upon all of the critiqued areas, I have attempted to address several of them in this paper.

#### HYPOTHESES

Based on the theoretical perspectives I have presented and given the results of previous research, I hypothesize that:

- Overall, women veterans have achieved greater socioeconomic status than their non-veteran counterparts.
- 2. Minority veterans receive more of a socioeconomic benefit (or less of a cost) for their veteran status relative to minority non-veterans than do non-minority veterans relative to similar non-veterans.
- Older female veterans have achieved greater socioeconomic status, relative to similar non-veterans, than younger veterans compared to younger nonveterans.
- Veterans who are married receive either less of a marriage premium or more
  of a marriage penalty (in terms of socioeconomic status) compared to similar
  non-veterans.
- 5. Having a young child is more costly (in terms of socioeconomic status) for women veterans than for women non-veterans.

In these hypotheses, "non-veteran" primarily refers to those individuals who have no military service. I will also offer comparisons of an exploratory nature between veterans and their active duty and Guard/Reserve counterparts. Based on the research of Phillips et al. (1992) and the theoretical perspectives I have presented, I expect that:

6. Young women veterans are disadvantaged relative to those who were in the military, but that this disadvantage diminishes with age.

#### **METHODS**

### Sample Description

The data set that I will be using for this study is the 1990 Public Use Microdata Sample L (PUMS-L), which was produced by the U.S. Bureau of the Census under contract with the Louisiana Population Data Center. This is a .45% sample and includes records on 1,139,142 individuals. This data set is considerably different from other PUMS data sets in the geographic delineation of the data. Tolbert and Sizer (1996) divided the United States into 741 commuting zones based on individuals' journey-to-work data from the 1990 Census. These commuting zones use counties (or their equivalents) as the basic unit of analysis and aggregate them to provide a picture of the areas in which individuals both live and work. The commuting zones were then combined into 394 labor market areas (LMAs) and certain areas were oversampled to ensure that each LMA contained the records of at least 100,000 individuals.

Sampling weights are included to compensate for the oversampling of certain LMAs. However, preliminary analysis showed that sample weighting did not substantively impact the results of this analysis. In addition, Teachman and Call (1996, p.11), who encountered a similar sample weighting scheme in their unbalanced subsample of the 1986 NLS, state that "the use of weights undermines the asymptotic theory upon which the calculation of the standard errors of the regression coefficients is based." For these reasons, I will use non-weighted data for my analysis.

The PUMS-L data set is especially suited for the purpose of this study. It provides detailed information on respondents' personal and household characteristics that

can be used to calculate several measures of socioeconomic status while controlling for a variety of variables that have been linked to status attainment. These include certain labor market characteristics that may operate differently within local labor markets than on a regional or national level. The relatively large sample size, unlike that of the NLSY, helps to ensure that insignificant results are not simply due to an insufficient number of subjects.

There are, however, certain limitations of the data that must be recognized. First of all, these are not longitudinal data. Therefore, I am only able to take a snapshot of this sample at one very specific time and am unable to trace the effects of military service on individuals through time. Second, these data contain no information regarding the veterans' occupational specialties while they were on active duty. Thus, skill transferability issues will not be addressed. Third, these data contain no measure of ability which can be used to help mitigate the effects of selection bias. Although I will use a variety of control variables to account for this effect, there is the potential for results achieved using these data to be simply a reflection of military recruiting policy and not the effects of military service itself. Therefore, conclusions must be drawn with caution.

I have decided to limit the number of individuals in this sample by including only those persons aged nineteen or older. I chose the lower age limit because this is the youngest a veteran could be in 1989 based on entering the service at age seventeen and serving a minimum two year active-duty commitment. Younger "veterans" are likely to have left the service prior to the completion of their contract or provided erroneous information on the census. As I am focusing only on veterans of the AVF, veterans who

served prior to May 1975 are excluded. While the AVF began in 1973, the coding of the data provided no closer alternative cutoff date.

In order to establish an upper age limit to help make the samples of veteran and non-veteran personnel more comparable, I examined the age distributions of women veterans of the AVF. Ages for this group of women ranged from 19, the set lower limit, to 60. Applying this age range to the non-serving women, however, resulted in a significant and substantial difference in the mean ages of the two groups, which may have tainted any comparisons between the groups. The mean age for women veterans was 29.6 years and the mean age for non-veterans was 46.9 years. Since approximately 96% of the women veterans were aged 40 and below, I chose to eliminate those individuals aged 41 or over from my analysis. By doing so, I dropped 3.6% of the women veterans and 55.6% of the women non-veterans from this study. The mean age of the women veterans dropped slightly to 29.0 years while the mean age of the women non-veterans fell to 29.8 years, making the two groups more comparable in terms of age.

Another criterion on which I chose to limit my sample is education. More specifically, I removed those individuals with less than a high school diploma or GED from the analysis in order to make the non-veteran sample more comparable to the veterans. Since 1983, at least 90% of all DoD active duty non-prior-service accessions have had a high school diploma (AFIS 1991; AFIS 1987; AFIS 1984). Although the percentage of high school graduates among all military recruits was dramatically different in the earlier years of the AVF (e.g., 1974-1976: 66%, 1977-1980: 71% (Binkin 1984)), the percentage of high school graduates among women recruits was not. For example, from 1974-1976, while the percentage of high school graduates for all enlisted recruits

ranged from about 61% in 1974 to 69% in 1976, the percentage of high school graduates among women enlisted recruits topped the 90% mark each year (Binkin and Bach 1977).

This point is further illustrated by a closer examination of enlisted Army recruits. In the first ten years of the all-volunteer Army, less than 62% of male enlisted recruits had completed high school, while 92% of enlisted female recruits had earned their high school diploma (Binkin 1984). Indeed, less than 4% of the women veterans in this sample (given the age restrictions) had not earned their high school diploma or GED. The percentage of non-serving females in this sample who had not earned their high school diploma or GED is about 16%. A sizable proportion of the non-serving individuals, then, were unlikely to have been selected for military service even had they chosen to serve. Thus, to make the two groups, veteran women and non-serving women, more comparable in an attempt to limit the effects of selection bias, I decided to drop all individuals without a high school diploma or GED from this study. To summarize, the following individuals have been deleted from this study and are, thus, not represented by the following analysis: veterans who began service prior to May 1975, those women who were younger than 19 or older than 40, and those individuals without a high school diploma or GED.

Applying these limitations, my sample will consist of the respondents in TABLE 2: women veterans (who have served only during the AVF era from May 1975 on), women who have had no military service, women who are on active duty, and women whose military service has been within the National Guard or Reserve components only. These women are aged 19-40 years old and have all earned a high school diploma or

TABLE 2: Sample Population: Veteran Status by Race/Ethnicity

in the state of administration of the state								
	White, Non	n-Hispanic	African-American	merican	White, I	White, Hispanic	Other	ler
	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male
-	1195	8373	243	1289	99	404	82	486
_	129809	103491	14576	8895	6336	5065	8468	7140
	381	3181	153	847	20	178	27	312
	427	3687	125	426	30	149	27	209
l								

GED. The number of males in my sample, to which the same exclusion criteria were applied, are also included in TABLE 2, as I will be presenting some results for male veterans for the purpose of comparison.

### **Measures**

As I stated in my critique of prior studies, most studies tend to use a limited number of measures to ascertain socioeconomic status. This paints a relatively narrow picture of veterans' status attainment. For the purpose of this study, I will take one category of dependent variables, income/earnings, and analyze two measures that will broaden our view of the socioeconomic status of female veterans. In particular, I will look at earnings and family income and the natural logarithms thereof (to help compensate for the positive skew associated with each measure). I will discuss the major dependent, independent, and intervening variables in some detail and then briefly describe the control variables that I intend to use.

#### Dependent Variables

Earnings and Ln(Earnings) - Earnings, as defined by the U.S. Bureau of the Census (1992, p. B-16), is the "algebraic sum of wage and salary income and net income from farm and nonfarm self employment" for the calendar year 1989. It is a continuous variable ranging from -\$19,996 to \$284,000. Individuals with earnings above \$284,000 have their earnings coded as their state's median of those with earnings exceeding the top code (using the 1% PUMS data) (see U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1982, p.C-12 for state medians). From the human capital model, individuals are assumed to be paid according to their human capital and potential productivity (Fredland and Little 1985). If veteran status is to have an

effect on economic gains in the labor market, this measurement is the one most able to directly measure it.

Family income and Ln(Family income) - As I stated earlier, the socioeconomic status of some individuals (e.g., housewives) may, for various reasons, be associated more with their family's income rather than their own. Although this measure was not used in the studies that I have reviewed, it may provide additional insight into the socioeconomic status attainment of female veterans. Family income includes "the incomes of all members 15 years old and over in each family" (U.S. Bureau of the Census 1982, p.B-17) for the calendar year 1989. It is a continuous variable that ranges between the family's state's bottom code and top code (for the 1% PUMS data) (see U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1982, p.C-11). Family income is reported for 1989, but family characteristics such as marital status and number of children are in reference to April 1990. However, according to the U.S. Bureau of the Census (1982, p.B-17), "the composition of most families was the same during 1989 as in April 1990."

#### Independent Variables

Military Status - This is a set of three constructed dummy variables where, on the first variable, non-veterans are coded as 1 and veterans, active-duty, and Guard/Reserve personnel are coded as 0. Active-duty personnel are coded as a 1 on the second variable, while all others are coded as 0. Guard/Reserve personnel are coded as 1 on the third variable, while all others are coded as 0. The excluded group is veterans (defined as those who have previously served on active duty with the U.S. Armed Forces, but are no longer on active duty).

### Intervening Variables

Bridging Environment Hypothesis:

- Length of Service This is continuous variable which contains the number of years of military service an individual has. It is a measure of work experience as well as labor force interruption that may be significant in determining earnings.
- Potential Civilian Labor Market Experience- This is a constructed continuous variable.

  Duncan et al. (1993) use the following formula to calculate this variable: Age Years of Education 5. However, because time spent in the military is also
  unlikely to contribute directly to civilian labor force experience (like education), I
  also subtracted any years of military service from this equation. The square of
  this variable is also used in regression analysis to compensate for the declining
  value of civilian experience over time.
- Educational Attainment This variable is approximately equal to the number of years of education an individual has: 12 = high school diploma or GED; 13 = some college, no degree; 14 = Associate degree; 16 = Bachelor's degree; 18 = Master's degree; and 21 = Doctorate or professional degree. One disadvantage of this data set is that it can not be determined exactly how many years of college those with some college, but no degree have earned.
- Percent of Occupation that is Male ÷ 10 For each three-digit occupational category, I constructed a continuous variable that indicates the percentage of those individuals employed in the occupation who are men (based on individual-level data from all employed individuals in the PUMS-L data set aged 16 or older).

  This variable is only calculated for employed individuals. Active duty personnel

have been occupationally classified according to their civilian job equivalent. Active duty personnel whose jobs did not equate to a civilian occupation were classified as either "Commissioned Officers and Warrant Officers," "Noncommissioned Officers and Other Enlisted Personnel," or "Military occupation, rank not specified." I have divided the percentage of men in an occupation by 10 because of the small regression coefficients associated with this characteristic discovered in preliminary analysis. Coefficients of this variable will now be interpreted as the change in the dependent variable associated with a 10 percentage point change in the percentage of men in an occupation. While this technique has not been used with this measure in other studies I have reviewed, it does not affect the regression equation other than to change the scale of the parameter estimate associated with this variable and to improve the clarity of the interpretation of the parameter estimate. This technique is commonly used with other measures such as income, which may be divided by 1000 and interpreted in terms of thousands of dollars.

#### Familial Considerations:

Marital Status - This is a set of two dummy variables. One indicates married (not separated) or otherwise and the other indicates whether an individual is divorced, widowed, separated, or not. The excluded category is single, never married.

Number of Children - This is a continuous variable that represents the number of children ever born. This variable is not calculated for men, as the data for men were not in the PUMS-L data set.

Children Under 6 Years Old - This variable is a dummy variable that indicates whether or not a women has her own child/children present who are under the age of six.

This variable is not calculated for men, as the data for men were not in the PUMS-L data set.

Veteran Status as a Screening Device:

Percent of LMA Labor Force that is Veteran - This is a continuous variable which I calculated (based on individual-level data from the entire PUMS-L sample) that will equate to the percentage of the labor force that has served on active duty with the U.S. Armed Forces in each LMA. I defined the labor force to be everyone aged 16 and over who was employed or unemployed (i.e., without a job but looking for work), including both men and women. For each LMA, I divided the number of veterans in the labor force by the total number of people in the labor force. It is theoretically important to include this variable, as it functions as an implicit test of DeTray's (1982) screening hypothesis. He predicted that the higher the proportion of veterans within a subgroup, the more valuable will be veteran status as a screen (DeTray 1982). While DeTray used age cohorts as his subgroups, the same logic seems to be more applicable to labor forces. If this variable is significant, especially within the earnings regression equations, it would lend support to that theory.

Percent of LMA Labor Force on Active Duty - This is a continuous variable I calculated (using individual-level data from the entire PUMS-L sample) based on those individuals who are on active duty in the labor force of each LMA. Again, I defined the labor force to be everyone aged 16 and over who was employed or

unemployed (i.e., without a job but looking for work), including both men and women. For each LMA, I divided the number of active duty personnel in the labor force by the total number of people in the labor force. This is a proxy measure for living near a military installation and, for those not on active duty, the likelihood of being married to a military member.

#### Control Variables

### Demographics:

Age - This is a continuous variable equal to the age, in years, of the respondent.

Because this variable is a linear combination of an individual's length of military service, potential civilian labor market experience, and education, age will be excluded from all regression equations.

Gender - This is a dummy variable where males are coded as 0 and females as 1.

Race/Ethnicity - This is a set of three dummy variables: one for white, Hispanic; one for black (Hispanic and non-Hispanic); and one for other (not black or white).

Those in the "other" category are of Asian, American Indian, Pacific Islander,
Eskimo, Aleut, or unspecified ethnicity. The excluded group is white, non-Hispanic.

Enrolled in School - This is a dummy variable that indicates whether or not an individual was "attending a 'regular' public or private school or college at any time between February 1, 1990, and the time of enumeration" (U.S. Bureau of the Census 1992) (1 = enrolled).

Individual Labor Force Participation:

Approximate Number of Hours Worked in 1989 ÷ 40- This is the usual number or hours worked per week in 1989 multiplied by the number of weeks worked in 1989 divided by 40. In preliminary analysis, this variable explained more of the variance in earnings than separate variables for the usual number of hours worked per week and the number of weeks worked in 1989. In the name of efficiency, I chose to use the single variable instead of two separate variables. I have divided the hours worked by 40 because of the small regression coefficients associated with a 1 hour change in this characteristic discovered in preliminary analysis.

Coefficients of this variable can now be interpreted as the change in the dependent variable associated with a 40 hour change (or about one full-time work-week) in the approximate total time worked in 1989. This variable will only be used in earnings equations.

### Local LMA Characteristics:

All aggregate LMA characteristics were calculated using individual-level data from all individuals in the PUMS-L data set aged 16 or older. The one exception is the poverty rate, which includes individuals regardless of age.

Unemployment Rate - This is a continuous variable I constructed which indicates the percentage of the civilian labor force that is unemployed for each LMA. An unemployed individual is defined as being neither at work nor with a job but not at work, and looking for work in the past four weeks, and available to accept a job, or those who were temporarily laid off and were waiting to be recalled (Cohany 1990; U.S. Bureau of the Census 1992).

Poverty Rate - This is a continuous variable I constructed that equals the percentage of individuals who live at or below the poverty line in each LMA. The U.S. Census Bureau excludes the following individuals from poverty calculations: those who are institutionalized, unrelated individuals under the age of 15, and those who live in military group quarters or college dormitories (U.S. Bureau of the Census 1992). Poverty is defined by the Social Security Administration and is based on the size of the family, number of children under eighteen, and, in one and two person households, the age of the householder. Those individuals whose families do not earn income that is three times that necessary to support a nutritionally adequate diet, are considered below the poverty line (U.S. Bureau of the Census 1992). TABLE 3 gives the exact poverty thresholds and is taken directly from the U.S. Bureau of the Census (1992, p. B-28):

Percent of LMA Labor Force that is Minority - This is a continuous variable I constructed based on those minorities who are defined to be in the labor force.

For the purpose of this variable, a minority is defined as an individual who is not white, non-Hispanic.

Percent of LMA Labor Force that is Female - This is a continuous variable I constructed based on those females who are defined to be in the labor force.

# Statistical Methodology

In order to test my hypotheses and explore the relationship between military and socioeconomic status, I conducted four phases of statistical analysis: description, comparison of dependent measures, and two phases of regression. I first calculated descriptive statistics on selected characteristics of my sample, disaggregating the data by

TABLE 3: Poverty Thresholds in 1989 (Dollars)

The same of the sa	-)								
				Related (	Related Children Under 18	der 18			
Size of Family Unit	0	1	2	3	4	5	9	7	+8
1 (householder $<$ 65)	6451								
1 (householder $\geq 65$ )	5947								
2 (householder $<$ 65)	8303	8547							
2 (householder $\geq 65$ )	7495	8515							
3	6696	1866	0666						
4	12790	12999	12575	12619					
5	15424	15648	15169	14798	14572				
9	17740	17811	17444	17092	16569	16259			
7	20412	20540	20101	19794	19224	18558	17828		
8	22830	23030	22617	22253	21738	21084	20403	20230	
+6	27463	27596	27229	26921	26415	25719	25089	24933	23973

race/ethnicity and military service. I calculated means and standard deviations for all key variables. I then compared the veterans' statistics to those of non-serving individuals, active duty personnel, and those with service only in the Guard or Reserves using a t-test for the difference of means (or the difference of proportions)

I next created multivariate tables to display mean values of the dependent variables. Race/ethnicity, age, education, marital status, number of children ever born, work status, percentage of LMA labor force that is veteran, and percentage of LMA labor force that is on active duty are all addressed. For each racial/ethnic group, the means of the dependent measures for veterans were compared to those in other military status categories using a difference of means test.

The comparison of mean values across multivariate tables, while providing valuable insight into the socioeconomic status attainment of women veterans, did not permit the analysis of any veteran disadvantage or advantage simultaneously controlling for a multitude of relevant factors. Therefore, I turned to multivariate regression models to assess the impact of military service net of the other variables considered in this study (via analysis of the coefficients of the military status variables).

In order to explore the differential values of the various independent and control variables for women veterans and those with no military service, I also estimated separate multivariate regression equations for these two military status groups within each racial/ethnic category. To test the significance of the differences in the regression coefficients between women veterans and non-serving women, I ran an interaction model (which included only veterans and non-serving individuals) for each racial/ethnic category, interacting veteran status with each of the other variables in the equations.

### Other Sample Constraints

I chose to exclude some individuals from statistical analysis involving earnings: those with missing values, those who earned nothing or had negative earnings in 1989, and those who were not employed. These individuals, however, were not automatically excluded from analysis involving other variables (i.e., family income). As no one had a missing value for earnings, this criterion did not eliminate anyone. I chose to eliminate those with non-positive earnings on statistical grounds. First, since I was using the natural logarithm of earnings, and it is not possible to take the logarithm of a nonpositive number, I decided to either remove those observations with zero or negative earnings from analysis when analyzing earnings or to bottom code non-positive values of earnings to a small, positive value. After exploring the latter option in preliminary analysis by coding all zero and negative values to .01, I determined that the bottom coding method was unsuitable because of the resulting large departure from normality of the distributions of the ln(earnings), which adversely affected hypothesis testing and regression analysis. I chose, then, to exclude individuals with non-positive earnings in 1989 from analysis involving earnings.

Excluding the women with non-positive earnings in 1989 from this portion of the study eliminated 29,266 women: about 18% of the women remaining in the sample. These women had an average age of 30.3 years. Of the original sample (restricted by age and education), these women accounted for about 15% of the veterans, 18% of individuals with no military service, 2% of active duty personnel, and 11% of individuals with service in the Guard or Reserve only. Ethnically, these women accounted for 17% of white, non-Hispanic women, 21% of African-American women, 20% of white,

Hispanic women, and 27% of women in other racial/ethnic categories. For the most part, these women appear to be traditional housewives. Seventy-one percent of them are married and 80% have had children (65% are both married and have at least one child, 6% of this group are married with no children, and 7% are single, never married mothers). Approximately 79% of these women are not in the labor force and worked (outside the home), on average, less than 1 week in 1989.

I also decided to exclude from earnings analysis those individuals who are not currently employed (i.e., they are unemployed or not in the labor force). As I intend to include information on an individual's current occupation, such as the percentage of those employed in an individual's current occupation who are male, those who are not currently employed would contain missing information and, thus, would not be able to be included in the regression analysis. The socioeconomic status of these women may be better measured by family income.

By excluding women who had positive earnings in 1989, but were not currently employed, from the analysis of earnings, another 20,975 women (about 13%) were removed from this part of my analysis. These women had an average age of 27.4 years. Of the original sample (restricted by age and education), these women accounted for about 20% of the veterans, 13% of individuals with no military service, 0% of active duty personnel, and 18% of individuals with service in the Guard or Reserve only. Ethnically, these women accounted for 13% of white, non-Hispanic women, 15% of African-American women, 12% of white, Hispanic women, and 14% of women in other racial/ethnic categories. Also, there appears to be a large number of housewives in this deleted group, as 55% were married 62% have had a child (46% are both married and

have at least one child, 9% of this group are married with no children, and 6% are single, never married mothers). Seventy-five percent of these women are not in the labor force. Included in this group are also likely to be part-year/seasonal workers who are currently unemployed. These women, on average, worked about 25 weeks during 1989. Another group that is included in this group is students, as 31% of these women (compared to about 18% in the entire sample) are enrolled in school.

Looking at the total number of women excluded from analyses involving earnings, we find that 50,241 women (about 31%) have been excluded. While the number is fairly large, this excluded group draws relatively evenly from the different racial/ethnic categories (although slightly more from "other" races/ethnicities) and military status groups (except active duty personnel). Of the original sample (restricted by age and education), these women accounted for about 35% of the veterans, 31% of individuals with no military service, 2% of active duty personnel, and 30% of individuals with service in the Guard or Reserve only. Ethnically, these women accounted for 30% of white, non-Hispanic women, 35% of African-American women, 32% of white, Hispanic women, and 41% of women in other racial/ethnic categories.

In the analysis of family income, I decided to exclude certain individuals as well. As with the individuals excluded from analysis involving earnings, those excluded from analysis involving family income were not automatically excluded from analysis involving other variables (i.e., earnings). These individuals are those that have missing values for family income and those whose family income is less than or equal to zero. The U.S. Bureau of the Census did not calculate family income for those individuals living in group quarters, such as college dormitories and military barracks. Thus, these

individuals have missing values for family income. Three-thousand three-hundred and seventeen women (about 2%) are in this category. This is a relatively young group of women, with an average age of 21.3 years. As one would predict, 92% of these women are single and 85% of them are enrolled in school. Of the original sample (restricted by age and education), these women accounted for less than 1% of the veterans, 2% of individuals with no military service, 36% of active duty personnel, and 3% of individuals with service in the Guard or Reserve only. Ethnically, these women accounted for 2% of white, non-Hispanic women, 3% of African-American women, 2% of white, Hispanic women, and 3% of women in other racial/ethnic categories.

For reasons similar to why I chose to exclude individuals with non-positive earnings, I have chosen to exclude individuals with non-positive family income from analysis involving family income. The 1,298 women excluded by this criterion make up less than 1% of the original sample (restricted by age and education). These women accounted for less than 1% of the veterans, individuals with no military service, active duty personnel, and individuals with service in the Guard or Reserve only. Ethnically, these women accounted for less than 1% of white, non-Hispanic women, 2% of African-American women, less than 1% of white, Hispanic women, and 2% of women in other racial/ethnic categories. These women have a mean age of 29 years. Included in this group are those likely to be living on "income 'in kind,' savings, or gifts, were newly created families, or families in which the sole breadwinner had recently died or left the household" (U.S. Bureau of the Census 1982, p.B-18). Welfare recipients are not counted in this group, as welfare payments are included in family income.

#### RESULTS

### **Description**

I used a difference of means test or a difference of proportions test, as appropriate, to make the comparisons between veterans and individuals in other military status categories. An alpha level of 0.05 was used to test the equality of the variances (using an F-test) in the difference of means test to determine the appropriate formula for calculating the t-statistic (Blalock 1979). I used a two-tailed t-test and set the alpha level at 0.05 to judge the statistical significance of the achieved differences. Unless otherwise noted, all specific results reported in this section are significant at the 0.05 level (at least).

The racial/ethnic composition of my sample is what one would expect when the data are disaggregated by military status (TABLE 4). That is, African-American women are overrepresented in all three groups with some type of military service. White, non-Hispanic women are underrepresented in these three groups. Those women who reported that they were white, Hispanic or in the "other" category made up similar percentages across all categories of military status.

Examining each racial/ethnic group more closely, I will describe some of the key characteristics of each group, disaggregating the data by military status and comparing the characteristics of veterans in that racial/ethnic group to those with no military service, active duty personnel, and individuals with service only in the Guard or Reserves. The characteristics I have selected are age, years of education, percent who have completed a bachelor's degree or more, percent enrolled in school, years of military

TABLE 4: Sample Population (Women): Race/Ethnicity by Military Status (in Percents)

	All Military Status				
Racial/Ethnic Group	Groups	Veteran	Non-Serving	Active Duty	Guard/Reserve
White, Non-Hispanic	82	92	82	99	0 <i>L</i>
African-American	6	15	6	26	21
White, Hispanic	4	4	4	3	5
Other	5	5	5	5	7
Total	(N=161955) 100%	(N=1576) 100%	00% (N=1576) 100% (N=159189) 100% (N=581)		100% (N=609) 100%

service, years of potential civilian labor market experience, marital status, number of children ever born, percent who are childless, percent who live with at least one of their own children who is under six years old, employment status, approximate number of hours worked in 1989, percent of current occupation that is male, percent of local labor force that is veteran, and percent of local labor force that is on active duty.

### White, Non-Hispanic Women

#### (TABLE 5)

On average, women veterans in this group are 29 years old. They are significantly younger than their non-serving counterparts by 1 year and older then their active duty counterparts by 3 years. There is no significant difference in age between veterans and those with service only in the Guard or Reserve.

In terms of education, veterans have only about 0.2 years of education less than non-serving individuals. However, looking at the percentage of individuals who have completed at least a Bachelor's degree, we see a much more substantial difference. More than 20% of non-serving individuals, active duty personnel, and those with service only in the Guard or Reserves fall into this category, while only about 14% of veterans do. While age and time lost due to military service may account for some of the difference between veterans and non-serving individuals on this characteristic, as I will explain below, the family choices women veterans make following their exit from the service may limit their ability to complete their degree. The large percentage of Guard/Reserve personnel enrolled in school may reflect those women in college Reserve Officer Training Corps (ROTC) programs, although this cannot be discerned from these data.

TABLE 5: Selected Characteristics of White, Non-Hispanic Women

1 ADLL 3. Science Characteristics of Wine, Indictinspaine Women	OI WILLY,	CITT-ITONT	parine w	OLLIVIA							
	Veteran	ran				Non-Serving	erving	Active Duty	Duty	Guard/Reserve	eserve
	N = 1	= 1195				N = 129809	60867	N = 381	381	N = 426	426
	% or	Std	Tests	Tests of Significance	icance	% or	Std	% or	Std	% or	Std
Characteristic	Mean	Dev	ese)	(see note below)	ow)	Mean	Dev	Mean	Dev	Mean	Dev
Age in years	29.0	4.7	***N	V***		30.0	6.2	25.9	5.4	28.6	6.0
Years of education	13.3	1.7	**N		G**	13.5	1.8	13.4	1.7	13.6	1.7
% with B.A. degree or higher	14.2		** * * V	A**	G**	20.5		20.5		20.6	
% enrolled in school	17.7				G***	16.8		15.7		26.2	
Years of military service	3.2	2.1	* * Z	A**	C***	0.0	0.0	5.0	3.8	0.0	0.0
Years of potential civ. experience	7.5	4.5	**X	***V	Q***	11.5	6.2	2.5	3.2	10.1	5.7
% married, not separated	61.8			V***	·**	64.3		48.0		53.9	
% divorced, widowed, separated	19.0		** Z	A**	·***9	11.3		11.8		11.7	
% single, never married	19.2		* *Z	A***	C***	24.4		40.2		34.4	
Number of children ever born	1.2	1.2	**N	A***	G**	1.3	1.3	9.0	0.0	1.0	1.2
% childless	36.4			V***	G***	37.6		65.4		49.4	
% with child(ren) under 6 yrs old	42.2		**N	\\\***	G***	33.3		21.5		31.4	
% employed	6.89		$N^{**}$	A***		72.5		100.0		73.1	
% unemployed	6.9		***N	A***		3.7		0.0		4.9	
% not in the labor force	24.3			V***		23.8		0.0		22.0	
Number of hours worked in 1989	1400.5	931.9	**N	***W		1289.1	910.4	2113.8	707.1	1326.9	871.4
% of occupation that is male	38.8	30.4	** * Z	V***	G*	32.3	26.0	59.8	31.5	34.6	28.6
% of labor force that is veteran	15.9	2.1	N***		Q***	15.3	2.1	15.7	2.1	15.5	1.9
% of labor force on active duty	2.7	4.9	**Z	<b>A</b> ***	G***	1.1	2.7	6.4	6.1	1.4	2.7
					ľ	,			Ę	-	

Veterans different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - those with service in Guard/Reserve only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater

Work experience, for veterans, can basically be divided up into that experience gained while on active duty, as measured by length of service, and potential civilian labor market experience. While non-serving individuals have a definitive edge in potential civilian labor market experience, the combined total experience (length of service and potential civilian labor market experience) of veterans is only about one year less than that of non-serving individuals, which can be accounted for by the difference in age.

Active duty personnel and those with service only in the Guard or Reserve have less total experience than veterans, but, again, this is driven by age.

Familial variables tell an interesting story about the difference between veterans and non-serving individuals. They are equally likely to be married, but the percentage of veterans who are divorced, widowed, or separated is significantly greater than the percentage of non-serving women who are in a similar situation. In addition, veterans are significantly less likely to be single, never married, than any other military status group. In terms of child bearing, veterans have slightly fewer children than non-serving individuals (only 0.1 fewer) and are more likely to have a child under 6 years old.

This pattern is significant in light of the active duty statistics presented here and the previous discussion of Segal's (1986) characterization of the military as a greedy institution. While these are not longitudinal data, it is likely to be a safe assumption that the veterans of this study looked much like the active duty personnel in this study in terms of familial variables, when they were on active duty. That is, they were much more likely to be single and they most certainly had fewer children. However, after getting out of the service, these veterans appear to have almost "caught up" to their non-serving counterparts in terms of marriage and procreation.

In fact, if one looks at the percentage of individuals ever married, the number for veterans exceeds that of non-veterans. While veterans were investing time in starting families and having children, it appears that non-serving individuals may have been investing time in education and finishing their degrees. An alternative explanation is that veterans did not "catch up" in terms of marriage and procreation after leaving the service, but left the service because they had young children or got married and were having difficulty meeting the demands of both greedy institutions (i.e., the military and the family). Both explanations may be partly correct, but this cannot be tested using these data.

Looking at individual labor force participation, white, non-Hispanic women veterans are employed at a significantly lower rate than non-serving women and unemployed at a significantly greater rate. Veterans usually worked more often than their non-serving counterparts and in occupations that contained a higher proportion of employed men. Active duty personnel, on average, worked the most during 1989 and in occupations that contained the highest percentages of employed males. The reason that the percentage of males in active duty occupations is lower than what we would expect, given our knowledge of the gender composition of the U.S. Armed Forces (i.e., women make up only about 13% of the active duty force and are still concentrated in traditionally female jobs), is that active duty personnel, unless they have a job that is unique to the military, are coded by the Census Bureau according to the civilian equivalent of their military occupation.

Lastly, in examining the labor forces within the labor markets in which individuals live, we find that women veterans tend to live in areas with a higher percentage of

veterans and active duty personnel in the labor force than women with no service. The same holds true when comparing veterans to women with service only in the Guard or Reserve. Women veterans may be more likely to live in areas of higher concentrations of active duty personnel because more are probably married to active duty husbands (although I do not have this information for this sample). Another explanation may be that women who leave the service tend to stay near the last military installation at which they were stationed and find civilian employment there. Again, the limitations of these data do not allow me to examine this possibility.

#### African-American Women

### (TABLE 6)

African-American veterans in this sample are, on average, about the same age as their non-serving counterparts and significantly older than the active duty personnel and individuals with service only in the Guard or Reserve. As expected, then, total experience of veterans and individuals with no service is about equal, while veterans' total experience is greater than that of active duty and Guard/Reserve personnel.

Educationally, African-American women veterans, unlike white, non-Hispanic veterans, do not differ significantly on any measure of education from their non-serving or active duty counterparts. Again, however, there is a large percentage of Guard/Reserve personnel who are enrolled in school (significantly more than the percentage of enrolled veterans). It is also noteworthy that while African-American veterans do not differ significantly (at the 0.05 level of significance) from their white, non-Hispanic veteran counterparts in terms of their years of education or the percentage who have earned at least a 4-year degree, African-American women with no military

TABLE 6: Selected Characteristics of African-American Women

17 Letter 9: Science Characteristics 91 / missan / missingan	11 / 111 MAI		1110 11 1111	117		***************************************					
	Veteran	ran				Non-Serving	erving	Active Duty	Duty	Guard/Reserve	eserve
	N = 243	243				N = 14576	4576	N = 153	153	N = 125	125
	% or	Std	Tests	Tests of Significance	icance	% or	Std	% or	Std	% or	Std
Characteristic	Mean	Dev	eee)	(see note below)	ow)	Mean	Dev	Mean	Dev	Mean	Dev
Age in years	2.62	4.9		***V	C**	29.2	6.2	24.8	4.6	27.3	0.9
Years of education	13.1	1.5				13.1	1.6	13.2	1.3	13.3	1.3
% with B.A. degree or higher	11.1					13.2		13.1		12.8	
% enrolled in school	16.0				G***	18.6		22.2		31.2	
Years of military service	3.7	2.3	* * Z	$A^*$	G***	0.0	0.0	4.4	3.6	0.0	0.0
Years of potential civ. experience	7.3	4.9	N***	Y***	G**	11.1	6.2	2.2	2.9	9.0	5.7
% married, not separated	47.3		***N		G***	34.4		38.6		24.8	
% divorced, widowed, separated	24.3		**N	$ \Lambda^* $	G*	17.4		14.4		15.2	
% single, never married	28.4		$N^{***}$	V***	G***	48.3		47.1		0.09	
Number of children ever born	1.4	1.2		A***	G***	1.4	1.4	0.7	1.3	6.0	1.0
% childless	28.8			<b>A</b> ***	G**	31.7		56.9		44.0	
% with child(ren) under 6 yrs old	42.8		N***	A***	G***	32.7		23.5		22.4	
% employed	64.2			A***		67.4		100.0		71.2	
% unemployed	14.0		N*	A***		10.1		0.0		15.2	
% not in the labor force	21.8			A***		22.5		0.0		13.6	
Number of hours worked in 1989	1321.0	935.6		A***		1236.5	930.3	1991.3	886.1	1330.1	899.0
% of occupation that is male	35.3	27.6		A***		32.0	25.0	9.09	30.6	34.8	27.9
% of labor force that is veteran	15.0	2.1	***N	A***		14.3	2.1	15.9	1.9	14.8	1.9
% of labor force on active duty	5.1	7.6	N***	A***	G***	1.8	3.6	9.1	7.4	2.4	4.1

Veterans different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - those with service in Guard/Reserve only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater

service, who are on active duty, and who have served only in the Guard or Reserve are significantly less likely to have earned at least their bachelor's degree than their white, non-Hispanic counterparts.

Women veterans in this racial/ethnic category are more likely to be married as well as divorced, widowed, or separated than non-serving women. Although, on average, veterans have the same number of children as non-serving individuals, the veterans are more likely to have preschool children. This is likely to reflect the delay in childbearing influenced by the demands of military service.

Similar to white, non-Hispanic veterans, African-American veterans experience unemployment more frequently than those without military service. Unlike white, non-Hispanic veterans, though, these women did not differ significantly from their non-serving counterparts in terms of the time spent at work in 1989 or in the percentage of males employed in their occupations.

Looking at the percentage of veterans and active duty personnel in the labor force in each LMA, veterans again tend to live in areas with a higher percentage of veterans and active duty personnel in the labor force than individuals with no service. As with other groups of women veterans, this may reflect the marriage patterns of these women or their tendency to remain in the area of their last military station.

#### White, Hispanic Women

#### (TABLE 7)

In statistical tests requiring the assumption of normality, the assumption of normality may almost always be relaxed with sample sizes greater than or equal to 100 and, with some caution, with sample sizes greater than or equal to 50 (Blalock 1979).

TABLE 7: Selected Characteristics of White, Hispanic Women

	Vete	Veteran				Non-Serving	Danima
	) }					ימ-ווטאן	Sinving Contraction
	N = 56	56				N = 6336	5336
<u> </u>	% or	Std	Tests	Tests of Significance	ficance	% or	Std
Characteristic   N	Mean	Dev	ee(see	(see note below)	low)	Mean	Dev
Age in years	27.9	4.6	*Z			29.3	6.2
Years of education	13.1	1.8				13.3	1.8
% with B.A. degree or higher	14.3					17.5	
% enrolled in school	17.9					20.8	
Years of military service	3.3	1.7	***N			0.0	0.0
Years of potential civ. experience	6.5	4.4	**N			11.0	6.3
% married, not separated	60.7					55.1	
% divorced, widowed, separated	19.6					12.2	
% single, never married	19.6		*Z			32.7	
Number of children ever born	1.3	1.2				1.2	1.3
% childless	32.1					42.4	
% with child(ren) under 6 yrs old	46.4		*N			31.1	
% employed	62.5					71.0	
% unemployed	12.5		**N			4.8	
% not in the labor force	25.0					24.2	
Number of hours worked in 1989 1	1448.3	936.2				1276.5	941.3
% of occupation that is male	37.1	29.6				31.9	25.6
% of labor force that is veteran	15.8	2.4	**N			14.5	2.5
% of labor force on active duty	2.6	4.9				1.3	2.6

At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Veterans different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - those with service in Guard/Reserve only

However, the opposite is true when the sample size is less than or equal to 30 (Blalock 1979). Because of the small numbers of active duty and Guard/Reserve respondents remaining in the sample who are white, Hispanic or from "other" racial/ethnic groups (i.e., not white, non-Hispanic and not African American) ( $N \le 30$ ), these groups will not be compared to their respective veteran counterparts or included in further analysis.

White, Hispanic women veterans are significantly younger than their non-serving counterparts by 1.4 years. Thus, veterans' total experience is also slightly less than that of individuals with no military service. White, Hispanic veterans did not differ significantly from the non-serving women on any of the education characteristics, but the direction of the differences was similar to that experienced by other racial/ethnic groups.

In terms of familial variables, the veteran group, like the two racial/ethnic groups already described, was significantly less likely to be single, never married than the non-serving women and, on average, were more likely to have a child under age 6.

Unemployment plagued women veterans in this racial/ethnic category as it did the other groups. The white, Hispanic veterans' unemployment rate was more than double that of non-serving individuals. The only other characteristic that was significant in this group was that veterans tend to live in areas with a higher concentration of veterans. Although differences in other characteristics are notable, they did not reach statistical significance due to the small number of veterans in this group.

# Women of Other Race/Ethnicity

#### (TABLE 8)

Those women whom I have classified in the "other" racial/ethnic category are those women who are not white nor black (e.g., Asian and Native American). While

TABLE 8: Selected Characteristics of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity

	Veteran	ran				Non-Serving	erving
	N = 82	82				N = 8468	3468
	% or	Std	Tests	Tests of Significance	cance	% or	Std
Characteristic	Mean	Dev	ee (see	(see note below)	(MC	Mean	Dev
Age in years	29.0	5.2				29.0	6.2
Years of education	13.4	1.9				13.5	1.9
% with B.A. degree or higher	17.1					20.8	
% enrolled in school	24.4					24.9	
Years of military service	3.7	2.3	2.3 N***			0.0	0.0
Years of potential civ. experience	6.9	5.4	* * Z			10.5	6.1
% married, not separated	54.9					55.9	
% divorced, widowed, separated	19.5		**N			10.3	
% single, never married	25.6					33.8	
Number of children ever born	1.5	1.4				1.3	1.4
% childless	26.8		$N^*$			39.6	
% with child(ren) under 6 yrs old	46.3		*\			34.5	
% employed	629					63.0	
% unemployed	12.2		*\			9.9	
% not in the labor force	22.0					30.4	
Number of hours worked in 1989	1249.2	917.3				1104.3	957.0
% of occupation that is male	42.9	33.2 N*	*Z			32.2	25.4
% of labor force that is veteran	15.5	2.4	2.4 N***			14.6	2.4
% of labor force on active duty	3.5	5.2	5.2 N**			1.7	3.1

Veterans different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - those with service in Guard/Reserve only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater

combining these ethnic groups makes little theoretical sense, it was necessary because of the small numbers in these groups. It is also interesting to see that their patterns do not differ much from those of the other racial/ethnic groups. Veterans in this group were almost equally aged, educated, and experienced as non-serving individuals. They (veterans) were, however, more likely to be divorced and to have a child under 6 years old than individuals with no military service. Veterans were also less likely to have had no children than their non-serving counterparts. Like other racial/ethnic groups, "other" women veterans were disadvantaged in terms of their unemployment rate. Veterans also, on average, are employed in occupations with higher concentrations of male employees and live in areas with a higher percentage of veterans and active duty personnel in the labor force.

# Comparison of Dependent Measures

A difference of means test was used to make comparisons between the earnings and family income of veterans and individuals in other military status categories. An alpha level of 0.05 was used to test the equality of the variances (using an F-test) in the difference of means test to determine the appropriate formula for calculating the t-statistic (Blalock 1979). I used a two-tailed t-test and set the alpha level at 0.05 to judge the statistical significance of the achieved differences. Unless otherwise noted, all specific results reported in this section are significant at the 0.05 level (at least).

Because of the smaller departure from normality of the distribution of the natural logarithm of the dependent variables (compared to the distribution of the non-transformed variables), I have primarily reported and based my conclusions on the differences between the means of the transformed variables and their associated tests of

significance in the text of this paper, although both transformed and non-transformed variables are presented in the tables. If a difference in a transformed variable is statistically significant, the difference for the non-transformed variable, if also significant, is reported in parentheses after the difference in the transformed variable. The differences between the logarithmically transformed dependent variables of veterans and those of the other military status groups are converted to the approximate percentage difference in the dependent variables between veterans and the other comparison groups by using the following formula (Mehay and Hirsch 1996, p.205; Thornton and Innes 1989, p.444):

Percentage Differential = [EXP(Logarithmic Differential) - 1] x 100

Earnings of Women by Race/Ethnicity

Looking at earnings when the data are disaggregated by race/ethnicity and military status (TABLE 9), there is only one statistically significant difference in the natural logarithm of earnings within any racial/ethnic group when comparing women veterans to those women with no military service, those on active duty, and those with service in the Guard or Reserve only. This difference is between white, non-Hispanic veterans and their active duty counterparts in the logarithm of earnings, with about a 18% earnings disadvantage going to the veterans.

For the purpose of comparison, male white, non-Hispanic veterans receive an 11% (\$4153) earnings penalty relative to their non-serving counterparts, a 23% (\$5040) earnings premium over similar active duty personnel, and an 11% (\$3513) earnings penalty in comparison to those with service in the Guard or Reserve only. African-American male veterans, however, receive an 8% earnings advantage over similar

TABLE 9: Earnings of Women by Race/Ethnicity

1 ADLE 7. LAHIMISS OF WORKER BY NACE LIMINORY	mgs or	W CHILCH	ישאז לח	אוווווארד /	/1t.y										
	•	Veteran					No	Non-Serving	lg.	Ac	Active Duty	y	Gua	Guard/Reserves	ves
			Std	Tests (	ests of Significance	ficance			Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	s)	(see below)	$\lambda$	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
White, Non-															
Hispanic															
Earnings	790	790 15153 12417	12417				26606	14836 12029	12029	375	375 15649	8436	302	302 14478	11175
Ln Earnings	790	9.288	0.955		A***		26606	9.254	0.976	375	9.490	0.646	302	9.222	0.963
African															
American															
Earnings	150	150 14174	8272				9379	14327	10623	149	12833	7095	87	16015	10386
Ln Earnings	150	9.321	0.859				9379	9.248	0.952	149	9.212	1.042	87	9.351	0.965
White,															
Hispanic															
Earnings	35	35 13829	7487				4294	15152 12104	12104	20	11353	5574	22	13166	12210
Ln Earnings	35	9.332	0.765				4294	9.301	0.932	20	9.232	0.480	22	9.011	1.140
Other					- 44										
Earnings	50	15475	11984				5018	5018 15067 13029	13029	27	13764	8038	19	15693	9705
Ln Earnings	50	9.196	1.175				5018	5018 9.237 1.020	1.020	27	9.285	0.861	19	19 9.380	0.898
Cionificently different from: N - non-serv	Farant f	N.	90-404		ing individuals A gottiva duty Dersonnel G individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only	\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \	tire dut	v Dereon	nel G	individi	ale who	cerried	in Guar	d/Recers	vlac only

At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty Personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only

non-serving men and a 18% (\$3865) advantage over active duty personnel. While white, Hispanic veterans did not differ significantly from their non-serving counterparts (in terms of the natural logarithm of earnings), they did receive a 37% (\$5639) advantage over similar men on active duty. Those classified in the "other" race/ethnicity category also did not differ significantly from similar individuals with no military service, but earned a 14% (\$4629) premium over their active duty counterparts.

In order to examine earnings differences more fully, I examined each racial/ethnic group of women individually, comparing the mean earnings of veterans with other military status groups within categories for age, education, marital status, number of children ever born, work status, percentage of LMA labor force that is veteran, and percentage of LMA labor force that is on active duty.

Earnings of White, Non-Hispanic Women (TABLES 10-13)

Women veterans in this racial/ethnic group differed significantly from non-serving individuals in each age category. Younger veterans (≤ 25) had about a 16% earnings advantage over those with no service, based on the difference in the transformed earnings variable. This veteran advantage, however is replaced by a veteran disadvantage in the middle age group (26-32) of about 9% (\$1258). The direction of the relationship switches again in the older age group, where veterans earned, on average, a 17% (\$3145) premium over similarly aged non-serving individuals. White, non-Hispanic veterans across all age groups earned significantly less than their active duty counterparts. The difference ranges from a 20% earnings penalty for the youngest veterans to a 37% (\$4097) earnings penalty for the oldest. Only the youngest group of

TABLE 10: Earnings of White, Non-Hispanic Women by Age and Education	rnings o	f White,	, Non-H	ispanic	Women	by Age	and Edu	cation							
		Veteran					No	Non-Serving	gı	Ac	Active Duty	y		Guard	
			Std	Tests (	Tests of Significance	ficance			Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	$\mathbf{s}$	(see below)	w)	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
Age															
$\leq 25 \text{ yrs}$															
Earnings	168	10451	6173			G*	23878	9838	7556	200	11631	5201	107	8578	6238
Ln Earnings	168	9.011	0.827N	*Z	A**	G*	23878	8.862	0.932	200	9.230	0.591	107	8.758	0.847
26 - 32 yrs															
Earnings	423	14529	10888N	*Z	V***		30586	15787	11312	119	18214	8202	96	15621	11207
Ln Earnings	423	9.265	0.957N	*N	$A^{***}$		30586	9.364	0.935	119	9.675	0.604	96	9.345	0.934
≥ 33 yrs											-				
Earnings	199	20450	16788N	**N	$A^*$		36533	17305	13885	99	24547	6386	99	19746	12345
Ln Earnings	199	9.572	0.981	*Z	A***		36533	9.417	0.968	99	10.027	0.425	99	9.604	0.910
Education															
High School															
Earnings	279	12360	7811				33399	11723	8574	127	11679	5322	80	12395	8030
Ln Earnings	279	9.164	0.849	•			33399	9.065	0.922	127	9.223	0.622	80	9.152	0.865
Some College															
Earnings	384	14265	9847	7		G*	36147	13571	10391	170	14299	6609	150	12050	10162
Ln Earnings	384	9.248	0.962	6	A**	G**	36147	9.168	0.977	170	9.447	0.568	150	8.977	1.021
Bachelor's +															
Earnings	127	23976	20928	8			21451	21812	15844	78	25054	9903	72	21850	12982
Ln Earnings	127	9.684	1.057		A**		21451	9.692	0.922	78	10.020	0.531	72	9.810	0.655
37.1 -17	, , , , , , ,	T.V.			1. 1. 1. 1.	V	ation dist.	0		- Air 101	in bornes of my low bearing	Locusion 1		Ground /Dogowyood on by	1140 00

At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only

	l
	I
3orn	ı
Bo	I
er]	
EV	ı
g	
dre	
Chi	
þ	
an	
ns	
tat	
SI	
rita	
Лa	
Ž	,
n b	į
me	
Woj	
C	
ani.	
asi	
Ä	
ono	
Z	
ite	
Μ̈́	
)£	
Si	
ing	ľ
arn	
连	
=	
TABLE 11: E	ļ
BI	
TA	

Veteran	i c	Veteran						Non-Serving	ğ	A	Active Duty	ty		Guard	
			Std	Tests o	Tests of Significance	cance			Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	9S)	see below)	7)	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
Marital Status															
Single															
Earnings	172	14527	9823				23465	13470	11701	148	13143	7983	106	12039	11254
Ln Earnings	172	9.299	0.854	* * Z		G**	23465	9.120	0.996	148	9.284	0.698	106	9.004	0.937
Married															
Earnings	454	15142	12367		A**		56377	15060	11944	182	17697	8767	160	16048	
Ln Earnings	454	9.253	1.029		A**		56377	9.275	0.979	182	9.636	0.608	160	9.369	0.920
Divorced <sup>1</sup>															
Earnings	164	15841	14804				11155	16573	12815	45	15606	6114	36	14681	10246
Ln Earnings	164	9.375	0.835		$A^*$		11155	9.425	0.882	45	9.580	0.402	36	9.211	1.119
Children															
0			L												
Earnings	340	16466	11467		A*		38620	15646	12689	244	14647	8266	167	14425	11970
Ln Earnings	340	9.465	0.790	***N		<b>G</b> **	38620	9.313	0.948	244	9.415	0.658	167	9.235	0.894
1 - 2												-			
Earnings	380	14208	12568		<b>A</b> **		40342	14810	11712	114	17276	8536	110	14805	10244
Ln Earnings	380	9.199	0.967		A***		40342	9.270	0.960	114	9.612	0.614	110	9.234	1.041
+ 5															
Earnings	20	13909	15309				12035	12322	10451	17	19116	8017	25	13392	- 1
Ln Earnings	70	8.911	1.375		V***		12035	800.6	1.076	17	9.757	0.509	25	9.087	1.076
IV 2. 1. 3	7 7	7	\$0.5	Store Carried and Salar	وامدوانينا	<	irro distr	nosteon 1	nol G	individi	John who	Servied	in Guar	antico distribution of individuale who corred in Giland/Recerves only	ves only

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \* p  $\leq$  .05, \*\* p  $\leq$  .01, \*\*\* p  $\leq$  .001

<sup>1</sup> Includes divorced, separated, and widowed individuals

TABLE 12: Earnings of White, Non-Hispanic Women by Work Status

The state of the s	o co		***		CHARLES OF TAXABLE COMME		-								
		Veteran					No	Non-Serving	gı	Αc	Active Duty	ty		Guard	
			Std	Tests (	Tests of Significance	cance			Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	s)	(see below)	(,	Z	N Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
Work Status															
Part time/year															
Earnings	338	9367	338 9367 10792		¥W		42852	42852 9690 9579	9579	86	98 11540	8538		148 8675	9220
Ln Earnings	338	338 8.682	1.067		V***		42852	42852 8.727 1.068	1.068	86	98 9.046 0.886	0.886	148	148 8.634	0.979
FTYR															
Earnings	452	19480	452 19480 11784		<b>V</b> **		48145	48145 19415 12136	12136	277	17102	277 17102 8008		154 20054 10007	10007
Ln Earnings	452	9.742	452 9.742 0.515		V**		48145	9.723	48145 9.723 0.566	277	277 9.648 0.441	0.441	154	154 9.788 0.496	0.496
1. J.	3 7 3	14			The second of the second secon	A	4.4.	2000			01. 22.la	. F		1/0	

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

Part time/year - worked from 1 - 49 weeks in 1989 or usually worked 1 - 34 hours per week in 1989 FTYR - worked 50 or more weeks in 1989 and usually worked 35 hours or more per week in 1989

TABLE 13: Earnings of White, Non-Hispanic Women by Percentage of Labor Force that is Veteran and Active Duty

Veteran Non-Serving	TO AGI	Veteran		2	2		Noi	Non-Serving	ρū	·I⋖	Active Duty	ty		Guard	
			Std	Tests o	Tests of Significance	cance			Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	S)	(see below)	)	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
% Veteran															
< 14															
Earnings	126	15413	10221				21959		16750 14113	80	15023	7089	58	13940	12491
Ln Earnings	126	9.296	1.048		A*		21959	9.362	0.992	80	9.510	0.471	58	9.192	0.892
14 ≤ % < 17															
Earnings	470	15225	12310				52487	14503	11378	218	15735	8855	187	15240	11528
Ln Earnings	470	9.303	0.941		A**		52487	9.240	0.966	218	9.474	0.706	187	9.253	1.009
≥ 17															
Earnings	194	14812	13937				16551	13351	10648	77	16053	8571	57	12523	8059
Ln Earnings	194	9.247	0.931		A**		16551	9.153	926.0	77	9.518	0.633	57	9.152	0.886
% Active Duty															
< 1															
Earnings	517	14650	11760				74316	14651	11894	64	14239	6077	225	14355	111161
Ln Earnings	517	9.265	0.936		A*		74316	9.243	0.972	64	9.447	0.537	225	9.242	0.900
1 < % < 5															
Earnings	167	16406	11830				12384	12384 16107	13018	143	16235	9604	55	14935	11237
Ln Earnings	167	9.371	0.996				12384	9.330	0.992	143	9.505	0.675	55	9.156	1.180
1>5															
Earnings	106	15633	15928				4297	14357	11134	168	15687	8121	22	14595	11655
Ln Earnings	106	9.273	0.988		A*		4297	9.224	0.987	168	9.495	0.662	22	9.184	1.028
Significantly different from: N - non-ser	rent fro	N.W.	non-serv	ino ind	ving individuals. A - active duty personnel. G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only	A - act	ive duty	person	nel. G	individi	als who	served	in Guar	d/Reserv	res only

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater individuals who served in Guard/ Reserves Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals at the following levels of significance(two-tailed t-test): \* G = .05, \*\* G = .01, \*\*\* G = .001

veterans experience any significant earnings difference from those with service only in the Guard and Reserve. This difference is about a 29% (\$1874) veteran premium.

When the data were disaggregated by education, there were no significant differences between white, non-Hispanic veterans and non-serving individuals.

However, those veterans with some college and those with at least a bachelor's degree again had an earnings penalty relative to their active duty counterparts, 18% and 29% (\$1078), respectively. A significant veteran earnings advantage in comparison to those who have served only in the Guard or Reserve was also detected for those with some college.

With respect to marital status, single (never married) veterans hold a 20% earnings advantage over their non-serving counterparts, while those who are married or divorced, separated, or widowed have no significant earnings differences with non-serving women. An active duty advantage over those veterans of similar marital status is seen in those who are married and those who are divorced, separated, or widowed. Veterans have an earnings advantage over Guard/Reserve personnel in the single, never married category.

Veterans who have never had a child earn a 16% premium over their non-serving counterparts and a 26% premium over those with service only in the Guard or Reserve who have never had a child. No differences were detected between these two groups for veterans having 1-2 or 3 or more children. However, when comparing veterans with active duty personnel, there is a significant and substantial earnings penalty for veterans having 1-2 children [34% (\$3068)] and those having 3 or more children (57%). Where increasing numbers of children have a negative impact on veterans' earnings, each

increasing category of children ever born shows an increase in ln(earnings) for active duty personnel. This pattern is likely to be the result of the extra money which military members earn for additional dependents and the likelihood that those with more children are likely to be older and of higher rank than those with fewer children.

Looking at the means by an individual's work status, that is, whether they did not work last year, worked only part time or part of the year, or worked full time, year round, no difference in earnings is found between veterans and those with no service. Those veterans who only worked part time or part of the year had a 30% (\$2173) earnings penalty relative to active duty personnel with the same work status (e.g., those who were unemployed, but joined the military with less than 50 weeks remaining in 1989). However, when those women who worked full time and year round in 1989 are examined, we actually see a veteran's earnings advantage of 10% (\$2378) relative to active duty personnel.

The military characteristics of the local labor markets (i.e., percent of labor force that is veteran and percent of labor force that is on active duty) provide another way for the data to be disaggregated. No differences are found between the earnings of veterans and non-serving individuals or Guard/Reserve personnel on any category of these variables. Veterans, however, receive an earnings penalty relative to active duty personnel across all categories of the percentage of labor force that is veteran and all but the middle category of the percentage of the labor force that is on active duty.

What is more interesting, however, are the trends across the categories of these variables within the veteran and non-serving groups (the trends noted within one military status category between different concentrations of veterans and active duty personnel

have not been tested for statistical significance). While the mean earnings of white, non-Hispanic veterans appears to drop only slightly across the three levels of the percentage of the labor force that is veteran, the decrease in earnings for non-serving individuals is much more drastic. The trends are somewhat different when the data are disaggregated by the percentage of the labor force that is on active duty. In the veteran group, earnings rise from the lowest to the middle category and then fall in the category with the highest concentration of active duty personnel in the labor force. Similarly, within the non-serving individual category, earnings rise from the lowest to the middle category and then fall from the middle to the highest category.

# Earnings of African-American Women

#### (TABLES 14-17)

Even when the data are disaggregated by age, African-American veterans (unlike white, Non-Hispanic veterans) do not differ significantly from those with no service in terms of their earnings. However, in the middle and upper age groups, veterans experience an earnings penalty relative to active duty personnel of 26% (\$2884) and 34%, respectively.

Within educational categories, no difference in earnings proved to be significant. However, this is not true with respect to marital status. African-American women veterans who were single, never married, earned a 46% premium over similar non-serving individuals and a 63% (\$5381) premium over similar women on active duty. Married women veterans have a 26% earnings disadvantage relative to their active duty counterparts. Looking at the other familial variable by which I disaggregated data in this section, the number of children ever born, the only significant difference that is present is

TABLE 14: Earnings of African-American Women by Age and Education

Veteran Non-	D	Veteran				o	N N	Non-Serving	g.	Ac	Active Duty	ty		Guard	
			Std	Tests o	Tests of Significance	icance			Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	es)	(see below)	v)	N	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
Age															
≤ 25 yrs															
Earnings	34	10689	5028				2435	9806	7073	94	6686	4804	31	9116	8361
Ln Earnings	34	9.074	0.838				2435	8.735	1.026	94	8.920	1.183	31	8.781	0.856
26 - 32 yrs															
Earnings	28	14676	7437		A*		3297	14379	9736	47	17559	7840	30	16654	8165
Ln Earnings	78	9.385	0.818		$A^{**}$		3297	9.308	0.871	47	689.6	0.412	30	9.512	0.792
≥ 33 yrs															
Earnings	38	16264	11034			G**	3647	17779	11871	8	19528	6093	26	23504	9594
Ln Earnings	38	9.410	0.939		$A^*$		3647	9.536	0.823	8	9.828	0.358	26	9.846	0.951
Education															
High School															
Earnings	46	11421	5928				3827	11418	8159	50	10461	5807	16	11886	10201
Ln Earnings	46	9.070	0.994				3827	9.045	0.911	50	8.873	1.440	16	8.930	1.075
Some College															
Earnings	81	13974	6913				3930	14012	9911	79	12458	5201	57	15215	9955
Ln Earnings	81	9.350	0.775				3930	9.233	0.958	79	9.284	0.722	57	9.304	0.960
Bachelor's +															
Earnings	23	20385	12709				1622	21953	13389	20	20241	10999	14	23991	8627
Ln Earnings	23	9.723	0.699				1622	9.764	0.830	20	9.772	0.562		14 10.025	0.366
Cigniff courtly diffount from M	CC.C.	IV :000	300	Store Carrie Care	10.00	-	in duter		andien distribution and and and indicated in Canada Dagaria control	modition.	ole who	borraco.	in Gul	1/D ocomy	og omler

Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance(two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$  In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater

	l
er Born	
n Ev	
and Childre	
Status ar	
Marital Statu	
Vomen by	
trnings of African-American Women by Marital Status and	
of African-	
<b>TABLE 15: E</b>	

Veteran Non-Serving	â	Veteran					No	Non-Serving	ng.		Active Duty	ty		Guard	
			Std	Tests (	Tests of Significance	ficance			Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	s)	(see below)	w)	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
Marital Status															
Single															
Earnings	40	15437	8098		A**		4035	12530	10083	70	10056	5623	51	13156	9581
Ln Earnings	40	9.443	0.798	*Z	<b>A</b> **		4035	9.064	1.018	70	8.957	0.923	51	9.103	1.012
Married															
Earnings	71	13376	7014	* * Z		<b>Č</b> *	3599	15650	10806	57	15530	7933	21	19614	10537
Ln Earnings	71	9.240	0.947		A*		3599	9.381	0.880	57	9.540	0.475	21	9.644	0.869
Divorced <sup>1</sup>															
Earnings	39	14333	9938			Ġ*	1745	15752	10847	22	14678	5839	15	20698	10175
Ln Earnings	39	9.343	0.750				1745	9.402	0.859	22	9.173	1.934	15	9.785	0.651
Children															
0															
Earnings	51	14322	7990		<b>*</b> ¥		3041	14039	11263	84	11015	6082	34	12597	11042
Ln Earnings	51	9.358	0.806	<u>.</u>			3041	9.178	1.013	84	9.078	0.858	34	8.989	1.074
1-2															
Earnings	08	13690	8682			G**	4581	14908	10713	57	15346	8083	44	18635	0696
Ln Earnings	08	9.254	0.928			G*	4581	9.315	0.912	57	9.365	1.306	44	9.604	0.823
3+															
Earnings	19	15817	7375				1757	13310	9038	8	14011	3242	6	16123	8045
Ln Earnings	61	9.501	0.682				1757	9.194	0.933	8	9.524	0.236	6	9.484	0.817
Significantly different from: N - non-ser	Perent fr	.m. N -	. กดก-๔ค	rvino inc	lividual	vino individuale A - active duty personnel G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only	ive duty	nerson	nel G-	individ	Jale who	served	in Guar	d/Reserv	ves only

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater | Includes divorced, separated, and widowed individuals Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance(two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

TABLE 16: Earnings of African-American Women by Work Status

	- CO.	*****												
		Veteran				No	Non-Serving	lg.	Αc	Active Duty	ty		Guard	
			Std	Tests of Significance	sance			Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	(see below)		Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
Work Status														
Part time/year														
Earnings	57	57 10200	7664			4064	4064 9714	9424	47	8481	6778	38	8790	8028
Ln Earnings	57	8.822	1.116			4064	4064 8.711	1.110		47 8.513 1.571	1.571	38	38 8.648	1.006
FTYR														
Earnings	93	93 16610	7700		Q***	5315	5315 17853 10126	10126	102	102 14838	6322	49	49 21619	8380
Ln Earnings	93	93 9.627 0.434	0.434		G***	5315	5315 9.658 0.518	0.518	102	102 9.534 0.366	0.366	49	49 9.897 0.439	0.439
Cianificantly dif	Farant fr	.w.	100 000	Simifocutly different from: N non-semina individuals A - active duty nerconnel G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only	A - acti	ive duty	nercont	i - 5) let	ndividi	ale who	served i	ก Gบลก	d/Reserv	es only

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \* p  $\leq$  .05, \*\* p  $\leq$  .01, \*\*\* p  $\leq$  .001

Part time/year - worked from 1 - 49 weeks in 1989 or usually worked 1 - 34 hours per week in 1989 FTYR - worked 50 or more weeks in 1989 and usually worked 35 hours or more per week in 1989

TABLE 17: Earnings of African-American Women by Percentage of Labor Force that is Veteran and Active Duty

Veteran Non-Serving	10 03m	Veteran				Nor	Non-Serving	ρĭ	1	Active Duty	Lty		Guard	
			Std	Tests of	Tests of Significance			Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	ese)	(see below)	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
% Veteran														
< 14														
Earnings	52	13703	7601			4109	14474	11108	17	17 10446	5223	25	15924	10383
Ln Earnings	52	9.292	0.885			4109	9.248	0.965	17	9.063	0.748	25	9.385	0.930
14 ≤ % < 17														
Earnings	69	13476	7578			4521	14443	10078	91	13460	7830	52	15472	10715
Ln Earnings	69	9.235	0.935			4521	9.266	0.945	91	9.281	0.848	52	9.267	1.028
≥ 17							-							
Earnings	29	16683	10551			749	12817	11003	41	12429	5824	10	19070	8982
Ln Earnings	29	9.578	0.538	**X		749	9.138	906.0	41	9.119	1.465	10	9.707	0.646
% Active Duty														
< 1														
Earnings	73	13905	7901			6497	14557	11026	15	14825	7390	49	16995	10063
Ln Earnings	73	9.281	0.947			6497	9.263	0.947	15	9.386	0.851	49	9.466	0.900
1 ≤ % < 5														
Earnings	40	15185	9464			2048	14523	9774	37	12967	9922	29	15562	11335
Ln Earnings	40	9.446	0.677			2048	9.277	0.954	37	9.101	1.088	29	9.235	1.090
1>5			:											
Earnings	37	13613	$0\mathcal{E}LL$			834	12054	9057	97	12473	5655	6	12140	8881
Ln Earnings	37	9.266	0.862			834	9.062	0.962	97	9.227	1.056	6	9.102	0.888
37:17:13:00	٠	I		ماميدلات بالمنتاء		and the manage of individuals with some of in Chinal Descentes only	2000	٠ <del>٠</del>	بباكيتيام	of sylpo	box raco	in Cilian	1/Dogon	Aug only

Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \* p  $\leq$  .05, \*\* p  $\leq$  .01, \*\*\* p  $\leq$  .001

between veterans who have had 1 or 2 children and similar Guard/Reserve personnel. In this case, veterans suffer a 30% (\$4944) earnings penalty.

Disaggregating the data by work status produced no statistical difference in earnings between veterans and those with no military service across all categories. The only difference that was significant was between veteran full-time, year-round workers and their counterparts with service only in the Guard or Reserve. Veterans received a 24% (\$5008) penalty.

The military composition of an individual's LMA labor force appears to operate somewhat differently for African Americans than it did for white, non-Hispanics (as with white, non-Hispanics, though, the trends noted within one military status category between different concentrations of veterans and active duty personnel have not been tested for statistical significance). While African-American veterans appear to experience a slight decline in earnings moving from labor markets with the lowest concentration of veterans in the labor force to those labor markets in the middle category, those living in areas with the highest concentrations of veterans in the labor force seem to experience an earnings premium over those living in a labor market that falls into the middle category. In these areas of high veteran concentration, veterans experience a 55% earnings premium over non-serving individuals living in similar areas. The pattern for non-serving individuals involves a slight decrease in earnings from the areas of the lowest veteran concentration to the middle category and a more significant drop when moving from the middle category to areas of highest veteran concentration.

The trends when the data are disaggregated by the percentage of LMA labor force that are on active duty are similar to those observed for white, non-Hispanic

veteran and non-serving women. That is, a slight rise in earnings moving from the low to the middle category and then a drop in earnings when moving to the areas with the highest concentrations of active duty personnel in the labor force. There were no significant differences between veterans' earnings and those of any other military status group within these categories.

Earnings of White, Hispanic Women and Women of Other Race/Ethnicity (TABLES 18-21 and 22-25)

When the data were disaggregated in a similar manner for these two racial/ethnic groups, none of the comparisons, judging by the natural logarithm of earnings, turned out to be significant. This was likely because of the small number of veterans in these two groups.

TABLE 18: Earnings of White, Hispanic Women by Age and Education

		Veteran	i			Nc	Non-Serving	1g
			Std	Tests of Significance	ance			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	(see below)		Z	Mean	Dev
Age								
≤ 25 yrs								
Earnings	11	12111	6456			1282	10176	7905
Ln Earnings	11	9.277	0.523			1282	8.908	0.912
26 - 32 yrs								
Earnings	17	13993	7323			1510	16079	10467
Ln Earnings	17	9.321	0.890			1510	9.421	0.863
≥ 33 yrs								
Earnings	7	16130	9672			1502	18466	14919
Ln Earnings	7	9.444	0.855			1502	9.515	0.913
Education								
High School								
Earnings	12	8832	6457			1592	12029	8311
Ln Earnings	12	8.782	0.954			1592	9.108	0.894
Some College								
Earnings	16	15840	8999			1821	14406	10239
Ln Earnings	16	9.593	0.400			1821	9.273	0.914
Bachelor's +								
Earnings	7	17798	7105			881	22336	17395
Ln Earnings	L	8/9.6	0.570			881	9.708	0.912
					١,		-	

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \* p  $\leq$  .05, \*\* p  $\leq$  .01, \*\*\* p  $\leq$  .001

TABLE 19: Earnings of White, Hispanic Women by Marital Status and Children Ever Born

100	20	`		,			
		Veteran			Ż	Non-Serving	ng
			Std	Tests of Significance	es e		Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	(see below)	Z	Mean	Dev
Marital Status							
Single							
Earnings	8	14333	9808		1460	13276	11175
Ln Earnings	8	9.203	1.244		1460	9.146	0.947
Married							
Earnings	20	13707	6764		2261	15844	12571
Ln Earnings	20	9.407	0.508		2261	9.351	0.934
Divorced <sup>1</sup>							
Earnings	L	13600	9801		573	17199	11900
Ln Earnings	L	9.265	0.807		573	9.498	0.821
Children							
0							
Earnings	15	13703	7362		2055	14930	11919
Ln Earnings	15	9.254	0.985		2055	9.291	0.898
1 - 2							
Earnings	<b>L</b> 1	14263	8388		1706	5 15778	11885
Ln Earnings	17	9.392	0.618		1706	9.354	0.942
3+							
Earnings	3	12000	2000		533	3 14002	13355
Ln Earnings	3	3 9.383	0.168		533	3 9.167	1.013

At the following levels of significance(two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only <sup>1</sup> Includes divorced, separated, and widowed individuals

TABLE 20: Earnings of White, Hispanic Women by Work Status

		Veteran		;			οN	Non-Serving	gı
			Std	Tests o	Tests of Significance	ficance			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	(St	see below)	<i>N</i> )	Z	Mean	Dev
Work Status									
Part time/year			*						
Earnings	15		7813 4263N*	*Z			1961	1961 10403 10960	10960
Ln Earnings	15	8.758 0.804	0.804				1961	1961 8.806 1.047	1.047
FTYR									
Earnings	20	20 18341	9209				2333	2333 19144 11569	11569
Ln Earnings	20	20 9.763 0.341	0.341				2333	2333 9.717 0.546	0.546
	,						-		ζ-

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \* p  $\leq$  .05, \*\* p  $\leq$  .01, \*\*\* p  $\leq$  .001

Part time/year - worked from 1 - 49 weeks in 1989 or usually worked 1 - 34 hours per week in 1989 FTYR - worked 50 or more weeks in 1989 and usually worked 35 hours or more per week in 1989

TABLE 21: Earnings of White, Hispanic Women by Percentage of Labor Force that is Veteran and Active Duty

	)	Veteran	1		No	Non-Serving	gu
			Std	Tests of Significance			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	(see below)	N	Mean	Dev
% Veteran							
< 14							
Earnings	6	14634	9302		1805	16327	13379
Ln Earnings	6	9.210	1.210		1805	9.368	0.940
14 ≤ % < 17							
Earnings	18	12726	6306		1869	1869 14614	11236
Ln Earnings	18	9.324	0.548		1869	9.280	0.905
≥ 17							
Earnings	8	15403	8364		620	13352	10262
Ln Earnings	8	9.486	0.629		620	9.166	0.973
% Active Duty							
< 1							
Earnings	22	12573	7026		3299	15075	12159
Ln Earnings	22	9.206	0.854		3299	9.298	0.927
1 ≤ % < 5							
Earnings	8	14529	8190		795	15560	12419
Ln Earnings	8	9.443	0.575		795	9.307	0.968
≥ 5							
Earnings	5	18232	8130		200	200 14799	9724
Ln Earnings	5	9.711	0.533		200	9.328	0.868

Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

TABLE 22: Earnings of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Age and Education

	)	Veteran			Ň	Non-Serving	ng
			Std	Tests of Significance	ş		Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	(see below)	Z	Mean	Dev
Age							
≤ 25 yrs							
Earnings	12	10314	8192		1516	9589	8923
Ln Earnings	12	9.017	0.679		1516	8.776	1.009
26 - 32 yrs							
Earnings	24	16573	11910		1678	15811	11277
Ln Earnings	24	9.181	1.407		1678	9.350	0.942
≥ 33 yrs							
Earnings	14	18016	14137		1824	18936	15608
Ln Earnings	14	9.374	1.118		1824	9.516	0.967
Education							
High School							
Earnings	17	10901	7981		1729	11332	8363
Ln Earnings	17	8.983	0.890		1729	9.004	0.963
Some College							
Earnings	22	12700	8979		2078	13612	10665
Ln Earnings	22	8.948	1.337		2078	9.150	1.028
Bachelor's +							
Earnings	. 11	28094	14313		1211	22897	17996
Ln Earnings	11	10.018	0.890		1211	9.720	0.923

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

TABLE 23: Earnings of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Marital Status and Children Ever Born

	0				\ 	1	٥.	
		Veteran				NC	Non-Serving	ng
			Std	Tests of Significance	ance			Std
	N	Mean	Dev	(see below)		Z	Mean	Dev
Marital Status								
Single								
Earnings	13	15456	11079			1685	12532	11845
Ln Earnings	13	9.251	1.090			1685	9.001	1.063
Married								
Earnings	28	15575	13264			2778	16386	13772
Ln Earnings	28	9.193	1.130			2778	9.349	0.993
Divorced <sup>1</sup>								
Earnings	6	15194	10085			255	16163	11434
Ln Earnings	6	9.124	1.535			555	9.395	0.890
Children								
0								
Earnings	15	16028	11756			2174	14729	12962
Ln Earnings	15	9.276	1.081			2174	9.199	1.021
1 - 2								
Earnings	25	15171	11693			2064	15820	12968
Ln Earnings	25	9.212	1.184			2064	9.308	0.999
3+								
Earnings	10	15405	15405 14198			780	14017	13281
Ln Earnings	10	9.034	1.387			780	9.155	1.062

At the following levels of significance(two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only Includes divorced, separated, and widowed individuals

TABLE 24: Earnings of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Work Status

		Veteran					No	Non-Serving	gı
			Std	Tests of Significance	f Signif	icance			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	es)	(see below)	v)	Z	N Mean	Dev
Work Status									
Part time/year									
Earnings	26	26 8014 7507	7507				2530	2530 9841 10809	10809
Ln Earnings	26	26 8.473 1.188	1.188				2530	2530 8.712 1.098	1.098
FTYR									
Earnings	24	24 23558 10660	10660				2488	2488 20381 12947	12947
Ln Earnings	24	24 9.979 0.423	0.423				2488	2488 9.771 0.554	0.554
									i

Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater At the following levels of significance(two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

Part time/year - worked from 1 - 49 weeks in 1989 or usually worked 1 - 34 hours per week in 1989 FTYR - worked 50 or more weeks in 1989 and usually worked 35 hours or more per week in 1989

TABLE 25: Earnings of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Percentage of Labor Force that is Veteran and Active Duty

	9	Veteran				Non-Serving	90
		10101	Std	Tests of Significance		2	Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	(see below)	Z	Mean	Dev
% Veteran							
< 14							
Earnings	15	20388	15249		2394	16978	13009
Ln Earnings	15	9.556	1.025		2394	9.401	0.958
14 ≤ % < 17							
Earnings	21	14608	10446		1900	1900 13406 11616	11616
Ln Earnings	21	9.230	0.995		1900	9.113	1.028
> 17							
Earnings	14	11513	8779		724	13108	15500
Ln Earnings	14	8.759	1.481		724	9.020	1.108
% Active Duty							
< 1							
Earnings	22	13965	10982		3397	14906	12869
Ln Earnings	27	9.034	1.273		3397	9.222	1.032
1 ≤ % < 5							
Earnings	13	16072	11516		1181	15885	14064
Ln Earnings	13	9.332	1.083		1181	9.293	1.000
5 ≤							
Earnings	10	18776	15404		440	440 14116 11159	11159
Ln Earnings	10	9.456	1.047		440	9.206	0.974

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

## Family Income of Women by Race/Ethnicity

Looking at family income when the data are disaggregated by race/ethnicity and military status (TABLE 26), white, non-Hispanic women veterans have an overall income disadvantage of about 15% (\$6227) relative to similar non-serving individuals (note that, overall, a significant earnings differential was not found between these groups) and a 14% income disadvantage relative to active duty personnel (4% less than the earnings disadvantage of white, non-Hispanic women veterans relative to similar active duty women). African-American women veterans, while not differing significantly from their non-serving counterparts in terms of their family income (as they did not differ in terms of earnings), were at a disadvantage (17%) relative to similar women on active duty. Those classified in the "other" racial/ethnic category also have a family income disadvantage relative to active duty personnel of about 30% (a group which they did not differ significantly from in terms of earnings). White, Hispanic veterans did not differ significantly from their counterparts in the other military status categories in terms of their family income.

Again, for the purpose of comparison, I will present the results of similar family income comparisons made for male veterans. White, non-Hispanic male veterans were at a significant disadvantage of about 15% (\$6808) compared to similar non-serving men, showed an 8% (\$4871) advantage over similar active duty personnel, and were at a 13% (\$4740) disadvantage relative to their counterparts with service only in the Guard or Reserve. African-American and white, Hispanic male veterans did not differ significantly from their non-serving, active duty, or Guard/Reserve counterparts in terms of their family income. Those men classified into the "other" category had a 8% (\$4871) family

TABLE 26: Family Income of Women by Race/Ethnicity

TABLE 20: I ammy meeting of women by week Edumenty	اللا كسد	OIIIN OI	VV U111U11	Uy INGV	C/ L'UIIIVI	6									
		Veteran					No	Non-Serving	lg	Ac	Active Duty	.y	Gua	Guard/Reserves	ves
			Std	Tests	Tests of Significance	cance			Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	s)	(see below)	(,	Z	Mean	Dev	N	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
White, Non-															
Hispanic															
F Income	1182	1182 32706 24348N	24348	* * Z			126205	38933	29636	269	34238	19425	411	35480	26464
Ln F Income	1182	1182 10.128 0.798N	0.798	***N	V***		126205	26205 10.291	0.843	569	269 10.283	0.578	411	10.165	0.899
African															
American															
F Income	235	27111	23740				13939	13939 27722 23095	23095	08	80 28658	22210	117	27891	20305
Ln F Income	235	9.891	0.878		<b>A</b> *		13939	9.825	1.063	80	80 10.076	0.579	117	9.949	0.870
White,															
Hispanic													•		
F Income	53		34793 21367				6184	38324	31964	10	10 34306	20546	29	40288	19685
Ln F Income	53	53 10.233 0.740	0.740				6184	6184 10.238	0.901	10	10 10.315	0.508	29	29 10.388	0.817
O4ber.															
Otner															
F Income	82		32257 25326				8103	8103 36874 31728	31728	14	14 34890	13716	27	32942	25112
Ln F Income	82	82 10.033	1.018		A*		8103	8103  10.154  0.960	0.960	14	14 10.391	0.383	27	9.972	1.158
Significantly different from: N - non-serv	ferent f	rom: N	- non-se	rving ir	ving individuals, A - active duty Personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only	s, A - ac	tive dut	y Persor	mel, G -	individ	als who	served	in Guar	d/Reserv	es only

At the following levels of significance (two-tailed *t*-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$  In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater

income disadvantage relative to their non-serving counterparts and a 13% (\$6935) advantage compared to similar active duty personnel.

In order to examine family income differences more fully, I examined each racial/ethnic group of women separately, comparing the mean income of women veterans with other military status groups within categories for age, education, marital status, number of children ever born, work status, percentage of LMA labor force that is veteran, and percentage of LMA labor force that is on active duty.

Family Income of White, Non-Hispanic Women (TABLES 27-30)

No matter how the data were disaggregated, the veteran family income disadvantage relative to those with no military service was almost always significant, ranging from 8% (\$5680) (women who have never had a child) to 21% (\$8965) (women who did not work in 1989). The only exceptions to this finding were that the youngest group of veterans (who have an earnings advantage over their non-serving counterparts), divorced, widowed, or separated veterans, and those veterans living in areas with the highest concentrations of active duty personnel did not differ significantly from similar non-serving individuals on the transformed measure of family income. However, looking at the mean of the non-transformed variable for the youngest veterans and those veterans living in areas with the highest concentrations of active duty personnel, a significant veteran disadvantage can still be seen. These disadvantages contrast with the relatively few (and mostly favorable) differences found in the earnings comparisons between white, non-Hispanic women veterans and their non-serving counterparts.

TABLE 27: Family Income of White, Non-Hispanic Women by Age and Education

TABLE 27: 1 and income of wine, from this pains of the and education	LLLY THE	1110 01	- 6-ATTY	TOTE THE	W	111011	2								
		Veteran					No	Non-Serving	lg	Αc	Active Duty	ty		Guard	- i
			Std	Tests (	Tests of Significance	icance			Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	s)	(see below)	7)	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
Age															
≤ 25 yrs															
F Income	285	28832	21767N	**X			32842	34541	30236	114	29062	16432	139	29325	28631
Ln F Income	285	9.988	0.802				32842	10.065	1.009	114	10.125	0.562	139	9.851	1.022
26 - 32 yrs			-												
F Income	611	31895	21431	***N			43299	36976	26390	101	34487	17732	141	34644	18712
Ln F Income	611	10.132	0.750	***N	**V		43299	10.282	0.758	101	10.316	0.541	141	10.250	0.741
≥ 33 yrs															
F Income	286	38299	30880N	**X			50064	43508	31226	54	44703	23869	131	42912	29403
Ln F Income	286	286 10.259		0.872 N***	A**		50064	50064 10.447	0.755	54	10.557	0.578	131	10.407	0.824
Education															
High School															
F Income	447	28070	18451	** * N			50779	32702	22824	73	31118	18000	120	31922	23254
Ln F Income	447	10.005	0.753N	***N	$A^*$		50779	10.150	0.791	73	10.174	0.606	120	10.064	0.899
Some College															
F Income	995	32455		22726N***			49006	38627	28679	130	31139	16465	204	32830	23453
Ln F Income	995	566 10.127		0.791 N***			49006	49006 10.272	0.880	130	10.217	0.515	204	10.072	0.935
Bachelor's +															
F Income	169	169 45811	36005				26420	51480	37900	99	43796	23150	87	46604	33656
Ln F Income	169	169 10.455	0.850N*	*N(			26420	26420 10.597	0.791	99	66 10.535	0.601	87	10.523	0.716
Cianificantly different from: N non-com	Foront G	N. W.	404		ing individuale		A postive duty marconnel G - individuale who served in Guard/Reserves only	narann	. 5) let	ndividi	ole who	cerred	in Guar	d/Recer	vec only

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

TABLE 28: Family Income of White, Non-Hispanic Women by Marital Status and Children Ever Born

Veteran No		Veteran					No	Non-Serving	á	Ac	Active Duty	y		Guard	
			Std	Tests (	Tests of Significance	ficance			Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	s)	see below	v)	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
Marital Status															
Single															
F Income	223	30543	25744	* * Z			28748	36754	33607	69	29918	18309	133	30570	25532
Ln F Income	223	9.973	0.930				28748	10.076	1.076	69	10.130	0.614	133	9.895	1.073
Married															
F Income	735	36415	23794	* * Z		<b>Č</b> *	83122	42458	28463	167	38788	19575	230	41286	26723
Ln F Income	735	735 10.318	0.648	* * *	<b>A</b> **	<u>G</u> **	83122	10.469	0.649	167	10.441	0.515	230	10.447	0.634
Divorced <sup>1</sup>															
F Income	224	22690	21575				14335	22869	20741	33	20247	10481	48	21268	18965
Ln F Income	224	9.661	0.879				14335	9.687	0.925	33	9.807	0.460	48	9.565	0.952
Children															
0															
F Income	429	34433	24725	* * Z			45874	40113	32560	156	33179	18541	197	35178	27526
Ln F Income	429	429 10.187	0.793	*Z			45874	10.265	0.941	156	10.263	0.559	197	10.123	0.953
1 - 2															
F Income	614	614 32231	24867	***N			59631	38510	27815	96	35938	21227	168	35906	26757
Ln F Income	614	614 10.102	0.817	* * Z	<b>A</b> **		59631	10.314	0.780	96	10.307	0.629	168	10.186	0.884
3 +															
F Income	139	139 29477	20237	***N			20700	37540	27767	17	34360	16924	46	35217	20555
Ln F Income	139	139 10.064	0.723	* * Z	$A^*$		20700	20700 10.282	0.788	17	17 10.342	0.462	46	46 10.269	0.703
Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals. A - active duty nersonnel. G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only	ferent fr	om: N -	non-ser	ving ind	lividuals	A - ac	ive duty	person	nel. G -	ndividu	als who	served i	in Guar	1/Reserv	es only

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater <sup>1</sup> Includes divorced, separated, and widowed individuals Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals and the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

TABLE 29: Family Income of White, Non-Hispanic Women by Work Status

Times to announce of the control of	-		. = 6	T	Commence of the second	6									
		Veteran					No	Non-Serving	g	Α	Active Duty	ty		Guard	
			Std	Tests c	Tests of Significance	icance			Std			Std			Std
	N	Mean	Dev	s)	(see below)	7)	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
Work Status															
Non-Workers															
F Income	160	25923	160 25923 20085N	***N			20664	20664 34888 31868	31868	3	3 29351 13961	13961	37	37 38467 39425	39425
Ln F Income	160	6.867	160 9.867 0.842N	**X			20664	20664 10.097 0.969	0.969	3	3 10.187 0.585	0.585	37	37 10.100 1.051	1.051
Part time/year															
F Income	526	28944	526 28944 22682N	**X			55763	55763 37267 29549	29549	99	56 31498 20783	20783	211	211 29578 23575	23575
Ln F Income	526	9.988	526 9.988 0.821N***	**X			55763	55763 10.205 0.921	0.921	99	56 10.130 0.715	0.715	211	9.931 0.972	0.972
FTYR															
F Income	496	38885	496 38885 25903N	**N	*V		49778	49778 42479 28365	28365	210	210 35039 19113	19113	163	163 42443 24705	24705
Ln F Income	496	10.361	496 10.361 0.694N***	***N		G*	49778	49778 10.468 0.640	0.640		210 10.326 0.532	0.532		163 10.483 0.634	0.634

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

Part time/year - worked from 1 - 49 weeks in 1989 or usually worked 1 - 34 hours per week in 1989 FTYR - worked 50 or more weeks in 1989 and usually worked 35 hours or more per week in 1989 Non-Worker - worked either 0 weeks in 1989 or usually worked 0 hours per week in 1989

TABLE 30: Family Income of White. Non-Hispanic Women by Percentage of Labor Force that is Veteran and Active Duty

I ABLE 30: Family income of white, no	uy inco	ne or w	nite, No	ന-നിട്ടു	ame we	inen oy	n-filspanic Wonien by reflectinge of Labor Force that is Veterall and Active Duly	ge or La	DOI FOI	ce unai	וא א כוכוי	all allu A	CLIVE	July	
		Veteran					No	Non-Serving	g	Αc	Active Duty	ty		Guard	
			Std	Tests (	Tests of Significance	ficance		10114	Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	s)	(see below)	<i>N</i> )	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
% Veteran															
< 14															
F Income	196	35905	24394	**X			30481	43986	34878	57	34877	19042	73	36930	32055
Ln F Income	196	196 10.240	0.768	**N			30481	10.390	0.886	57	57 10.308	0.572	73	73 10.075	1.087
$14 \le \% < 17$															
F Income	673	33186	26248	N***			71911	38194	28190	155	35041	21071	258	258 36375	26285
Ln F Income	673	673 10.122	0.829	***N	<b>A</b> **		71911	10.283	0.827	155	10.289	0.612	258	258 10.222	0.853
> 17															
F Income	313	2642	19287	***N			23813	34700	25410	57	31418	14556	80	31272	20690
Ln F Income	313	10.071	0.743	**N	$A^*$		23813	10.188	0.822	57	57 10.246	0.492	80	80 10.063	0.851
% Active Duty															
< 1															
F Income	982	736 32473	23818	***N	$A^*$	G*	102689	38687	29425	53	38562	19116	303	303 36594	28630
Ln F Income	136	736 10.114	0.804	***N	A***		102689	10.284	0.846	53	10.433	0.528	303	303 10.166	0.947
1 < % < 5												-			
F Income	265	33769	24413	***N			17239	41166	31268	105	34961	21575	75	33053	19785
Ln F Income	265	265 10.167	0.814	**N			17239	10.350	0.827	105	10.275	0.638	75	75 10.177	0.774
> 5															
F Income	181	32098	26393	*Z			6277	36825	28097	111	31490	17009	33	33 30769	16845
Ln F Income	181	10.128	0.754				6277	10.239	0.833	111	111 10.220	0.532	33	33 10.134	0.718
C:: 2: 1: 4: E.	fact fac	, N.		Land See	-1	•	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	0,000	7	dir. day	1	y Course	0,000	1/D ocom	140000

Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance(two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

Although the patterns are not nearly as consistent, white, non-Hispanic women veterans also differed from active duty and Guard personnel in terms of family income. With respect to age, all but the youngest veterans experienced a family income penalty relative to their active duty counterparts (compared to the earlier finding that all age groups of veterans suffered an earnings penalty). In addition, veterans with only a high school diploma or GED were also at a disadvantage relative to those on active duty, even though earlier analysis of earnings differences did not show this group to be disadvantaged. Those veterans who were married also suffered a family income penalty of 12% relative to both active duty and Guard/Reserve personnel. Additionally, those women veterans who had one or two children had a 19% family income disadvantage in comparison to similar active duty personnel while those with 3 or more children had a 24% disadvantage (smaller disadvantages than were detected in the earnings comparisons). Full-time, year-round veteran workers had an 11% family income penalty in comparison to their counterparts with service in the Guard or Reserve only. Overall, it is interesting to note that every significant difference in every category across all military status groups resulted in a family income penalty for white, non-Hispanic veterans.

The trends across the military characteristics of the LMA labor forces appear to show patterns for veterans and those with no service similar to those reported for earnings (again, the trends noted within one military status category between different concentrations of veterans and active duty personnel have not been tested for statistical significance). Going from the category containing the LMAs with the smallest proportion of veterans in the labor force to that containing the LMAs with the largest,

the family income of veterans and non-serving individuals. When considering the percentage of the LMA labor force that is on active duty, we again find an inverted 'V' pattern. When comparing those living in areas in the middle range of active duty concentration to those living in areas of low active duty concentration, there is an advantage for veterans and for non-serving individuals living in areas in the middle range. Comparing those living with the highest concentrations of active duty personnel in the labor force to those living in areas that fall into the middle range, we find that veterans in the areas of high concentration suffer an income penalty and non-serving women are at a disadvantage relative to those living in areas that fall within the middle range of active duty concentrations.

# Family Income of African-American Women (TABLES 31-34)

As with earnings, veterans in this racial/ethnic group experienced few significant differences in family income from like individuals in other military status groups compared to the number that white, non-Hispanic veterans experienced. For the three age categories, marital status, and work status, only the difference between 26-32 year old veterans and their active duty counterparts reached statistical significance (with a 23% family income penalty for veterans, similar to the 26% earnings penalty veterans in this age group experienced). However, looking at education, those veterans who are in the lowest category, having only their high school diploma or GED, had a 27% family income advantage over similar non-serving individuals. Results of earlier analysis show that veterans in this educational category were not advantaged in terms of earnings relative to similar non-serving women. Those veterans with some college were

TABLE 31: Family Income of African-American Women by Age and Education

1 ADEL 31; I alimy involue of Antrair Antrican Women of Age and Education	my my			וווען ועוון	T VY CALLELL C	7 11go	alla La	acarro	<u> </u>			ľ			
		Veteran					Nor	Non-Serving	lg	Ą	Active Duty	ty		Guard	
			Std	Tests c	Tests of Significance	nce			Std			Std			Std
	N	Mean	Dev	e)s)	(see below)		Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
Age															
< 25 yrs															
F Income	56	25963	29247				4341	26041	23218	35	29016	27357	49	49 25071	19192
Ln F Income	56	9.846	0.785				4341	9.716	1.118	35	10.040	0.638	49	9.867	0.771
26 - 32 yrs															
F Income	121	25673	16959		-		4728	26465	22295	37	28528	18182	38	26693	15432
Ln F Income	121	9.847	0.928		A*		4728	9.779	1.062	37	10.105	0.539	38	9.939	0.869
≥ 33 yrs															
F Income	58	31217	29325				4870	30441	23501	8	27693	15162	30	34014	26108
Ln F Income	58	10.027	0.854				4870	896.6	0.996	8	10.102	0.541	30	30 10.094	1.022
Education															
High School															
F Income	98	27042	25309				6454	22412	19171	27	21386	10754	28	23668	20901
Ln F Income	98	9.836	0.963	* Z			6454	9.595	1.079	27	9.852	0.500	28	9.702	0.988
Some College															
F Income	122	26042	23275				5602	29196	23460	42	28236	22769	74	28421	19085
Ln F Income	122	9.872	0.835		$A^*$		5602	806.6	1.021	42	10.093	0.504	74	6.997	0.829
Bachelor's +															
F Income	27	32158	20620				1883	41534	27534	111	48116	30176		15 33158	24647
Ln F Income	27	27 10.153	0.759				1883	10.369	0.875	11	10.563	0.746		15 10.173	0.783
1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	J 7	\ \ !	000	Car Sair	A planting A		o dinter	20000	7	Lindis no	John who	with a manney of hading out a course of the contract of	in Guar	A/Pacer	viec only

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \* p  $\leq$  .05, \*\* p  $\leq$  .01, \*\*\* p  $\leq$  .001

TABLE 32: Family Income of African-American Women by Marital Status and Children Ever Born

Veteran		Veteran				Non-Servir	Non-Serving	ing		Active Duty	ty		Guard	
			Std	Tests o	Tests of Significance	out.		Std			Std			Std
-	Z	Mean	Dev	es)	(see below)	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
Marital Status														
Single														
F Income	9	27194	29632			6259	29 25119	9 23654	18	22056	21030	29	26325	20899
Ln F Income	65	962.6	0.991			6529	9.646	5 1.150	18	9.777	0.598	67	9.850	0.944
Married														
F Income	112	112 30590	21812	*N		4951	51 35355	5 22418	48	33976	24086	31	33792	19376
Ln F Income	112	112 10.137	0.660			4951	51 10.245	5 0.788	48	10.273	0.546	31	10.272	0.578
Divorced <sup>1</sup>														
F Income	58	20298	18173			2459	59 19264	1 17877	14	18911	7395	19	23785	18516
Ln F Income	58	9.525	0.973			2459	59 9.456	5 1.032	14	9.784	0.364	19	9.770	0.893
Children														
0														
F Income	<i>L</i> 9	67 23748	15870	***N		4233	33 32105	5 25837	29		31188 29704	48	28767	21374
Ln F Income	<i>L</i> 9	9.813	0.827			4233	33 10.016	5 0.991	29	10.111	0.626	48	9.971	0.900
1 - 2														
F Income	131	30297	28338			6773	73 27087	7 22420	45	28239	17332	56	28155	20408
Ln F Income	131	10.002	0.846	**N		6773	73 9.799	9 1.073	45	10.089	0.567	56	9.995	0.776
3+									:					
F Income	37	21918	14694			2933	33  22860	0 18941	9	19571	8453	13	23524	16225
Ln F Income	37	9.641	1.025			2933	33 9.611	1   1.092	9	608'6	0.416	13	9.667	1.131
	ľ	֓֞֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֟֜֜֜֓֓֓֓֓֓֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֓֓֓֓֓֡֜֜֜֜֜֜֜֓֓֓֡֡֡֡֡֡֓֜֜֡֓֓֡֡֡֡֓֜֜֡֡֡֡֡֡			,	•				,	•			

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

<sup>1</sup> Includes divorced, separated, and widowed individuals

TABLE 33: Family Income of African-American Women by Work Status

11 1 . C C LILIA 1 1		7 10 4111	7 1100111	17 LOLD 33: I dilmy tiledille of the lead of the states	V OIL DI	2							
		Veteran				Non-Serving	ng	A	Active Duty	ty		Guard	
			Std	Tests of Significance	nce		Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	(see below)	N	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev	Z	Mean	Dev
Work Status							:						
Non-Workers													
F Income	36	36 22285 21757	21757		397	2680 17330 18835	18835	0	•	•	13	13  19575  21272	21272
Ln F Income	36	36 9.426 1.226	1.226		2680	80 9.162 1.274	1.274	0	•	•	13	9.456 0.958	0.958
Part time/year													
F Income	26	97 23478 22415	22415		995	5667 25525 22047	22047	14	14 25611 14417	14417	54	54 24004 20170	20170
Ln F Income	6	97 9.769 0.812	0.812		260	5667 9.719 1.081	1.081	14	14 9.975 0.648	0.648	54	9.747 0.961	0.961
FTYR													
F Income	102	102 32268 24826	24826		526	5592 34928 23633	23633	99	66 29304 23570	23570	50	50 34252 18679	18679
Ln F Income	102	102 10.171	0.683		526	5592 10.251 0.670	0.670	99	66 10.098 0.566	0.566		50 10.296 0.579	0.579
	,						i	;	,	,		1	

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance(two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

Part time/year - worked from 1 - 49 weeks in 1989 or usually worked 1 - 34 hours per week in 1989 FTYR - worked 50 or more weeks in 1989 and usually worked 35 hours or more per week in 1989 Non-Worker - worked either 0 weeks in 1989 or usually worked 0 hours per week in 1989

TABLE 34: Family Income of African-American Women by Percentage of Labor Force that is Veteran and Active Duty

Veteran   Non-Serving   Active Duty		Veteran	T Image				No	Non-Serving	g	Ą	Active Duty	tv		Guard	
			Std	Tests (	Tests of Significance	ance			Std			Std			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	(S)	(see below)		Z	Mean	Dev	N	Mean	Dev	Ν	Mean	Dev
% Veteran															
< 14															
F Income	75	30569	34491				6182	28108	24386	6	37065	44750	34	29090	23704
Ln F Income	75	988.6	0.993				6182	9.828	1.074	6	10.187	0.737	34	9.912	1.016
14 ≤ % < 17															
F Income	116	24731	16609	*Z			6581	28015	22210	49	29221	18375	67	26352	18353
Ln F Income	116	9.837	0.875		<b>*</b> V		6581	9.853	1.038	49	10.128	0.547	67	9.928	0.803
> 17															
F Income	44	27489	15670				1176	24052	20536	22	23963	16339		16 31790	20980
Ln F Income	44	44 10.044	0.645	* * Z			1176	9.652	1.120	22	9.916	0.574		16 10.115	0.841
% Active Duty															
< 1															
F Income	117	28164	29537				9728	27898	23786	12	41952	37680	67	30673	23341
Ln F Income	117	9.857	0.942		$A^*$		9728	9.817	1.076	12	10.425	0.625	67	9.954	1.041
1 < % < 5															
F Income	53	68867	16402				2873	28722	22639	15	31472	20682	34	25449	16658
Ln F Income	53	10.106	0.750				2873	868.6	1.021	15	10.181	0.614	34	9.983	0.585
≥ 5															
F Income	65	22950	15321				1338	24289	18139	53	24851	16615	16	21431	9389
Ln F Income	9	8/1/6	0.836				1338	9.726	1.042	53	9.967	0.530	16	9.853	0.562
Clear Court 1. A. C. at L.	, to	Į.		10 miles	in a fee of the right of 1	A	O Lanca de de la companione de la Constancia de la Consta	0.000	7	412.24.	10, 22.10	The Contract of busy of the Contract of the co	7,000	1/D occur	140 00

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \* p  $\leq$  .05, \*\* p  $\leq$  .01, \*\*\* p  $\leq$  .001

disadvantaged by about 20% relative to their active duty counterparts. In addition, those women veterans who have had one or two children received a 23% family income premium relative to similar individuals with no service.

When the data are disaggregated by the military makeup of LMA labor forces, trends for family income are similar to those observed with the earnings of African Americans (again, the trends noted within one military status category between different concentrations of veterans and active duty personnel have not been tested for statistical significance). That is, there is a slight drop in veteran family income from the areas of lowest veteran concentration to those in the middle category and then income rises again moving to areas of the highest concentrations of veterans. Non-serving individuals show a decline in family income with each increasing level of veteran concentration. When looking at the concentration of active duty personnel in a labor market, an inverted 'V' pattern emerges again with the middle level of active duty concentration equating to the highest mean family incomes for both veterans and non-serving individuals.

Family Income of White, Hispanic Women and Women of Other Race/Ethnicity (TABLES 35-38 and 39-42)

When the data were disaggregated in a similar manner for these two racial/ethnic groups, only two of the comparisons turned out to be significant (judging by the natural logarithm of family income). The non-significance of results was largely because of the small number of veterans in these two groups. White, Hispanic women veterans with one or two children had a 25% family income advantage over similar women with no military service. Those women veterans in the "other" category who worked only part

TABLE 35: Family Income of White, Hispanic Women by Age and Education

						14	S	
		Veteran				N	Non-Serving	<u>2</u> 0
			Std	Tests of Significance	cance			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	(see below)	7)	Z	Mean	Dev
Age								
< 25 yrs								
F Income	18	37070	25175			1904	36473	34008
Ln F Income	18	18 10.266	0.775			1904	1904 10.119	0.998
26 - 32 yrs								
F Income	25	33892	20669			2152	36981	28560
Ln F Income	25	25 10.215	0.747			2152	10.230	0.876
≥ 33 yrs								
F Income	10	32948	16888			2128	41338	33113
Ln F Income	10	10.220	0.735			2128	10.353	0.817
Education								
High School								
F Income	25	33221	25055			2601	32759	25749
Ln F Income	25	25 10.066	0.928			2601	2601 10.088	0.906
Some College								
F Income	21	34481	18394			2489	39019	30541
Ln F Income	21	10.322	0.512			2489	2489 10.282	0.860
Bachelor's +			·					
F Income	7	7 41344 16041	16041			1094	49976	43229
Ln F Income	7	7 10.561	0.405			1094	1094 10.493	0.916

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \* p  $\leq$  .05, \*\* p  $\leq$  .01, \*\*\* p  $\leq$  .001

TABLE 36: Family Income of White, Hispanic Women by Marital Status and Children Ever Born

		Veteran				No	Non-Serving	ğı
			Std	Tests of Significance	nificance			Std
	N	Mean	Dev	(see below)	ow)	Z	Mean	Dev
Marital Status								
Single								
F Income	10	30064	22504			1970	37770	34823
Ln F Income	10	9.690	0.915			1970	1970 10.125	1.035
Married								
F Income	34	37934	18496			3467	41299	30894
Ln F Income	34	10.428	0.497			3467	10.400	0.750
Divorced <sup>1</sup>								
F Income	6	28185	29458			747	25979	25273
Ln F Income	6	9.768	1.059			747	9.782	0.963
Children								
0								
F Income	17	28993	21088N*	*Z		2582	40577	34752
Ln F Income	17	9.971	0.863			2582	10.278	0.912
1 - 2								
F Income	27	39759	21307			2623	37571	30180
Ln F Income	27	10.463	0.517 N*	*N		2623	10.240	0.884
3 +								
F Income	6	30853	20752			626	34401	28284
Ln F Income	6	10.039	0.915			626	979 10.128	0.911
	ľ							ĺ

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \* p  $\leq$  .05, \*\* p  $\leq$  .01, \*\*\* p  $\leq$  .001 <sup>1</sup> Includes divorced, separated, and widowed individuals

TABLE 37: Family Income of White, Hispanic Women by Work Status

		Veteran				Nc	Non-Serving	gı
			Std	Tests of Significance	ance			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	(see below)		Z	Mean	Dev
Work Status								
Non-Workers								
F Income	9	6 34285 21602	21602			1178	1178 31222 31558	31558
Ln F Income	9	6 10.199 0.856	0.856			1178	1178 9.916 1.084	1.084
Part time/year								
F Income	26	26 33777 23768	23768			2592	2592 36750 30753	30753
Ln F Income	26	26 10.131 0.866	998.0			2592	2592 10.167 0.948	0.948
FTYR								
F Income	21	21 36197 18994	18994			2414	2414 43480 32602	32602
Ln F Income	21	21 10.370 0.519	0.519			2414	2414 10.471 0.658	0.658

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

Part time/year - worked from 1 - 49 weeks in 1989 or usually worked 1 - 34 hours per week in 1989 FTYR - worked 50 or more weeks in 1989 and usually worked 35 hours or more per week in 1989 Non-Worker - worked either 0 weeks in 1989 or usually worked 0 hours per week in 1989

TABLE 38: Family Income of White, Hispanic Women by Percentage of Labor Force that is Veteran and Active Duty

		Veteran	( - 1 - 1	Veteran Non-Serving		No	Non-Serving	50
			Std	Tests of Significance	ance			Std
	Z	Mean	Dev	(see below)		Z	Mean	Dev
% Veteran								
< 14								
F Income	12	35609	19700			2643	41793	35340
Ln F Income	12	10.352	0.529			2643	10.314	0.920
14 ≤ % < 17								
F Income	25	29045	18224			2605	36386 29861	29861
Ln F Income	25	10.021	0.807			2605	10.192	0.901
> 17								
F Income	16	16 43163	25228			936	33923 26081	26081
Ln F Income	16	16 10.474	0.710			936	10.150	0.833
% Active Duty								
< 1								
F Income	35	34554	23816			4739	38469	32324
Ln F Income	35	35 10.166	0.839			4739	10.238	0.910
$1 \le \% < 5$								
F Income	10	30825	13030			1167		38475 30769
Ln F Income	10	10 10.257	0.425			1167	10.246	0.884
≥ 5								
F Income	8	40800	18824			278		35222 30650
Ln F Income	8	8 10.497	0.561			278	10.200 0.823	0.823

Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \* p  $\leq$  .05, \*\* p  $\leq$  .01, \*\*\* p  $\leq$  .001

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater

TABLE 39: Family Income of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Age and Education	nily Inco	me of V	Vomen (	of Other	· Race/E	thnicity	by Age	and Edu	cation
		Veteran					oΝ	Non-Serving	g
			Std	Tests	Tests of Significance	ficance			Std
	N	Mean	Dev	s)	(see below)	v)	Z	Mean	Dev
Age									
< 25 yrs									
F Income	22	29196	17284				2615	33349	29832
Ln F Income	22	10.112	0.648				2615	2615 10.009	1.027
26 - 32 yrs									
F Income	40	28502	24535				2751	34897	29021
Ln F Income	40	9.812	1.212				2751	10.113	0.942
≥ 33 yrs									
F Income	20	43135	31676				2737	42230	35210
Ln F Income	20	20 10.388	0.831				2737	2737 10.334	0.879
Education									
High School									
F Income	29	25167	96661				3212	29721	24845
Ln F Income	29	989.6	1.279				3212	9.965	0.918
Some College									
F Income	39	30110	21165				3189	36615	28465
Ln F Income	39	39 10.096	0.692				3189	3189 10.172	0.943
Bachelor's +									
F Income	14	52924	35210				1702	50860	42646
Ln F Income	14	14 10.573	996.0				1702	1702 10.477	0.979

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \* p  $\leq$  .05, \*\* p  $\leq$  .01, \*\*\* p  $\leq$  .001

TABLE 40: Family Income of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Marital Status and Children Ever Born

		Veteran				No	Non-Serving	ng .
			Std	Tests of Significance	ance			Std
	N	Mean	Dev	(see below)		Z	Mean	Dev
Marital Status			:					
Single								
F Income	21	28542	22153			2599	34647	32596
Ln F Income	21	9.958	0.864			2599	066.6	1.097
Married								
F Income	45	34714	25153			4673	40521	31920
Ln F Income	45	10.222	0.717			4673	10.335	0.810
Divorced <sup>1</sup>								
F Income	16	30224	30191			831	23332	22179
Ln F Income	16	9.599	1.666			831	9.647	1.002
Children								
0								
F Income	22	31608	21036			3098	39701	33579
Ln F Income	22	10.112	0.808			3098	10.209	1.013
1 - 2								
F Income	42	33497	25715			3539	36630	30452
Ln F Income	42	10.116	0.843			3539	10.181	0.891
3+								
F Income	18	30158	30092			1466	31490	29971
Ln F Income	18	9.741	1.517			1466	9.974	0.984
	,			* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	ľ			,

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \* p  $\leq$  .05, \*\* p  $\leq$  .01, \*\*\* p  $\leq$  .001 <sup>1</sup> Includes divorced, separated, and widowed individuals

TABLE 41: Family Income of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Work Status

						,	,		
		Veteran					No	Non-Serving	lg
			Std	Tests of Significance	f Signif	icance			Std
	z	Mean	Dev	es)	(see below)	7)	N	Mean	Dev
Work Status									
Non-Workers									
F Income	13	13 37134 33210	33210				2020	2020 28816 28389	28389
Ln F Income	13	13 10.159 0.922	0.922				2020	2020 9.827	1.047
Part time/year									
F Income	41	25135 19698N**	19698	**Z			3448	3448 35230 32522	32522
Ln F Income	41	9.740	9.740 1.166N*	*N			3448	3448 10.079 0.995	0.995
FTYR									
F Income	28	28 40422 26486	26486				2635	2635 45203 31175	31175
Ln F Income	28	28 10.404 0.658	0.658				2635	2635 10.502 0.698	0.69

In significant tests: shading = veteran value exceeded that of the comparison group; no shading = value of comparison group is greater Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \*  $p \le .05$ , \*\*  $p \le .01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le .001$ 

Part time/year - worked from 1 - 49 weeks in 1989 or usually worked 1 - 34 hours per week in 1989 FTYR - worked 50 or more weeks in 1989 and usually worked 35 hours or more per week in 1989 Non-Worker - worked either 0 weeks in 1989 or usually worked 0 hours per week in 1989

TABLE 42: Family Income of Women of Other Race/Ethnicity by Percentage of Labor Force that is Veteran and Active Duty

		Veteran		Veteran Non-Serving		No	Non-Serving	g	
			Std	Tests of Significance	ance			Std	
	Ν	Mean	Dev	(see below)		Z	Mean	Dev	
% Veteran									
< 14									
F Income	21	46107	34164			3733	42357	32737	
Ln F Income	21	10.407	0.923			3733	10.330	0.914	
14 < % < 17									
F Income	41	27622	19147			3162	32457	29090	
Ln F Income	41	6.867	1.150			3162	10.010	0.989	
> 17									
F Income	20	27218	21183			1208	31494	32473	
Ln F Income	20	086.6	0.718			1208	986.6	0.926	
% Active Duty									
< 1									
F Income	45	32672	76697			5520	35934	31812	
Ln F Income	42	10.060	0.886			5520	10.117	0.973	
1 ≤ % < 5									
F Income	18	34461	23094			1881	38850	32153	
Ln F Income	18	10.225	0.743			1881	10.219	0.951	
≥ 5									
F Income	19	29187	24215			702	38972	29553	
Ln F Income	19	9.786	1.455			702	702 10.271	0.856	
					•	,			,

Significantly different from: N - non-serving individuals, A - active duty personnel, G - individuals who served in Guard/Reserves only At the following levels of significance (two-tailed t-test): \* p  $\leq$  .05, \*\* p  $\leq$  .01, \*\*\* p  $\leq$  .001 time or for part of the year in 1989 had a 29% (\$10095) family income disadvantage relative to similar non-serving women.

Multivariate Regression: Military Status, Earnings, and Family Income

Using a multivariate regression model to control simultaneously for various factors associated with earnings and family income, including LMA conditions, the net veteran advantage or disadvantage can be ascertained by examining the coefficients of the military status dummy variables. While the coefficients for all variables used in these equations are presented, I am, for the purpose of this section, concerned only with the coefficients of the military status variables. The other coefficients will be explored in more detail in the following section. Separate regression equations were estimated for each racial/ethnic group.

Because the distributions of the natural logarithm of the dependent variables more closely approximate normal distributions than the distributions of the non-transformed variables, and the transformed variables provide a better fit of the data to the regression model (based on F and R² values obtained for various models in preliminary analysis), only the regression of the transformed variables is presented and discussed. Although the actual probability of achieving a |t| value greater than the achieved |t| of each regression coefficient is reported ("p"), I have used an alpha level of 0.05 to determine the significance of the parameter estimates. Unless otherwise noted, all specific results reported in this section are significant at the 0.05 level (at least). No interaction terms are used between military status and the independent/control variables in these regression equations, as this would negate the interpretation of the military

status dummy variables' coefficients for all levels of the independent variables except when all independent variables equal zero.

The coefficients of the military status variables are interpreted relative to the reference (excluded) group, veterans. Therefore, a significant positive coefficient for those with no military service, those on active duty, and/or those with service in the Guard or Reserve only, can be interpreted as an advantage for that group over veterans (i.e., a veteran disadvantage), controlling for the other factors in the equation. The opposite interpretation can be applied to significant negative coefficients (i.e., a veteran premium). As these coefficients relate to a logarithmically transformed dependent variable, they can be converted to the approximate percentage difference between the veterans and the comparison groups by the formula (Mehay and Hirsch 1996, p.205; Thornton and Innes 1989, p.444):

Percentage Differential =  $[EXP(-Regression Coefficient) - 1] \times 100$ 

So that the differences between veterans and other military status groups can be discussed in terms of veteran advantages/disadvantages (versus advantages/disadvantages for the other military status categories relative to veterans) a negative sign was placed in front of the regression coefficient in this equation.

White, Non-Hispanic Women

(TABLE 43)

Looking at the ln(earnings) and ln(family income) equations for white, non-Hispanic women, we find that veterans have about a 13% disadvantage in terms of their earnings and a 12% disadvantage in their family income relative to those white, non-Hispanic women with no military service net of the effects of the other variables in these

TABLE 43: Multivariate Regression Equations for White, Non-Hispanic Women

TABLE 43: Multivariate Re		(Earnings			amily Inco	
		<u> </u>			1 = 12806	
37		$\sqrt{1} = 92464$		b	· 1	
X	b	s.e.	p		s.e.	p
No Service	0.1340	0.0326	0.0001	0.1280	0.0326	0.0001
Active duty	-0.0482	0.0429	0.2610	-0.0963	0.0539	0.0737
Guard/Reserve	0.2025	0.0497	0.0001	0.0678	0.0486	0.1629
Years of military service	0.0581	0.0068	0.0001	0.0219	0.0076	0.0039
Years of potential civilian	0.0636	0.0016	0.0001	0.0050	0.0015	0.0011
experience						
Experience squared *	-0.0016		0.0001	0.0004	0.0001	0.0001
Years of education	0.1159	0.0012	0.0001	0.0719	0.0011	0.0001
Enrolled in school	-0.0565	0.0065	0.0001	-0.0074	0.0062	0.2303
Married	0.0662	0.0064	0.0001	0.4322	0.0064	0.0001
Divorced	0.0660	0.0084	0.0001	-0.4121	0.0084	0.0001
Number of children ever born	-0.0844	0.0025	0.0001	-0.0127	0.0023	0.0001
Has a child under 6 years old	0.0444	0.0059	0.0001	-0.0384	0.0054	0.0001
% of occupation that is male	0.0092	0.0008	0.0001			
÷ 10						
Number of hours worked in	0.0337	0.0001	0.0001	0.0071	0.0001	0.0001
1989 ÷ 40						
% of LMA labor force that is	-0.0119	0.0012	0.0001	-0.0140	0.0011	0.0001
veteran						
% of LMA labor force on	-0.0033	0.0009	0.0003	-0.0068	0.0008	0.0001
active duty						
% of LMA living below the	-0.0258	0.0006	0.0001	-0.0357	0.0005	0.0001
poverty line						
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0285	0.0015	0.0001	0.0329	0.0014	0.0001
unemployed						
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0068	0.0002	0.0001	0.0105	0.0002	0.0001
minority						
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0132	0.0013	0.0001	0.0099	0.0012	0.0001
female						
F	5722.73		0.0001	2206.01		0.0001
$\mathbb{R}^2$	0.5532			0.2466		
Adj. R <sup>2</sup>	0.5531			0.2465		

<sup>\*</sup> Because of the collinearity that often occurs between an X variable and its square, variables that are to be used in this manner are often centered. However, in models used in this study, the collinearity between experience and its square had little impact (based on an analysis of models excluding the squared term and an examination of variance inflation factors associated with the models). In addition, centering the variables, while reducing collinearity, had no significant impact on the rest of the model. Therefore, uncentered values of experience are used.

equations. In addition, women veterans in this racial/ethnic category have an earnings disadvantage of about 18% compared to their Guard and Reserve counterparts. The differences between veterans and active duty personnel, although in favor of veterans, did not reach statistical significance.

### African-American Women

## (TABLE 44)

The difference in values of ln(earnings) between African-American women veterans and African-American women with no military service or who were on active duty was not statistically significant controlling for the other variables in the regression equation (but was in the same direction as the difference for white, non-Hispanic women). However, veterans had a 19% earnings disadvantage relative to those with service in the Guard or Reserve only. Looking at family income, only the difference between African-American veterans and their active duty counterparts was statistically significant, with veterans receiving a substantial 57% premium.

White, Hispanic Women and Women of Other Race/Ethnicity
(TABLES 45 and 46)

None of the military status coefficients for white, Hispanic or "other" women reached levels of significance. As with the results of the difference of means tests presented earlier, this may be driven by the small number of women veterans in those racial/ethnic categories within this sample.

#### Men

For the purpose of comparison, it is interesting to note the results of these same regression equations for men (excluding the variables for the number of children ever

TABLE 44: Multivariate Regression Equations for African-American Women

TABLE 44: Munivariate i						
		(Earning:	8)		amily Inco	me)
<b>V</b>		N = 9765			$\sqrt{1 = 14371}$	
Λ	b	s.e.	p	b	s.e.	p
No service	0.0677	0.0709	0.3399	0.1048	0.0876	0.2319
Active duty	-0.0673	0.0767	0.3803	-0.4500	0.1213	0.0002
Guard/Reserve	0.2159	0.0987	0.0288	0.1825	0.1186	0.1237
Years of military service	0.0573	0.0124	0.0001	0.0171	0.0180	0.3423
Years of potential civilian	0.0701	0.0047	0.0001	-0.0513	0.0051	0.0001
experience						
Experience squared	-0.0017	0.0002	0.0001	0.0020	0.0002	0.0001
Years of education	0.1253	0.0040	0.0001	0.0752	0.0048	0.0001
Enrolled in school	-0.0388	0.0191	0.0424	0.0508	0.0203	0.0126
Married	0.0774	0.0166	0.0001	0.6194	0.0183	0.0001
Divorced	0.0331	0.0203	0.1036	-0.1833	0.0226	0.0001
Number of children ever born	-0.0452	0.0062	0.0001	-0.0666	0.0067	0.0001
Has a child under 6 years old	0.0216	0.0162	0.1826	-0.1711	0.0176	0.0001
% of occupation that is male	0.0174	0.0026	0.0001			
÷ 10						
Number of hours worked in	0.0311	0.0004	0.0001	0.0163	0.0003	0.0001
1989 ÷ 40						
% of LMA labor force that is	-0.0149	0.0040	0.0002	-0.0197	0.0044	0.0001
veteran						
% of LMA labor force on	-0.0092	0.0021	0.0001	-0.0050	0.0023	0.0321
active duty						
% of LMA living below the	-0.0295	0.0016	0.0001	-0.0318	0.0017	0.0001
poverty line			:			
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0164	0.0053	0.0021	0.0168	0.0058	0.0038
unemployed						
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0053	0.0007	0.0001	0.0077	0.0008	0.0001
minority						
% of LMA labor force that is	-0.0063	0.0039	0.1030	-0.0019	0.0043	0.6657
female						
F	578.02		0.0001	365.52		0.0001
$\mathbb{R}^2$	0.5426			0.3261		48
Adj. R <sup>2</sup>	0.5417			0.3252		

TABLE 45: Multivariate Regression Equations for White, Hispanic Women

1 ABLE 45: Multivariate						
		n(Earnings	s)		amily Inco	ome)
		N = 4371	·		N = 6276	
X	b	s.e.	p	b	s.e.	p
No service	-0.1027	0.1622	0.5268	-0.0940	0.2037	0.6446
Active duty	-0.3466	0.1854	0.0617	-0.2279	0.2912	0.4337
Guard/Reserve	-0.1203	0.2115	0.5696	0.0729	0.2531	0.7734
Years of military service	0.0149	0.0372	0.6886	-0.0169	0.0514	0.7425
Years of potential civilian	0.0644	0.0068	0.0001	-0.0120	0.0072	0.0969
experience						
Experience squared	-0.0016	0.0003	0.0001	0.0008	0.0003	0.0042
Years of education	0.1102	0.0054	0.0001	0.0531	0.0059	0.0001
Enrolled in school	-0.0556	0.0262	0.0340	0.0162	0.0275	0.5573
Married	0.0858	0.0268	0.0014	0.3753	0.0291	0.0001
Divorced	0.0667	0.0347	0.0547	-0.3605	0.0383	0.0001
Number of children ever born	-0.0717	0.0110	0.0001	-0.0365	0.0112	0.0011
Has a child under 6 years old	0.0343	0.0274	0.2109	-0.0703	0.0276	0.0110
% of occupation that is male	0.0147	0.0038	0.0001			
÷ 10						
Number of hours worked in	0.0306	0.0006	0.0001	0.0091	0.0005	0.0001
1989 ÷ 40						
% of LMA labor force that is	-0.0176	0.0050	0.0004	-0.0164	0.0052	0.0016
veteran						
% of LMA labor force on	0.0008	0.0041	0.8518	-0.0081	0.0042	0.0548
active duty						
% of LMA living below the	-0.0279	0.0024	0.0001	-0.0372	0.0025	0.0001
poverty line		1.11211				
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0322	0.0074	0.0001	0.0410	0.0077	0.0001
unemployed						
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0042	0.0007	0.0001	0.0057	0.0008	0.0001
minority						
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0120	0.0059	0.0422	0.0044	0.0063	0.4836
female						
F	248.38		0.0001	77.52		0.0001
$\mathbb{R}^2$	0.5331			0.1906		
Adj. R <sup>2</sup>	0.531			0.1881		

TABLE 46: Multivariate Regression Equations for Women of Other Race/Ethnicity

TABLE 46: Multivariate Reg						
		(Earning	s)		amily Inco	ome)
		N = 5114			N = 8226	
X	b	s.e.	p	b	s.e.	р
No service	0.1186	0.1450	0.4136		0.1609	0.2562
Active duty	-0.1029	0.1663	0.5360		0.2659	0.3356
Guard/Reserve	-0.0546	0.2124	0.7970	-0.0307	0.2275	0.8928
Years of military service	0.0700	0.0287	0.0147	0.0489	0.0357	0.1706
Years of potential civilian	0.0663	0.0069	0.0001	-0.0132	0.0067	0.0470
experience						
Experience squared	-0.0017	0.0003	0.0001	0.0011	0.0003	0.0001
Years of education	0.1091	0.0050	0.0001	0.0573	0.0051	0.0001
Enrolled in school	-0.0165	0.0248	0.5055	0.0079	0.0239	0.7403
Married	0.0628	0.0260	0.0157	0.3894	0.0254	0.0001
Divorced	0.0625	0.0363	0.0855	-0.3098	0.0364	0.0001
Number of children ever born	-0.0471	0.0099	0.0001	-0.0539	0.0091	0.0001
Has a child under 6 years old	0.0155	0.0249	0.5334	-0.0543	0.0234	0.0206
% of occupation that is male	0.0046	0.0038	0.2197			
÷ 10						
Number of hours worked in	0.0331	0.0005	0.0001	0.0097	0.0004	0.0001
1989 ÷ 40						
% of LMA labor force that is	-0.0205	0.0051	0.0001	-0.0006	0.0049	0.8945
veteran						
% of LMA labor force on	-0.0118	0.0035	0.0006	-0.0056	0.0033	0.0909
active duty						
% of LMA living below the	-0.0265	0.0025	0.0001	-0.0419	0.0023	0.0001
poverty line						
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0244	0.0064	0.0001	0.0249	0.0059	0.0001
unemployed						
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0042	0.0007	0.0001	0.0095	0.0007	0.0001
minority						
% of LMA labor force that is	-0.0053	0.0061	0.3827	-0.0104	0.0058	0.0755
female						
F	327.52		0.0001	138.61		0.0001
$R^2$	0.5626			0.2430		
Adj. R <sup>2</sup>	0.5609			0.2412		

born and the presence of a child under 6 years old, as this information was not available for males in the data set). White, non-Hispanic male veterans had a 9% earnings disadvantage relative to their non-serving counterparts and a 11% disadvantage in comparison to those white, non-Hispanic men with service in the Guard or Reserve only. The veteran disadvantage relative to these two groups is seen again in the family income equations with veterans receiving a 12% disadvantage compared to non-serving white, non-Hispanic men and an 11% disadvantage compared to the Guard/Reserve personnel. White, non-Hispanic male veterans also earned a significant advantage over their active duty counterparts in terms of both earnings (11%) and family income (33%).

African-American male veterans received a 13% earnings premium and 38% family income premium over similar active duty personnel, but did not differ significantly from African-American men in the other military status categories. White, Hispanic males and males in the "other" racial/ethnic category did not differ significantly from their non-serving counterparts and also had significant premiums relative to similar active duty personnel. White, Hispanic male veterans had a 38% earnings advantage and a 41% family income advantage, while "other" male veterans had a 17% earnings advantage and a 61% family income advantage. In addition, white, Hispanic male veterans received an earnings penalty of 15% relative to similar men with service only in the Guard or Reserve.

Multivariate Regression: Comparing Women Veterans and Non-Serving Women - A

Closer Look

Given that the slopes of the various regression coefficients in the previous equations for each racial/ethnic group are constrained, by the model, to be equal across

all military status groups, we are unable to distinguish whether or not veterans are more or less able to capitalize on their various individual characteristics or the characteristics of their occupations or LMAs when compared to their non-veteran counterparts. I, therefore, estimated separate ln(earnings) and ln(family income) for veteran and non-serving women within each racial/ethnic group.

While this methodology provides the coefficients and their statistical significance (i.e., difference from 0) for each equation, it does not provide information concerning the statistical significance of the difference between the coefficients of women veterans and those with no military service. Therefore, I ran interaction equations, interacting veteran status with each variable in the regression equations. The coefficients of the interaction terms can be interpreted as the difference in the coefficients between the reference group (in this case, non-serving individuals) and veterans. Their test of significance is the test that the difference in coefficients is statistically different than 0. The interaction models are not explicitly presented in this paper. However, if the interaction term for a given independent variable was significant at the 0.05 level of significance, the appropriate row in TABLES 47-54 is shaded. Unless otherwise noted, all coefficients reported in the text of this section are significant at the 0.05 level of significance.

As with the regression models used in the previous section, the parameter estimates in the following equations relate to a logarithmically transformed dependent variable, and, thus, can be converted to the approximate percentage change in the dependent variable due to a one unit change in the independent variable with the following formula (Mehay and Hirsch 1996, p.205; Thornton and Innes 1989, p.444):

Percentage Differential =  $[EXP(Regression Coefficient) - 1] \times 100$ White, Non-Hispanic Women

(TABLES 47-48)

Years of military service is a significant determinant of veteran ln(earnings), adding almost 6% to earnings per year served. For veterans, years of military service are more valuable then their years of potential civilian labor market experience. Although veterans appear to earn slightly less per year of civilian experience than non-serving individuals, this difference did not reach statistical significance. However, the difference between veterans' and non-serving individuals' ability to convert their education into earnings was statistically different. While women veterans converted their education into earnings at the rate of 9% per year of education, non-serving women earned about 12% per year. In addition, non-serving individuals suffered an earnings penalty of about 5% for being enrolled in school, while the veterans' earnings penalty for school enrollment, though larger, was not significant.

In terms of familial variables, marital status was insignificant in determining earnings for veterans, but being married or being divorced, widowed, or separated was associated positively with the earnings of non-serving women (relative to those single, never married). Having additional children was significantly more costly for non-serving women in terms of earnings than it was for veterans, but having a young child was much more costly for veterans. In fact, having a child under 6 years old resulted in a 13% earnings penalty for veterans, while non-serving women actually earned a 5% premium for having a young child.

TABLE 47: Ln(Earnings) Multivariate Regression Equations for White, Non-Hispanic

Veteran and Non-Serving Women

	Veteran			Non-Serving		
	N = 790			N = 90997		
X	ь	s.e.	р	ь	s.e.	p
Years of military service	0.0554	0.0112	0.0001	0.0000		
Years of potential civilian	0.0330	0.0163	0.0428	0.0638	0.0016	0.0001
experience						
Experience squared	-0.0004	0.0009	0.7043	-0.0016	0.0001	0.0001
Years of education	0.0855	0.0130	0.0001	0.1160	0.0012	0.0001
Enrolled in school	-0.1021	0.0632	0.1067	-0.0559	0.0066	0.0001
Married	0.0622	0.0638	0.3295	0.0664	0.0065	0.0001
Divorced	0.0296	0.0727	0.6842	0.0671	0.0085	0.0001
Number of children ever born	-0.0243	0.0274	0.3767	-0.0846	0.0025	0.0001
Has a child under 6 years old	-0.1365	0.0584	0.0197	0.0456	0.0059	0.0001
% of occupation that is male	0.0132	0.0075	0.0803	0.0091	0.0008	0.0001
÷ 10						
Number of hours worked in	0.0350	0.0013	0.0001	0.0337	0.0001	0.0001
1989 ÷ 40						
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0070	0.0123	0.5685	-0.0121	0.0012	0.0001
veteran						
% of LMA labor force on	-0.0128	0.0063	0.0415	-0.0030	0.0009	0.0015
active duty						
% of LMA living below the	-0.0216	0.0064	0.0007	-0.0260	0.0006	0.0001
poverty line					0 001 7	0.0004
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0178	0.0173	0.3024	0.0288	0.0015	0.0001
unemployed			0.004.4	0.00.60	0.0000	0.0001
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0065	0.0020	0.0014	0.0069	0.0002	0.0001
minority	0.0156	0.01.44	0.0706	0.0120	0.0013	0.0001
% of LMA labor force that is	-0.0156	0.0144	0.2786	0.0138	0.0013	0.0001
female	(1.06		0.0001	7045 40		0.0001
F P <sup>2</sup>	61.06		0.0001	7045.48		0.0001
$R^2$	0.5735			0.5534		
Adj. R <sup>2</sup>	0.5641			0.5533		

Note - shaded rows indicate that the difference in the coefficients for that X variable between women veterans and non-serving women is significant at the 0.05 level of significance using an interaction model which interacted veteran status with each X variable. Darker shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient is greater than that of the non-serving women. Lighter shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient was less than that of non-serving women.

- The column labeled "p" is the probability of a greater absolute value of t under the null hypothesis that the parameter estimate is equal to 0 (two-tailed). If the achieved probability is less than  $\alpha$  (.05), then the coefficient is judged to be statistically different from 0.

TABLE 48: Ln(Family Income) Multivariate Regression Equations for White, Non-

Hispanic Veteran and Non-Serving Women

TIMPUM	Veteran Veteran			Non-Serving			
	]	N = 1182		N = 126205			
X	ь	s.e.	р	ь	s.e.	р	
Years of military service	0.0163	0.0101	0.1076	0.0000	•	•	
Years of potential civilian	0.0034	0.0139	0.8087	0.0046	0.0015	0.0027	
experience							
Experience squared	0.0003	0.0008	0.6824	0.0004	0.0001	0.0001	
Years of education	0.0673	0.0122	0.0001	0.0718	0.0012	0.0001	
Enrolled in school	0.0204	0.0549	0.7098	-0.0078	0.0063	0.2107	
Married	0.4919	0.0593	0.0001	0.4322	0.0065	0.0001	
Divorced	-0.2593	0.0682	0.0001	-0.4140	0.0085	0.0001	
Number of children ever born	-0.0198	0.0211	0.3482	-0.0125	0.0023	0.0001	
Has a child under 6 years old	-0.0798	0.0498	0.1097	-0.0377	0.0055	0.0001	
Number of hours worked in	0.0090	0.0009	0.0001	0.0071	0.0001	0.0001	
1989 ÷ 40							
% of LMA labor force that is	-0.0146	0.0103	0.1571	-0.0140	0.0011	0.0001	
veteran							
% of LMA labor force on	-0.0102	0.0053	0.0543	-0.0067	0.0009	0.0001	
active duty							
% of LMA living below the	-0.0325	0.0055	0.0001	-0.0358	0.0005	0.0001	
poverty line							
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0370	0.0145	0.0108	0.0330	0.0014	0.0001	
unemployed							
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0083	0.0018	0.0001	0.0106	0.0002	0.0001	
minority							
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0076	0.0129	0.5555	0.0099	0.0012	0.0001	
female							
F	27.52		0.0001	2748.38		0.0001	
$\mathbb{R}^2$	0.2742			0.2462			
Adj. R <sup>2</sup>	0.2643			0.2462			

Note - shaded rows indicate that the difference in the coefficients for that X variable between women veterans and non-serving women is significant at the 0.05 level of significance using an interaction model which interacted veteran status with each X variable. Darker shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient is greater than that of the non-serving women. Lighter shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient was less than that of non-serving women.

The percentage of a woman's occupation that was male did not prove to be a significant determinant of earnings for veterans. However, non-serving women earned an additional 1% of earnings for each 10 percentage point increase in the percent male of her occupation. Looking at the military characteristics of the labor markets, the concentration of veterans in an LMA does not appear to impact veterans. Increases in veteran concentration are associated with earnings penalties of about 1% per percentage point increase in the percent of veterans in the LMA labor force for non-serving women. An increasing concentration of active duty personnel in the LMA labor force is associated with a significant earnings penalty for both veterans and non-serving women.

The only labor market characteristic coefficient on which veterans and non-veterans differed significantly is for the percent of the LMA labor force that is female. While this was not significant in the veterans' ln(earnings) equation, an increase in the concentration of women in the labor force resulted in an increase in the earnings of non-serving women. This result may be a consequence of the association between women's labor force participation and occupational segregation. That is, in those labor markets which have higher concentrations of women in the labor force, women may be less occupationally segregated (Abrahamson and Sigelman 1987) into lower paying jobs.

Looking at the ln(family income) equations for white, non-Hispanic veteran and non-serving women (TABLE 48), the only significant difference between veterans and non-serving individuals occurs in the coefficients of the dummy variable for being divorced, widowed, or separated. Non-serving women are penalized more for falling into this category than were veterans. The family income premium for being married, not separated was significant and substantial for both veteran (64%) and non-serving

women (54%). Other familial variables, such as the number of children ever born and having a child under 6 years old were not significant in the veteran ln(family income) equation. Both of these variables were negatively related to family income for non-serving women.

Similarly, experience, either civilian or military, was not a significant determinant of veteran family income. Education, however, was associated with a significant 7% increase in veteran family income per year of education. The military characteristics of local labor markets were not significant in the veteran ln(family income) equation, although the negative impact of increasing concentrations of active duty personnel in the LMA labor force was almost significant (p =0.0543). Increases in the concentration of veterans and active duty personnel in the LMA labor force were associated with family income penalties for non-serving women (about a 1% decrease in family income per percentage point increase in the concentration of veterans or the concentration of active duty personnel).

#### African-American Women

#### (TABLES 49-50)

African-American women veterans did not differ significantly from their non-serving counterparts on any coefficient of any variable in their ln(earnings) equation. In fact, none of the experience (military and civilian), familial, or labor market coefficients reached statistical significance for veterans in this racial/ethnic category. The only coefficients that were significant were for education and the number of hours worked per week divided by 40. This non-significance may, in part, be driven by the N for this equation (150). It is interesting to note, though, that while the concentration of veterans

TABLE 49: Ln(Earnings) Multivariate Regression Equations for African-American Veteran and Non-Serving Women

	Jan and 1	Veteran	8	Non-Serving			
	N = 150			N = 9379			
X	b	s.e.	p	ь	s.e.	р	
Years of military service	0.0198	0.0244	0.4190	0.0000		<u> </u>	
Years of potential civilian	0.0368	0.0380	0.3342	0.0721	0.0049	0.0001	
experience		0.00					
Experience squared	-0.0005	0.0021	0.8313	-0.0017	0.0002	0.0001	
Years of education	0.1340	0.0325	0.0001	0.1240	0.0040	0.0001	
Enrolled in school	0.0628	0.1546	0.6853	-0.0396	0.0196	0.0431	
Married	-0.1640	0.1486	0.2717	0.0785	0.0169	0.0001	
Divorced	-0.0588	0.1635	0.7195	0.0358	0.0206	0.0828	
Number of children ever born	-0.0666	0.0587	0.2591	-0.0460	0.0063	0.0001	
Has a child under 6 years old	0.2114	0.1273	0.0991	0.0180	0.0165	0.2755	
% of occupation that is male	0.0084	0.0193	0.6651	0.0187	0.0027	0.0001	
÷ 10							
Number of hours worked in	0.0327	0.0031	0.0001	0.0312	0.0004	0.0001	
1989 ÷ 40							
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0321	0.0307	0.2985	-0.0145	0.0041	0.0004	
veteran							
% of LMA labor force on	-0.0008	0.0111	0.9439	-0.0107	0.0023	0.0001	
active duty			-				
% of LMA living below the	-0.0113	0.0143	0.4327	-0.0297	0.0016	0.0001	
poverty line							
% of LMA labor force that is	-0.0074	0.0459	0.8720	0.0156	0.0054	0.0039	
unemployed							
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0030	0.0051	0.5483	0.0056	0.0007	0.0001	
minority							
% of LMA labor force that is	-0.0139	0.0342	0.6844	-0.0057	0.0039	0.1461	
female							
F	8.52		0.0001	703.79		0.0001	
$\mathbb{R}^2$	0.5233			0.5460			
Adj. R <sup>2</sup>	0.4619			0.5453			

Note - shaded rows indicate that the difference in the coefficients for that X variable between women veterans and non-serving women is significant at the 0.05 level of significance using an interaction model which interacted veteran status with each X variable. Darker shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient is greater than that of the non-serving women. Lighter shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient was less than that of non-serving women.

TABLE 50: Ln(Family Income) Multivariate Regression Equations for African-American

Veteran and Non-Serving Women

700	Tall allu I	Veteran	ing wonite	Non-Serving			
	N = 235			N = 13939			
X	b	s.e.	p	b	s.e.	p	
Years of military service	0.0449	0.0239	0.0618	0.0000		•	
Years of potential civilian	0.0038	0.0360	0.9166	-0.0545	0.0052	0.0001	
experience							
Experience squared	0.0008	0.0020	0.7065	0.0022	0.0002	0.0001	
Years of education	0.0773	0.0358	0.0320	0.0743	0.0049	0.0001	
Enrolled in school	-0.2095	0.1445	0.1486	0.0498	0.0208	0.0167	
Married	0.3662	0.1369	0.0080	0.6245	0.0187	0.0001	
Divorced	-0.2532	0.1560	0.1061	-0.1852	0.0230	0.0001	
Number of children ever born	-0.0264	0.0519	0.6110	-0.0666	0.0068	0.0001	
Has a child under 6 years old	-0.0363	0.1268	0.7749	-0.1718	0.0179	0.0001	
Number of hours worked in	0.0099	0.0023	0.0001	0.0165	0.0003	0.0001	
1989 ÷ 40	·			ad.	Marie Leaville	10.2	
% of LMA labor force that is	-0.0248	0.0297	0.4046	-0.0205	0.0045	0.0001	
veteran							
% of LMA labor force on	-0.0051	0.0109	0.6389	-0.0041	0.0025	0.0996	
active duty							
% of LMA living below the	-0.0311	0.0138	0.0250	-0.0319	0.0017	0.0001	
poverty line							
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0082	0.0429	0.8479	0.0167	0.0059	0.0049	
unemployed							
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0003	0.0051	0.9582	0.0077	0.0008	0.0001	
minority							
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0135	0.0335	0.6866	-0.0026	0.0044	0.5561	
female							
F	4.70		0.0001	454.93		0.0001	
$R^2$	0.2565			0.3289			
Adj. R <sup>2</sup>	0.2019			0.3282			

Note - shaded rows indicate that the difference in the coefficients for that X variable between women veterans and non-serving women is significant at the 0.05 level of significance using an interaction model which interacted veteran status with each X variable. Darker shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient is greater than that of the non-serving women. Lighter shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient was less than that of non-serving women.

and active duty personnel in the LMA labor force did not significantly impact the earnings of African-American veterans, increasing percentages of veterans and active duty personnel in the labor force had a significant depressing effect on the earnings of African-American non-serving women (about 1% per percentage point increase).

In terms of family income, the only significant difference between veterans and non-serving individuals occurred in the coefficient for the number of hours worked in 1989 divided by 40. Here, a 40 hour period worked by veterans contributed significantly less to family income then did the time worked by non-serving individuals. One other difference between veteran and non-serving women that is not statistically significant but is noteworthy can be seen in their coefficients for the dummy variable for being married. While veterans received a 44% premium for being married (relative to being single, never married), non-serving African-American women received a 87% premium. Other significant determinants of veteran family income were education (b = 0.077) and the control for the percent of individuals in the LMA who live below the poverty line (b = 0.31). Although the coefficient for the percent of the LMA labor force that is on active duty did not reach statistical significance for either veterans or non-serving individuals, increasing concentrations of veterans had a negative impact on family income for non-serving women (about 2% per percentage point).

# White, Hispanic Women

# (TABLES 51-52)

There were no significant differences between the coefficients of white, Hispanic women veteran and non-serving women in either the ln(earnings) or ln(family income) equations. The only veteran coefficient that reached statistical significance in the

TABLE 51: Ln(Earnings) Multivariate Regression Equations for White, Hispanic Veteran and Non-Serving Women

Veteran Non-Serving Wollien  Veteran Non-Serving						
	N = 35			N = 4294		
77	1					
X	b	s.e.	p	b	s.e.	p
Years of military service	-0.0227	0.0662	0.7359	0.0000		•
Years of potential civilian	-0.0977	0.0777	0.2258	0.0648	0.0069	0.0001
experience						
Experience squared	0.0069	0.0049	0.1746	-0.0016	0.0003	0.0001
Years of education	0.1084	0.0612	0.0946	0.1110	0.0054	0.0001
Enrolled in school	0.4040	0.2846	0.1739	-0.0602	0.0265	0.0232
Married	-0.5492	0.3008	0.0855	0.0838	0.0270	0.0020
Divorced	-0.2942	0.4693	0.5391	0.0646	0.0350	0.0647
Number of children ever born	0.0307	0.1454	0.8354	-0.0733	0.0111	0.0001
Has a child under 6 years old	0.5145	0.3385	0.1469	0.0331	0.0276	0.2309
% of occupation that is male	0.0063	0.0272	0.8200	0.0146	0.0039	0.0002
÷ 10						
Number of hours worked in	0.0442	0.0060	0.0001	0.0306	0.0006	0.0001
1989 ÷ 40						
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0504	0.0468	0.2962	-0.0169	0.0050	0.0008
veteran						
% of LMA labor force on	0.0346	0.0328	0.3061	0.0001	0.0043	0.9896
active duty						
% of LMA living below the	0.0311	0.0317	0.3398	-0.0283	0.0024	0.0001
poverty line						
% of LMA labor force that is	-0.1227	0.0774	0.1312	0.0325	0.0074	0.0001
unemployed						
% of LMA labor force that is	-0.0092	0.0093	0.3334	0.0044	0.0007	0.0001
minority						
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0336	0.0792	0.6771	0.0117	0.0060	0.0499
female						
F	5.99		0.0003	306.74		0.0001
$R^2$	0.8569			0.5343		
Adj. R <sup>2</sup>	0.7138			0.5326		

Note - shaded rows indicate that the difference in the coefficients for that X variable between women veterans and non-serving women is significant at the 0.05 level of significance using an interaction model which interacted veteran status with each X variable. Darker shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient is greater than that of the non-serving women. Lighter shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient was less than that of non-serving women.

TABLE 52: Ln(Family Income) Multivariate Regression Equations for White, Hispanic

Veteran and Non-Serving Women

	Veteran			Non-Serving			
	N = 53			N = 6184			
X	b	s.e.	p	b	s.e.	p	
Years of military service	-0.0429	0.0711	0.5505	0.0000	•		
Years of potential civilian	-0.0567	0.1013	0.5787	-0.0129	0.0073	0.0757	
experience							
Experience squared	0.0030	0.0063	0.6441	0.0009	0.0003	0.0032	
Years of education	0.1117	0.0935	0.2403	0.0535	0.0060	0.0001	
Enrolled in school	0.2124	0.3402	0.5364	0.0145	0.0278	0.6022	
Married	0.3553	0.3724	0.3463	0.3772	0.0293	0.0001	
Divorced	-0.4091	0.4610	0.3807	-0.3623	0.0385	0.0001	
Number of children ever born	0.2059	0.1342	0.1336	-0.0384	0.0113	0.0007	
Has a child under 6 years old	-0.1690	0.3529	0.6349	-0.0688	0.0278	0.0135	
Number of hours worked in	0.0013	0.0061	0.8340	0.0092	0.0005	0.0001	
1989 ÷ 40							
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0616	0.0617	0.3245	-0.0164	0.0052	0.0017	
veteran							
% of LMA labor force on	-0.0133	0.0268	0.6227	-0.0081	0.0043	0.0607	
active duty							
% of LMA living below the	-0.0177	0.0363	0.6278	-0.0375	0.0025	0.0001	
poverty line							
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0534	0.1020	0.6039	0.0411	0.0078	0.0001	
unemployed							
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0040	0.0113	0.7243	0.0058	0.0008	0.0001	
minority							
% of LMA labor force that is	0.0402	0.0904	0.6590	0.0042	0.0064	0.5066	
female							
F	0.83		0.6466	98.31		0.0001	
$R^2$	0.2693			0.1930			
Adj. R <sup>2</sup>	-0.0555			0.1910			

Note - shaded rows indicate that the difference in the coefficients for that X variable between women veterans and non-serving women is significant at the 0.05 level of significance using an interaction model which interacted veteran status with each X variable. Darker shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient is greater than that of the non-serving women. Lighter shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient was less than that of non-serving women.

veterans' ln(earnings) equation was for the number of hours worked in 1989 divided by 40. This lack of statistically significant coefficients is likely to be driven by the relatively small N of 35 in this equation.

The veteran model for the ln(family income) appears to have collapsed trying to fit too few cases (53) into too many variables (16) as evidenced by an F value of .83 (p > F = 0.65) and an adjusted  $R^2$  of -0.0555. I attempted to correct this problem by removing the control variables for the LMA characteristics from the model, but the model still failed to reach statistical significance.

Although the information that can be gleaned from these models is relatively limited, the effects of the military characteristics of the LMA labor forces, more specifically, the concentration of veterans in the labor force, on the earnings and family income of non-serving white, Hispanic women are still significant. Each percentage point increase of veterans in the LMA labor force is associated with an almost 2% decrease in earnings and family income.

# Women of Other Race/Ethnicity

# (TABLES 53-54)

Women veterans who were categorized into the "other" racial/ethnic category were significantly better able than their non-serving counterparts to convert their time spent at work into earnings. Whereas each 40 hours worth of work for veterans represents about a 5% increase in earnings, the same amount of work by non-serving women is worth only about a 3% increase. In addition, veterans are less impacted by the overall poverty rate of their LMA than non-serving women. The percentage of individuals living below the poverty line within the LMA is not a significant determinant

TABLE 53: Ln(Earnings) Multivariate Regression Equations for Veteran and Non-Serving Women of Other Race/Ethnicity

	Veteran			Non-Serving			
		N = 50		N = 5018			
X	b	s.e.	p	b	s.e.	р	
Years of military service	0.0931	0.0572	0.1134	0.0000			
Years of potential civilian	0.0549	0.0519	0.2983	0.0688	0.0070	0.0001	
experience							
Experience squared	-0.0008	0.0029	0.7893	-0.0018	0.0003	0.0001	
Years of education	0.1597	0.0657	0.0208	0.1083	0.0050	0.0001	
Enrolled in school	-0.3947	0.2857	0.1767	-0.0090	0.0251	0.7203	
Married	0.0135	0.3590	0.9703	0.0639	0.0262	0.0147	
Divorced	0.1838	0.4450	0.6824	0.0679	0.0366	0.0639	
Number of children ever born	-0.0782	0.1602	0.6286	-0.0473	0.0100	0.0001	
Has a child under 6 years old	0.1749	0.2870	0.5464	0.0169	0.0251	0.5015	
% of occupation that is male ÷ 10	0.0191	0.0369	0.6088	0.0048	0.0038	0.2083	
Number of hours worked in 1989 ÷ 40	0.0468	0.0062	0.0001	0.0332	0.0005	0.0001	
% of LMA labor force that is veteran	-0.0966	0.0854	0.2662	-0.0196	0.0051	0.0001	
% of LMA labor force on active duty	0.0252	0.0344	0.4689	-0.0116	0.0036	0.0011	
% of LMA living below the poverty line	0.0692	0.0383	0.0798	-0.0266	0.0025	0.0001	
% of LMA labor force that is unemployed	-0.0991	0.1097	0.3730	0.0244	0.0065	0.0002	
% of LMA labor force that is minority	-0.0094	0.0149	0.5312	0.0042	0.0007	0.0001	
% of LMA labor force that is female	0.0429	0.0784	0.5883	-0.0075	0.0061	0.2178	
F	6.14		0.0001	404.36		0.0001	
$R^2$	0.7654		0.0001	0.5640			
Adj. R <sup>2</sup>	0.6407			0.5626			

Note - shaded rows indicate that the difference in the coefficients for that X variable between women veterans and non-serving women is significant at the 0.05 level of significance using an interaction model which interacted veteran status with each X variable. Darker shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient is greater than that of the non-serving women. Lighter shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient was less than that of non-serving women.

TABLE 54: Ln(Family Income) Multivariate Regression Equations for Veteran and Non-Serving Women of Other Race/Ethnicity

	Veteran			Non-Serving			
	N = 82			N = 8103			
<b>X</b> .	b	s.e.	р	b	s.e.	p	
Years of military service	0.0960	0.0546	0.0833	0.0000	•		
Years of potential civilian	0.0816	0.0528	0.1273	-0.0145	0.0068	0.0320	
experience							
Experience squared	-0.0009	0.0028	0.7535	0.0011	0.0003	0.0001	
Years of education	0.1512	0.0643	0.0218	0.0569	0.0051	0.0001	
Enrolled in school	0.3694	0.2713	0.1781	0.0041	0.0241	0.8645	
Married	0.4428	0.3065	0.1533	0.3889	0.0256	0.0001	
Divorced	-0.2744	0.3768	0.4690	-0.3123	0.0368	0.0001	
Number of children ever born	-0.2246	0.1127	0.0505	-0.0525	0.0092	0.0001	
Has a child under 6 years old	0.3712	0.2674	0.1698	-0.0553	0.0236	0.0191	
Number of hours worked in 1989 ÷ 40	0.0124	0.0050	0.0153	0.0098	0.0004	0.0001	
% of LMA labor force that is veteran	0.0150	0.0673	0.8242	-0.0019	0.0049	0.6978	
% of LMA labor force on active duty	-0.0519	0.0274	0.0629	-0.0035	0.0034	0.2949	
% of LMA living below the poverty line	0.0110	0.0342	0.7496	-0.0418	0.0023	0.0001	
% of LMA labor force that is unemployed	-0.0354	0.0886	0.6908	0.0249	0.0059	0.0001	
% of LMA labor force that is minority	0.0143	0.0107	0.1834	0.0094	0.0007	0.0001	
% of LMA labor force that is female	-0.1608	0.0723	0.0297	-0.0091	0.0059	0.1215	
F	2.33		0.0086	173.48		0.0001	
$\mathbb{R}^2$	0.3649			0.2434			
Adj. R <sup>2</sup>	0.2085			0.2420			

Note - shaded rows indicate that the difference in the coefficients for that X variable between women veterans and non-serving women is significant at the 0.05 level of significance using an interaction model which interacted veteran status with each X variable. Darker shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient is greater than that of the non-serving women. Lighter shading indicates that the veterans' coefficient was less than that of non-serving women.

of veteran earnings, but each increasing percentage point increase in the poverty rate is associated with an almost 3% decrease in the earnings of non-serving women. Besides time spent at work, years of education were also a significant predictor of veteran (and non-veteran) earnings.

In terms of the ln(family income), the only significant difference in coefficients between veteran and non-serving women was for the coefficient of the percent of the LMA labor force that was female. While, the coefficient for this variable for veterans was significant and negative (b = -0.1608), the coefficient for non-serving women was not statistically significant. In other words, increasing percentages of women in the labor force is more detrimental to the earnings of veterans than to those women with no military service. The only other coefficients that were significant in the veteran ln(family income) equation were education and time spent at work. While the difference was not statistically significant, the education of veterans appears to be more readily converted into family income than the education of non-serving women.

The percentage of the LMA labor force that is veteran and on active duty significantly impacts the earnings, but not the family income, of non-serving "other" women. A 1 percentage point increase in the percentage of veterans in the labor force is associated with a 2% decrease in earnings. A 1 percentage point increase in the percentage of active duty personnel in the labor force is associated with a 1% earnings penalty.

#### **DISCUSSION**

The results above tell a complex story about the post-service socioeconomic status attainment of women veterans of the AVF. I have attempted to organize and explain this story in the following sections. I will first review and discuss the results directly related to my hypotheses as I attempt to place them back in the context of my theoretical framework. I will then discuss some of my other findings that, while not directly related to my hypotheses, may have some theoretical implications.

# **Evaluating the Hypotheses**

Based on the idea that women are a minority (in the sense of disadvantage rather than numbers) and that previous research demonstrates that minority males benefit most from military service, I hypothesized that women veterans would achieve some gain in socioeconomic status relative to their non-serving counterparts (Hypothesis 1). These gains would possibly be produced by bridging hypothesis variables such as gains in education and training, increased independence and socialization to a male-dominated work environment, or increasing familiarity with working within a bureaucracy. A veteran advantage may also have been produced indirectly via the interaction of military service with familial variables which would lessen the demands of family life on women veterans and allow more time for the pursuit of socioeconomic status attainment. Gains could have also been produced by employers giving preference to government "certified" workers. Lastly, gains may have been realized because of how selective the military has been with the women that they allow into the ranks. That is, the women who were

selected by the military may have already had the characteristics that they needed to succeed in the civilian labor market.

However, the veteran advantage, overall, never really materialized for any racial or ethnic group. In fact, when the data were disaggregated by race/ethnicity and military status, no group of veteran women had an advantage over their non-serving counterparts in terms of either earnings or family income. This finding holds even when several variables were controlled for within the regression portion of my analysis. It appears that the best women veterans could do was break even, which African-American, white Hispanic, and "Other" women did. White, non-Hispanic women veterans, did not fare that well. Overall, they were disadvantaged relative to similar non-serving women in terms of their family income and, once relevant factors were controlled for in the regression equations, a veteran penalty was evident in both earnings and family income.

This finding lends credence to my second hypothesis that minority veterans receive more of a benefit (or less of a cost) for their veteran status relative to minority non-veterans than do non-minority veterans relative to similar non-veterans (Hypothesis 2). Why white, non-Hispanic veterans are disadvantaged is a bit more difficult to explain. In terms of earnings, it appears that education may play a significant role in this difference. That is, white, non-Hispanic veterans have significantly less education than their non-serving counterparts and are significantly less able to convert their years of education into earnings. This is likely to be driven by the fact that significantly fewer white, non-Hispanic veterans than non-veterans have completed their bachelor's degree.

Another issue that is likely driving down the earnings of white, non-Hispanic veterans is the timing of the births of their children. While information is not available on

birth timing, one can assume that many of these women veterans waited until they were either on their way out of the service or were already out of the service before having a child. Thus, women veterans would be more likely to have younger children than their non-veteran counterparts who did not have or choose to wait. The data in this study show this to be true. The presence of younger children may make it more difficult for women veterans to complete their four-year degrees. In addition, having young children during the period in which the veteran is attempting to transfer back into the civilian labor force may be especially harmful. The results of this study show that having a child under six years old is significantly more detrimental in terms of earnings to white, non-Hispanic veterans than it is to non-veterans. This supports Hypothesis 5. However, this hypothesis only appears to hold for white, non-Hispanic women veterans. Other racial/ethnic groups of veterans did not differ significantly from their respective non-serving women in terms of the financial cost of having a young child.

White, non-Hispanic women veterans were also disadvantaged in terms of their family income. The reason for this disadvantage is likely to be two-fold. First, some of the veteran family income penalty is a result of the earnings disadvantage which I have already discussed. A second portion of this penalty might be explained by the marital patterns of these women. First of all, white, non-Hispanic women veterans are significantly more likely to be divorced, widowed, or separated than their non-serving counterparts (as are African American and "other" veterans), which is associated with a substantial family income penalty. Another important factor may be their choice of marital partners. If these women married white, non-Hispanic men who were either on active duty or were veterans, then they would be marrying someone who, on average,

earns significantly less than his non-serving counterpart. However, the lack of significant difference between the marriage coefficients of veterans and non-veterans across all races/ethnicities in the family income regression equations does not support this. In other words, marriage, overall, holds roughly equal value in terms of family income for both veterans and non-serving individuals.

This finding weighs against my hypothesis that veterans who are married receive either less of a marriage premium or more of a marriage penalty compared to similar non-veterans (Hypothesis 4). The only difference in marriage coefficients that even approached significance in the family income regression or earnings equations was between African-American veterans and their non-serving counterparts (family income). It may be argued that some of the penalty associated with veteran marriage patterns was removed by controlling for the percentage of the LMA labor force on active duty. That is, some of the penalty associated with marrying an active duty man is associated with living in a local labor market with higher concentrations of active duty personnel.

Because I controlled for this, the value of veterans' marriages may actually be inflated. However, in analysis not shown, I reran the regression equations leaving out the control for the concentration of active duty personnel in the local labor market and found that there was no substantial change in the marriage regression coefficients.

When the data are disaggregated by age and the mean earnings of veterans and non-serving individuals are compared, we see that much of the earnings disadvantage that white, non-Hispanic veterans experience relative to their non-serving counterparts is experienced by those in the middle age group (26-32 years old). In fact, the youngest veterans (19-25) and the oldest veterans (33-40) experience a premium over similar

individuals with no military service. In addition the oldest white, non-Hispanic women veterans have a slightly greater advantage over similarly aged non-serving individuals than the youngest veterans have over their non-serving counterparts.

This finding supports my hypothesis that older female veterans have achieved more, relative to similar non-veterans, than younger veterans (Hypothesis 3). This hypothesis may only hold for white, non-Hispanic women as races/ethnicities other than white, non-Hispanic did not show any significant earnings differences between veterans and non-veterans when the data were disaggregated in this manner. In addition, the logic behind this hypothesis was that younger veterans were still likely to be transitioning from military service into the civilian labor force where they may not yet have had the chance to benefit from their veteran status and may suffer an earnings disadvantage during that period. Therefore, I expected the youngest veterans, not the middle group, to be the most disadvantaged.

The concentration of the earnings disadvantage in the middle age category of white, non-Hispanic women veterans may be related to the educational disadvantage, in terms of degree completion, of veterans in this age group relative to similarly aged non-serving individuals. While 26% of employed non-serving white, non-Hispanic women between the ages of 26 and 32 had completed a four-year degree, only 14% of similar veterans had done so. It is also interesting to note that moving into the higher age category, where veterans have an earnings advantage, the percentage of white, non-Hispanic veterans who had completed their bachelor's degree actually exceeds that of non-serving women, although not significantly.

The relationship between family income and age is different from that of earnings to age. In fact, there is no support for Hypothesis 3 using this dependent measure.

Across all age categories, African-American, white Hispanic, and "Other" race/ethnicity women veterans did not differ significantly from their non-serving counterparts. Again, the only differences occurred within the white, non-Hispanic category. While, the difference between white, non-Hispanic women veterans and non-serving women in the youngest age category was not significant, the difference became significant and favored the non-serving women in the two older age groups. Given that earnings differences show a quite different pattern with increasing age, the difference in family income is likely being driven by factors other than the women veterans' earnings.

One such contributing factor may be related to the marriage patterns of white, non-Hispanic veterans. When the percentage of white, non-Hispanic women who are in each marital status category is calculated by age category, an interesting pattern can be seen that may explain the pattern of family income differences. That is, in the youngest category white, non-Hispanic women veterans are significantly more likely (at the 0.05 level of significance) than their non-serving counterparts to be married (54% vs. 37%) and to be divorced (14% vs. 5%). These are offsetting factors as far as family income is concerned and may explain why there is no difference in family income between veterans and non-serving women in the youngest age category. However, in the upper two age categories white, non-Hispanic women veterans are significantly less likely to be married (26-32: 62% vs. 71%, 33-40: 68% vs. 78%) and more likely to be divorced (26-32: 21% vs. 12%, 33-40: 20% vs. 15%), which is likely to lead to a veteran family income disadvantage. However, even controlling for marital status in the family income

regression equations, a veteran disadvantage still persisted. The white, non-Hispanic veteran disadvantage in the regression equation, though, was about equal to the veteran disadvantage in the earnings equation.

# Active Duty and the Guard/Reserve

In addition to my research on the differential status attainment of veteran women and women with no military service, I also conducted some exploratory investigation into the comparison of veterans to active duty personnel and individuals with service only in the Guard or Reserve. Comparisons between veterans and these two groups are important for two main reasons. First, and probably most important, is that veterans share with active duty and Guard/Reserve personnel two things that they do not share with non-serving women. One is that they all met the requisite physical, mental, and moral standards in order to be selected by the military for service. This cannot be said for all non-serving women, although the limitation of my sample to high school graduates is likely to help mitigate the effects of selection bias. The other shared characteristic is that all of these women have self-selected for military service. While volunteering for active duty and volunteering for the Reserves probably involves slightly different motivations, there is still a similarity that exists with veterans in volunteering for military service. The second reason why this comparison is important is because active duty personnel represent the "cost" or "benefit" of a veteran's choice not to remain in the service.

I expected that young women veterans would be disadvantaged relative to those who were in the military, but that this disadvantage would diminish with age (Hypothesis 6). Comparing the mean earnings of active duty personnel with veterans by

race/ethnicity, white, non-Hispanic veterans were the only ones to be disadvantaged relative to similar active duty personnel. African-American women veterans did not show a significant difference in this comparison (Note that comparisons were not made in the white Hispanic or "Other" racial/ethnic groups because of insufficient Ns). When the data are disaggregated by age, the trend opposite of what I predicted can be seen. That is, for both white, non-Hispanics and African Americans, there is a veteran disadvantage relative to active duty personnel that increases with age.

Comparing the mean family incomes of veterans and active duty personnel by race, I found that, overall, both white, non-Hispanic and African-American veterans were significantly disadvantaged relative to their active duty counterparts. Among white, non-Hispanics, a pattern similar to that which could be seen in the earnings comparison emerges, with the oldest group of veterans receiving the most disadvantage. However, only the middle age group of African-American veterans experienced an earnings disadvantage.

The regression models, however, show a distinctly different relationship between veterans and active duty personnel. That is, white, non-Hispanic veterans experienced no significant difference from similar active duty personnel in terms of earnings or family income. African-American veterans did not differ significantly from their active duty counterparts in terms of income, but actually had a significant advantage over similar active duty personnel in terms of family income. The disparate results between the mean comparisons and the regression equations are related to the control for the amount of time worked in 1989 in the regression. On average, white, non-Hispanic and African-American active duty personnel worked 1.5 times as many hours in 1989 than their

veteran counterparts. Therefore, when this time is held constant, the active duty advantage disappears. In analysis not shown, I reran the regression equations, removing the control for hours worked and found that the active duty advantage returned in the earnings equations for white, non-Hispanics and African Americans and that the differences in family income became insignificant. Thus, veterans are likely to earn less than their active duty counterparts in annual earnings, but the active duty personnel must work significantly more often to receive this premium.

It is also important to note that the dependent measures for active duty personnel may underestimate the advantages (or overestimate the disadvantages) of active duty service. Free medical care, on-base housing, tax-free shopping, and other tax breaks (e.g., some of the allowances for active duty personnel are non-taxable) add considerably to the value of military service. These things are not included in my measurements. Therefore, my estimates of the difference in socioeconomic status between veterans and their active duty counterparts are likely to be biased in favor of veterans.

I did not start out with any predictions about the comparison between veterans and individuals with service only in the Guard or Reserve. Only one article that I came across during my literature review even addressed the Guard or Reserve issue. Mehay and Hirsch (1996) compared veteran reservists with non-veteran reservists and found that, overall, women veterans were at an earnings disadvantage relative to their non-veteran counterparts. Most of this disadvantage was borne by non-minority women. Comparing women veterans, on whom I do not have any information concerning whether or not they also had service in the Guard or Reserve, to women who have only

served in the Guard or Reserve (they may or may not be currently serving in the Guard or Reserve) is somewhat different.

When comparing the mean earnings and family incomes of veterans and individuals with service in the Guard or Reserve only by race, there does not appear to be much difference between the two groups. Only the youngest white, non-Hispanic women veterans earned significantly more than their Guard/Reserve counterparts.

Controlling for the various measures related to socioeconomic status in the regression equations produced a significant earnings disadvantage for both white, non-Hispanic and African-American veterans relative to similar women with service only in the Guard or Reserve. The difference in family income remained insignificant. While the finding on earnings is consistent with the results of Mehay and Hirsch (1996) in terms of the direction of the relationship, the magnitude of the veteran disadvantage I found was significantly greater than theirs (20%-22% vs. 9%). In addition, I found that both white, non-Hispanic and African-American veterans were about equally disadvantaged relative to their Guard/Reserve counterparts.

# The Military Composition of Local Labor Markets

While not the primary focus of my research, the military composition of local labor markets appears to influence significantly the earnings and family income of women veterans and non-veterans. DeTray (1982) hypothesized that veteran status would be of particular benefit to veterans in subgroups within which there were a multitude of veterans. This is because those who were not veterans were unlikely to have met the high standards necessary to be selected by the military for service. Knowing this, employers could use a person's veteran/non-veteran status as a screening device to weed

out those individuals who may not be productive workers. Likewise, if there are subgroups in which there are very few veterans, then the value of veteran status as a screening device depreciates because there are likely to be many non-veterans who could have met the military's standards had they chosen to do so.

While DeTray (1982) was referring to birth cohorts in his study, I attempted to apply this concept to labor forces. By controlling for the percentage of the local labor force that is veteran, I expected that increasing percentages of veterans would lead to increasing advantages for veterans, as non-veterans were 'screened out' at a higher rate. However, this was not my finding. Overall, increasing concentrations of veterans in the labor force was associated with a 1%-2% earnings and family income penalty for each percentage point increase in the percentage of veterans in the LMA labor force. For the most part, this held for all races/ethnicities (with the exception of the family income of "other" women). In addition, veterans and non-serving women, across all races/ethnicities, did not differ significantly in the effect that this variable had on their earnings or family income. It is noteworthy that, in analysis not shown, the variable operated in a similar fashion for males of all races/ethnicities.

The other military characteristic of labor markets that I included in this study was the percentage of the LMA labor force that is on active duty. Increasing concentrations of active duty personnel in the local labor market have been associated with negative consequences for the socioeconomic status attainment of women [Cotter et al. (1997)]. As I explained earlier, this may be due to the captive, yet transient nature of a large portion of the work force that is occupied by military spouses. In general, I found that the larger the percentage of active duty personnel that was in the labor force, the lower

earnings and family income. This effect, though significant, was less in magnitude (less than 1% per percentage point increase) than the effect of the concentration of veterans. The effect of veteran and active duty concentration on socioeconomic status attainment is especially important to women veterans, who tend to live in areas of higher concentrations of both veteran and active duty personnel than their non-serving counterparts.

What makes the findings concerning the military composition of labor markets even more striking is that their impact persists even after I have controlled for local unemployment rates, poverty rates, and the percentages of minorities and women in the labor force. While I have suggested that the nature of the labor force within labor markets which have high concentrations of active duty personnel may contribute to this effect, there may be other correlated factors which better explain the negative impact of high concentrations of military and ex-military personnel on earnings and family income. One possibility may have to do with the regions in which these labor markets are located. I have argued previously about the importance of including local labor market conditions in the analysis of socioeconomic status, but we cannot forget that these labor markets are embedded in regions which may have differential wage structures, occupational structures, or cultural values regarding the value of women's employment.

While a pattern of this nature is not readily observable looking at the location of those labor markets with the highest concentrations of veterans in the labor force, nine out of the ten labor markets (and all of the top five) with the highest concentrations of active duty personnel are located in the southern region (as defined by the U.S. Census Bureau). These ten, ranked in descending order of active duty concentration, include:

Killeen, TX (Ft. Hood); Ft. Knox, KY; Jacksonville, NC (Camp Lejeune); Hopkinsville, KY (Ft. Cambell); Virginia Beach, VA (several installations); Hinesville, GA (Ft. Stewart); Lawton, OK (Ft. Sill); Fayetteville, NC (Ft. Bragg); Pensacola, FL (Pensacola NAS, Eglin AFB, Hurlbert Field); and Ft. Leonard Wood, MO.

When a dummy variable that controls for residence in the South is added to the regression equations in TABLES 43-46, contrary to what one would expect, there is no substantive change in the regression coefficients for the variables representing the concentration of military personnel and veterans in the labor market. This implies that the negative impact of having high concentrations of active duty personnel or veterans in the labor market occurs net of the effects of any regional (South/Non-South) differences.

#### CONCLUSION

The bridging environment hypothesis was first posited by Browning, Lopreato, and Poston in 1973. They viewed the military as an investment opportunity where those individuals lacking in human capital or in their ability to convert human capital into socioeconomic status could invest a few years of their lives in exchange for education and training, motivation and independence, and skills that they could utilize to operate more effectively within a bureaucratic system. The greater the initial human capital deficit, the more likely a profit would be realized. The risk in this investment, though, is that by joining the military, the chance to invest in other opportunities, which may yield more of a profit, is forgone or delayed.

This theory was developed almost a quarter of a century ago when opportunities for minorities and women were much more limited than they are today or were in 1990, when my data were collected. Therefore, a more recent "investment" in the military translates into a higher investment risk and decreased likelihood of profit for those who joined the military in an era of increasing civilian opportunities. Indeed, it is apparent from this study that groups of individuals who have been traditionally thought of as disadvantaged in terms of human capital or their ability to convert their capital into status (i.e., minorities and women) may no longer receive a profit from military service, or, at least, a profit that is more beneficial than the foregone or delayed opportunities.

Instead of conceptualizing this change in the process of status attainment as a loss for veterans, it may be better to view the lack of a veteran advantage as a depreciation of veteran benefits relative to the benefits of citizenship in general. As

Segal (1989) points out, the benefits of citizenship are, for the most part, no longer tied to obligations of citizenship. Yesterday's veterans' benefits are today's non-veterans' entitlements. The prime example of this is the Federal support and subsidization of civilian education. Segal (1989) refers to this as the G.I. Bill without the G.I. It appears that the benefits of military service during the AVF allow minority women veterans to keep pace with their civilian counterparts, but do not offer the extra payoff that previous research on minority males seemed to demonstrate. White, non-Hispanic women appear to lose ground, at least initially, to their civilian counterparts through their military service. The reason why a veteran disadvantage only surfaces in the analysis of white, non-Hispanic women may be related to the increased opportunities which white, non-Hispanic non-veterans have over minority non-veterans.

This study also points to the significance of the interaction of military service with family life. A life course perspective may be most appropriate for summarizing the apparent interaction between these two institutions. While data show that women on active duty may be limiting the demands which the family places on them because of the greedy nature of the military institution (e.g., by having fewer children), these limitations do not appear to be permanent or to carry over into a veteran's post-service life, giving the veterans a socioeconomic advantage over their non-veteran counterparts. Thus, the limiting of family demands by active duty women should be viewed as a temporary solution to a problem of limited personal resources, not a long-term socioeconomic strategy. The delay in veteran childbearing due to military service may result in veterans having children, or at least having younger children, at a point in their life cycle in which it may be very disadvantageous, in terms of socioeconomic status attainment, to have a

young child. Having a young child may make the transition back into the civilian labor force more difficult or delay educational attainment (e.g., completion of a bachelor's degree).

A decline in the relative value of veteran benefits and the interaction of military service with family variables over one's life course are not the only explanations for my results, however. One must also remember that selection bias may be operating.

Although I have attempted to limit the effects of selection bias by selecting for my sample only those women who had completed their high school diploma or GED, selection bias has not been specifically controlled for. Thus, the results of this study may simply reflect the possibility that the military is selecting minority women for service who have roughly equivalent socioeconomic potential as those minority women who are not selected or who do not self-select for military service. If the effect of military service is negligible, than one would expect to see little difference in the socioeconomic status attainment of minority veterans and minority non-veterans.

The possibility that white, non-Hispanic women who are selected for military service may already have a lower status attainment potential than those who are not selected or do not self-select for military service could also, then, account for the veteran disadvantage which I found for this racial/ethnic group. This may be especially true if white, Non-Hispanic women who enter the military are less able to complete a college degree than their non-serving counterparts because they have, on average, lower cognitive ability and/or relatively fewer family financial resources. Although some research has addressed the issue of selection bias for male veterans, there is a need for future research to explore this issue with regards to women.

There are several other areas which future research on veteran socioeconomic status attainment should address which I have either not explored in this paper or have examined only in a superficial manner. One of these areas is the effect of local labor market conditions on the status attainment of veterans. An advantage of this study over previous research is that I have been able to control for several local labor market conditions. However, other than the concentration of veterans and active duty personnel in the LMAs' labor forces, I have not really addressed the other labor market variables which I have included as controls in my analysis. A quick glance back through the various regression models, though, shows that many of these are consistently significant determinants of both earnings and family income for veterans and non-veterans alike. Even the military characteristics of labor markets need to be further examined. For example, although I did not pursue this issue within the framework of this paper, there is some evidence that the relationship between the percentage of a labor force that is on active duty and socioeconomic status attainment may not be linear in nature.

Although the PUMS-L data used in this study do allow the analysis of local labor market conditions, there are certain drawbacks to its use that future researchers should consider. First, there is no information on the jobs which veterans had or the training that they received while still in the military, which makes it difficult to draw a complete picture of veteran status attainment. As the transferability of job training is a major component of the bridging environment hypothesis and is certainly critical in evaluating the value of an individual's military service, this deficit of information is one which is relatively important to correct. Second, these data are not longitudinal. This makes it extremely difficult to perform any analysis based on a life course perspective, which may

be important in the interaction of military and familial variables. Future studies, then, should consider the use of longitudinal data for analysis. Third, the small number of minority, especially white, Hispanic and those of "other" races/ethnicities, makes it extremely difficult to achieve any statistically significant results for these groups, regardless of the substantive differences between veterans and non-veterans in these categories. In the future, these groups may need to be oversampled in order to obtain better results.

Future research should also explore further the relationship between the socioeconomic status attainment of veterans and those who are still on active duty and those who have served only in the Guard or Reserve. However, data used to make such a comparison should contain several pieces of information which were not asked of respondents of the 1990 Census. These are: 1) a more realistic measure of the earnings of active duty personnel which includes the value of benefits such as free medical care and on-base housing (this measure should also be included for other military status categories, although it would be applicable to a smaller percentage of them); 2) more detailed information on rank or officer/enlisted status of both military personnel and veterans; 3) branch of service; 4) a category for prior accession Guard and Reserve personnel; and 5) more detailed information on the military status of Guard and Reserve personnel such as length of service, period of service, etc.

Finally, the most important thing that future research can do is continue to study women veterans. As I stated in my introduction, women veterans are a significant population which remains underrepresented in the published literature. While this paper certainly adds to the relatively small literature base, additional studies need to be

accomplished in order to confirm the reliability of my findings. Furthermore, research on women veterans is not only important for the study of the effects of military service on socioeconomic status attainment. To the extent that young women who are considering military service are aware of the relative advantages and disadvantages of serving in the military or becoming a veteran, their propensity to serve in the U.S. Armed Forces may be significantly influenced in either a positive or negative direction.

### REFERENCES

- Abrahamson, Mark and Lee Sigelman. 1987. "Occupational Sex Segregation in Metropolitan Areas." *American Sociological Review* 52: 588-597.
- American Forces Information Service (AFIS). 1981. "People." *Defense 81* (Almanac): 25.
- American Forces Information Service (AFIS). 1984. "People." *Defense 84* (Almanac): 29.
- American Forces Information Service (AFIS). 1987. "People." *Defense* 87 (Almanac): 31.
- American Forces Information Service (AFIS). 1991. "People." *Defense 91* (Almanac): 29.
- American Forces Information Service (AFIS). 1996. "People." *Defense 96* (Almanac): 17-28.
- Andersen, Margaret L. 1993. *Thinking About Women: Sociological Perspectives on Sex and Gender*. New York: Macmillan Publishing Company.
- Angrist, Joshua D. 1990. "Lifetime Earnings and the Vietnam Era Draft Lottery: Evidence from Social Security Administrative Records." *The American Economic Review* 80: 313-336.
- \_\_\_\_\_. 1993. "The Effect of Veteran Benefits on Education and Earnings." *Industrial* and Labor Relations Review 46: 637-652.
- Belsley, David A., Edwin Kuh, and Roy E. Welsch. 1980. Regression Diagnostics:

  Identifying Influential Data and Sources of Collinearity. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Berger, Mark C. and Barry T. Hirsch. 1983. "The Civilian Earnings Experience of Vietnam-Era Veterans." *The Journal of Human Resources* 18: 455-479.
- Binkin, Martin. 1984. America's Volunteer Military: Progress and Prospects. Washington DC: The Brookings Institution.

- Binkin, Martin and Shirley J. Bach. 1977. Women and the Military. Washington DC: The Brookings Institution.
- Blalock, Hubert M. 1979. Social Statistics. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company.
- Browning, Harley L., Sally C. Lopreato, and Dudley L. Poston, Jr. 1973. "Income and Veteran Status: Variations Among Mexican Americans, Blacks and Anglos." *American Sociological Review* 38: 74-85.
- Cohany, Sharon R. 1990. "Employment and Unemployment Among Vietnam-Era Veterans." *Monthly Labor Review* 113: 22-29.
- Cohen, Jere, David R. Segal, and Lloyd V. Temme. 1986. "The Educational Cost of Military Service in the 1960s." *Journal of Political and Military Sociology* 14: 303-319.
- \_\_\_\_\_. 1992. "The Impact of Education on Vietnam-Era Veterans' Occupational Attainment." *Social Science Quarterly* 73: 397-409.
- Cohen, Jere, Rebecca L. Warner, and David R. Segal. 1995. "Military Service and Educational Attainment in the All-Volunteer Force." *Social Science Quarterly* 76: 88-104.
- Coser, Lewis A. 1986. *Greedy Institutions: Patterns of Undivided Commitment*. New York: The Free Press.
- Cotter, David A., JoAnn DeFiore, Joan M. Hermsen, Brenda Marstellar Kowalewski, and Reeve Vanneman. 1997. *Macro Level Consequences of the Demand for Female Labor*. Paper presented at 1997 Annual Meeting of the American Sociological Association.
- Cutright, Phillips. 1974. "The Civilian Earnings of White and Black Draftees and Non-veterans." *American Sociological Review* 39: 317-327.
- DeFleur, Louis B. and Rebecca L. Warner. 1985. "Socioeconomic and Social-Psychological Effects of Military Service on Women." *Journal of Political and Military Sociology* 13: 195-208.
- \_\_\_\_\_. 1987. "Air Force Academy Graduates and Nongraduates: Attitudes and Self-Concepts." *Armed Forces & Society* 13: 517-533.
- DeTray, Dennis. 1982. "Veteran Status as a Screening Device." *The American Economic Review* 72: 133-142.

- Duncan, Kevin C., Mark J. Prus, and Johnathan G. Sandy. 1993. "Marital Status, Children, and Women's Labor Market Choices." *The Journal of Socio-Economics* 22: 277-288.
- Firestone, Juanita M. 1992. "Occupational Segregation: Comparing the Civilian and Military Work Force." *Armed Forces & Society* 18: 363-381.
- Fox, John. 1984. Linear Statistical Models and Related Methods: With Applications to Social Research. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Fredland, J. Eric and Roger D. Little. 1985. "Socioeconomic Status of World War II Veterans by Race: An Empirical Test of the Bridging Hypothesis." *Social Science Quarterly* 66: 533-551.
- Galor, Oded and David N. Weil. 1996. "The Gender Gap, Fertility, and Growth." *The American Economic Review* 86: 374-387.
- Gill, Leroy H., Donald R. Haurin, and Jeff Phillips. 1994. "Mobility and Fertility in the Military." *Social Science Quarterly* 75: 341-353.
- Goldberg, Matthew S. and John T. Warner. 1986. "Military Experience, Civilian Experience, and the Earnings of Veterans." *The Journal of Human Resources* 22: 62-81.
- Jackson, Elizabeth J. 1996. "Be All You Can Be: The Effect of Veteran Status on Hourly Wages from Vietnam to the Gulf War." Paper presented at 1996 Annual Meeting of the American Sociological Association.
- Kilbourne, Barbara, Paula England, and Kurt Beron. 1994. "Effects of Individual, Occupational, and Industrial Characteristics on Earnings: Intersections of Race and Gender." *Social Forces* 72: 1149-1176.
- LaVange, Lisa M., Mary E. McCalla, Tim J. Gabel, Stuart H. Rakoff, Zahava D. Doering, and Bette S. Mahoney. 1986. Description of Officers and Enlisted Personnel in the U.S. Armed Forces: 1985. Vol. 1, Supplementary Tabulations from the 1985 DoD Survey of Officers and Enlisted Personnel. Arlington, VA: Defense Manpower Data Center.
- Little, Roger D. and J. Eric Fredland. 1979. "Veteran Status, Earnings, and Race: Some Long Term Results." *Armed Forces & Society* 5: 244-260.

- Lopreato, Sally Cook and Dudley L. Poston, Jr. 1977. "Differences in Earnings and Earnings Ability Between Black Veterans and Non-veterans in the United States." *Social Science Quarterly* 57: 750-766.
- Mangum, Stephen L. and David E. Ball. 1987. "Military Skill Training: Some Evidence of Transferability." *Armed Forces & Society* 13: 425-441.
- \_\_\_\_\_. 1989. "The Transferability of Military-Provided Occupational Training in the Post-Draft Era." *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 42: 230-245.
- Martindale, Melanie and Dudley L. Poston, Jr. 1979. "Variations in Veteran/Nonveteran Earnings Patterns Among World War II, Korea, and Vietnam War Cohorts." *Armed Forces & Society* 5: 219-243.
- Mehay, Stephen L. and Barry T. Hirsch. 1996. "The Postmilitary Earnings of Female Veterans." *Industrial Relations* 35: 197-217.
- Neter, John, Michael H. Kutner, Christopher J. Nachtsheim, and William Wasserman. 1996. *Applied Linear Regression Models*. Chicago: Irwin.
- Office of the Assistant Secretary of Defense for Personnel and Readiness (OASD(P&R)). 1993. Family Status and Initial Term of Service. Vol. 2, Trends and Indicators. Washington DC: Washington Headquarters Services.
- Phillips, Robert L., Paul J. Andrisani, Thomas N. Daymont, and Curtis L. Gilroy. 1992. "The Economic Returns to Military Service." *Social Science Quarterly* 73: 340-359.
- Poston, Dudley L., Jr. 1979. "The Influence of Military Service on the Civilian Earnings Patterns of Blacks, Mexican Americans, and Anglos." *Journal of Political and Military Sociology* 7: 71-88.
- Poston, Dudley L., Jr., Mady Wechsler Segal, and John S. Butler. 1984. "The Influence of Military Service on the Civilian Earnings Patterns of Female Veterans: Evidence from the 1980 Census." Pp. 52-71 in *Women in the United States Armed Forces: Progress and Barriers in the 1980s*, edited by Nancy H. Loring. Chicago: Inter-University Seminar on Armed Forces and Society.
- Prokos, Anastasia. 1996. "Military Veterans' Earnings: Income Differences of Female Veterans and Non-Veterans." Paper presented at 1996 Annual Meeting of the American Sociological Association.

- Roca, Maria L. 1986. "Women Veterans Total 1 Million in First Half of 1986." Monthly Labor Review 109: 30-31.
- Rosenheck, Robert, Linda Frisman, and An-Me Chung. 1994. "The Proportion of Veterans Among Homeless Men." *American Journal of Public Health* 83: 466-469.
- Schumm, Walter R., D. Bruce Bell, Rose E. Rice, and Michelle Schuman. 1996. "Marriage Trends in the U.S. Army." *Psychological Reports* 78: 771-784.
- Segal, David R. 1989. Recruiting for Uncle Sam: Citizenship and Military Manpower Policy. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas.
- Segal, Mady Wechsler. 1986. "The Military and the Family as Greedy Institutions." *Armed Forces & Society* 13: 9-38.
- Snyder, David and Paula M. Hudis. 1976. "Occupational Income and the Effects of Minority Competition and Segregation: A Reanalysis and Some New Evidence." *American Sociological Review* 51: 209-234.
- Stiehm, Judith H. 1989. Arms and the Enlisted Woman. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- Teachman, Jay D., Vaughn R. A. Call, and Mady Wechsler Segal. 1993. "The Selectivity of Military Enlistment." *Journal of Political and Military Sociology* 21: 287-309.
- Teachman, Jay D., Vaughn R. A. Call. 1996. "The Effect of Military Service on Educational, Occupational, and Income Attainment." *Social Science Research* 25: 1-31.
- Teachman, Jay D. and Paul T Schollaert. 1989. "Economic Conditions, Marital Status, and the Timing of the First Births: Results for Whites and Blacks." *Sociological Forum* 4: 27-46.
- Thornton, Robert J. and Jon T. Innes. 1989. "Interpreting Semilogarithmic Regression Coefficients in Labor Research." *Journal of Labor Research* 10: 443-447.
- Tolbert, Charles M., John J. Beggs, and Gerry D. Boudreaux. 1995. *PUMS-L Data and Associated Files: CD-ROM Edition* [MRDF]. Washington DC: U.S. Bureau of the Census [producer]. Baton Rouge: The Louisiana Population Data Center, Louisiana State University and LSU Agricultural Center [distributor].

- Tolbert, Charles M. and Molly Sizer. 1996. U.S. Commuting Zones and Labor Market Areas: A 1990 Update. Staff paper AGES-9614. Washington DC: Rural Economy Division, Economic Research Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture.
- U.S. Bureau of the Census. 1992. 1990 Census of Population and Housing: Public Use Microdata Samples, United States Technical Documentation. Washington DC: U.S. Bureau of the Census.
- \_\_\_\_\_. 1994. Fertility of American Women: June 1994. Washington DC: U.S. Bureau of the Census.
- Villemez, Wayne J. and John D. Kasarda. 1976. "Veteran Status and Socioeconomic Attainment." *Armed Forces & Society* 2: 407-420.
- Waite, Linda J. and Sue E. Berryman. 1986. "Job Stability Among Young Women: A Comparison of Traditional and Nontraditional Occupations." *American Journal of Sociology* 92: 568-595.
- Warner, Rebecca Lynn. 1985. "The Impact of Military Service on the Early Career: an Extension of the Bridging Environment Hypothesis to Women." Ph.D. dissertation, Washington State University.
- Women's Research and Education Institute (WREI). 1996. Women in the Military: Statistical Update 1996. Washington DC: Women's Research and Education Institute.
- Xie, Yu. 1992. "The Socioeconomic Status of Young Male Veterans, 1964-1984." Social Science Quarterly 73: 379-396.